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REFLECTIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL

The year ended March 31, 2005 saw important action on the government commitment
to adopt summary budgets and financial statements prepared in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for the fiscal year ending March 31,
2008.  I acknowledge, in particular, the significant improvement in government
communications with respect to the release of the public accounts.  Their commentary
accurately and fairly reflected the actual financial results for the year, while also
indicating that the government had continued to comply with balanced budget legislation
as it currently exists.  I believe that citizens are well served by transparency of this sort.

In its response to my report, the government notes that citizens will still want
information on spending by government departments, revenues derived from taxes and
fees and transfers from other levels of government.  Of course, it is important to note that
such information can, and should, be provided within the context of summary financial
statements.

Once summary financial statements are in place as the primary source of information, the
costs of governmental programs can be made more accurate by including the costs of
pensions earned by the employees in budgets and annual reports.  This will enhance
decision making since legislators will then know the true cost of government programs.
This information has never before been available to them.

I commend the government on their continuing commitment to open and transparent
financial reporting to citizens in accordance with GAAP.

Jon W. Singleton, CA•CISA
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Executive Summary

We commend the Province that, for the first year since Summary Financial
Statements were first published in 1988, the Government has prepared Summary
Financial Statements which are fully in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for senior governments (GAAP).  Because of changing GAAP
requirements, a qualification will be received for the next two years until school
divisions are consolidated.  The Province is undertaking significant steps to
eliminate this upcoming qualification by 2007/08.

We are encouraged that the Province has undertaken significant planning and
preparatory steps toward implementing a complete Summary Financial Statement
focus for budgeting and financial reporting for 2007/08.  This has involved:

• Early adoption of the PSAB Government Reporting Model for
March 31, 2005 prior to the required implementation date of
March 31, 2006.

• The elimination of GAAP exceptions in the March 31, 2005
Summary Financial Statements.

• Significant consultation with entities currently consolidated
within the Government Reporting Entity, in addition with school
divisions and others planned for consolidation by 2007/08.

• Reviewing changes needed for the budgeting process leading to the
preparation of a Summary Budget that will enable Members of the
Legislative Assembly to fully discuss the planned use of public
resources and to fully evaluate the actual results achieved against
the budget.

• Refocussing public communication solely from the Special Purpose
Operating Fund Statements to the Summary Financial Statements
and increasing “Discussion and Analysis” concerning the Summary
Financial Statements for the March 31, 2005 publication of the
Public Accounts.

• Eliminating the publication of unaudited fourth quarter reports
and focussing public communication on audited results for the
year ending March 31, 2005.

• Reviewing potential changes needed to The Financial
Administration Act and Balanced Budget Legislation.  Changes to
be considered may include:

- A reference to public reporting in accordance with GAAP; and
- Eliminating the requirement for audited Operating Fund

Financial Statements.

2004/05 Summary Financial
Statements prepared in accordance
with GAAP.

Summary Financial Statements to
incorporate school divisions by
2007/08.

Early adoption of PSAB Reporting
Model.

No GAAP Exceptions.

Updating Budgeting Process.

Expanded Reporting Entity by
2007/08.

Educating the Public.

Eliminated Fourth Quarter Report.

Review of Legislation.
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We believe that the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial
Statements should not be used to assess the Government’s performance in managing the
Province’s financial affairs and public resources because there are significant accounting
policies used in the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial
Statements that are not in accordance with GAAP.

If Canadian GAAP had been used in the preparation of the Special Purpose Financial
Statements for the year ending March 31, 2005, financial assets would increase by $196
million, non-financial assets would increase by $1.640 billion, liabilities would increase by
$2.484 billion, net debt would increase by $2.288 billion, accumulated deficit would
increase by $648 million, revenues including net income from government business
enterprises would increase by $1.854 billion, and expenses would increase by $1.800
billion.  As a result, this year, we again excluded the word “fairly” from the opinion
paragraph in order to continue to highlight the limitations inherent in the Special
Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial Statements.

In this report, in Changing Focus to the Summary Financial Statements, we also present
two segments: Understanding the Summary Financial Statements, and Financial Condition.
These segments are intended to assist readers in understanding the Summary Financial
Statements.  A key focus of Summary Financial Statements involves the concept of net
debt and the change in net debt, both in actual and relative terms (to the provincial
economy).  The consistency of the Province’s accounting policies and the completeness of
note disclosure are fundamental to understand the Summary Financial Statements.  As
well, the planned results (budgeted estimates of revenue and expense) are also important
in assessing the Province’s annual results in relation to the budget.

In our follow up review of the Province’s Annual Report for the year ended March 31,
2005, we noted that there is still a need for more emphasis on the Summary Financial
Statements in the discussion and analysis.  There was still no discussion or analysis of risk
and how the Province addressed risk.  Overall, we believe that the Annual Report can be
further enhanced to reflect the recommendations of PSAB’s Financial Statement Discussion
and Analysis and CCAF’s Performance Reporting Principles.

SCHOOL DIVISION FINANCIAL REPORTING

School divisions in Manitoba receive substantial monies from the Province and citizens
(taxpayers, ratepayers and residents).  To ensure that school divisions are held
accountable for the funds they receive, citizens need to receive appropriate financial
reporting and be confident that objective and recognized accounting standards are used.
An understandable and accurate picture of a school division’s financial position and
operations enables both the Province and citizens, as well as the trustees and other
stakeholders, to obtain assurance that public monies are being utilized in an appropriate
and transparent manner.

School divisions in Manitoba are currently required to follow accepted accounting
principles for school divisions which are documented in the Financial Reporting and

Steps are being taken by the Province to adopt GAAP for school division public
reporting by 2007/08.

Need to eliminate Special Purpose
Statements for Public Reporting
Focus.

GAAP Exceptions.

More Work on Annual Report
Needed.

Understanding Summary Financial
Statements.

Improvements to School Division
Financial Reporting Needed.
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Accounting in Manitoba Education Manual (FRAME).  Conceptually, FRAME was developed
based on Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) with a few exceptions.  These
few exceptions result in the financial statements of Manitoba school divisions to be not in
compliance with GAAP.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP is fundamental to
meaningful reporting.  These principles are designed to provide for financial reporting
that is readily understandable and consistent.  They are intended to support transparency
and accountability.  We believe that citizens are not receiving the quality of financial
reporting from their school divisions to which they are entitled, and their ability to hold
divisions accountable is thereby impaired.

INFRASTRUCTURE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS AUDIT
This audit formed part of our audit of the Public Accounts.  Our objectives were:

• To determine whether infrastructure capital assets (infrastructure) are
recognized in the Operating Fund and Summary Financial Statements, as
at April 1, 2004 and for the year ended March 31, 2005, in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for
senior government as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB); and

• To determine whether there are effective internal controls supporting
the proper accounting for infrastructure.

We confirmed that Manitoba’s infrastructure accounting policy is in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for senior governments.  In addition,
the key aspects of Manitoba’s accounting policy and practices were consistent with the
accounting policies and practices used in other provincial jurisdictions.

Infrastructure was recognized in the Operating Fund, in all material respects, as at
April 1, 2004 and for the year ended March 31, 2005, in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles for senior governments as recommended by the
Public Sector Accounting Board.

The Government’s internal controls supporting the proper accounting for infrastructure
were operating effectively for the year ended March 31, 2005 except for the internal
control procedures related to the recognition of when new infrastructure is put in service.
We recommended that the Province amend their procedures to record new infrastructure
by September 30th of each fiscal year in order to permit the Asset Management Module of
SAP to properly calculate the current year’s amortization expense.

THE USE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS IN THE
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA
The Province has a risk management process for derivatives in place, but as indicated in
the general conclusions below, and in the details contained in this report, there are areas
that need to be addressed to ensure that this process is operating consistent with
industry best practices with respect to management, market, legal, credit, and operational
risks.

Non-GAAP Statements Used.
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• The Department of Finance and its Treasury Division have not formally
documented their overall strategic objectives, a strategy on how to
achieve those objectives, the strategy on how to identify the risks
(risk identification), and the risk of achieving the strategic
objectives (risk management strategy).  Nevertheless, the Division
has a working definition of its objectives, risk identification and risk
management strategy.  The Department and the Division use derivative
financial instruments as one mechanism to implement that strategy.

• The Treasury Division’s objectives, risk identification and
assessment, and risk management strategy have not been
approved.  While there is a Derivative Policy statement, it also has
never been approved.  We believe that an oversight body should be
involved in that approval process.

• Treasury Division developed a risk management policy referred to
as the Derivative Policy.  The Derivative Policy is part of the
Division’s overall Risk Management Policy which is still under
development.  We determined that the risk management process to
address key risks involving the use of derivatives which include
management, market, legal, credit, and operational risks, was generally
consistent with industry best practices.  However, we have a number of
recommendations regarding the controls and procedures addressing
operational risk as well market and credit risks.

• We believe that what constitutes acceptable levels of risk and risk
limits need to be documented in a risk management policy
statement.  Similarly, there is a need for more documentation of the
due diligence process regarding the deliberations and decisions to use
derivatives.  Additional documentation would provide more adequate
audit trails of transactions.

• Because the Middle Office is still under development and therefore
not fully functional, the risk management process for the Treasury
Division as a whole is not fully developed.  We recommended that the
Department of Finance consider allocating more resources in order to
complete the development of the Middle Office’s functionality in the
near term.

• We believe that the oversight function should be expanded.  There is
no governance equivalent to a board of directors in place to establish
the strategic objectives and to set out a broad framework for
management to work within and provide oversight.  An oversight
committee should receive timely and sufficient information to oversee
the Treasury Division’s activities.  In the current organizational
structure, the Capital Markets Committee is the senior committee
overseeing the risk management process regarding the use of derivative
financial instruments.  No minutes are recorded at the Committee’s
meetings and therefore there is no audit trail documenting the
Committee’s deliberations and decisions.
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Highlights of the 2004/05 Public Accounts

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
• Five Year Comparative Results are presented in Figure 1.

FIGURE 1

• For the first time since the production of Summary Financial Statements
began in 1988, the Summary Financial Statements for the year ended
March 31, 2005 were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) (eliminating all of the previous
year’s exceptions to GAAP.)

• The Province recorded infrastructure tangible capital assets in the 2005
Summary Financial Staements.

SPECIAL PURPOSE OPERATING FUND AND SPECIAL FUNDS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

• One significant shortcoming of a focus on these statements are that
even though the financial statements reflect a positive balance for the
purposes of Balanced Budget Legislation, deficits can (after reflecting
the impact of GAAP adjustments, such as for pension expense, to these
financial statements), and have occurred, net debt to GDP can, and has
gone up, and borrowings can, and have gone up.

• These financial statements are prepared using the Province’s accounting
policies (which vary from GAAP) for the year ended March 31, 2005 as
follows:

- pension liability of $3.8 billion and pension expense of $192
million were not recorded;



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200512

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE 2004/05 PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

- elimination of deferred charges (asset) of $586 million and the
related expense of $89 million were not recorded;

- financial assets of $196 million, non-financial assets of $2,226
million , a reduction in liabilities of $1,277 million and in net debt
of $1,473 million,  as well as, a reduction in the accumulated
deficit of $3,699 million, revenues of $1,854 million and expense of
$1,521 million for all of the crown organizations and government
business enterprises were not recorded; and

- there was no restatement of the correction of errors and the
changes in accounting policies.

• Without the above variations from GAAP, the Special Purpose Operating
Fund and Special Funds Financial Statements would have reflected
increased financial assets by $196 million, increased non-financial assets
by $1.640 billion, increased liabilities by $2.484 billion, increased net
debt by $2.288 billion, increased accumulated deficit by $648 million,
increased revenues including net income from government business
enterprises by $1.854 billion, and expenses would have increased by
$1.800 billion.

ANNUAL RESULTS:  SUMMARY VS. OPERATING

FIGURE 2

The above figure illustrates the differences between annual results computed for the
Summary versus the Operating Fund Financial Statements.
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Changing Focus to the Summary Financial
Statements
When we reflect on the past financial reporting practices of the Province in the context of
the worldwide call for improved accountability and transparency, we commend the
Government for preparing the Summary Financial Statements in accordance GAAP for the
year ended March 31, 2005 as well as for their commitment to focus public discussion on
the Summary Financial Statements and to eliminate the need for published, audited
Operating Fund Statements.  This change also involves preparing a full summary budget
for the 2007/08 fiscal year as well as preparing quarterly summary financial statements.

We have been reporting to Manitobans for many years that the Summary Financial
Statements are the financial statements that should be used to assess the Government’s
performance and the Province’s financial position including its net debt position.  The
Special Purpose Financial Statements are not GAAP financial statements and do not
include net debt of $2.3 billion ($3.8 billion pension liability offset by other net assets of
$1.5 billion) or the additional net annual surplus of $54 million from the operations of
crown organizations and government business enterprises (excluding the nets profits from
Manitoba Lotteries Corporation and Manitoba Liquor Control Commission which are
already reflected in the Special Purpose Financial Statements).  The following sections are
intended to assist readers in understanding the Summary Financial Statements and how
they can be used in assessing the Government’s financial condition.

UNDERSTANDING THE SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We believe the keys* to understanding the Summary Financial Statements are:

• Governments are different than businesses and their financial reporting
reflects that difference.  A government’s goal to provide services
through its programs and redistribute the Province’s resources, not make
a profit;

• All the crown organizations and government business enterprises
comprising a government’s reporting entity are included (see
Appendix E);

• The focus is on net debt which is total liabilities less financial assets
(financial assets are assets which can be used to pay off liabilities) (see
Appendix B, page 110); Net debt represents the future revenue
requirements needed to pay for existing liabilities (past transactions and
events);

• Non-financial assets such as tangible capital assets (i.e., infrastructure,
land, buildings, etc.) are used to provide services and cannot be used to
pay off liabilities unless they are sold; they are included in the
accumulated deficit figures as a reduction of net debt (see Appendix B,
page 110);

• Accumulated deficit reflects the government’s entire net economic
shortfall.  It means that the government’s liabilities are greater than

*Incorporates guidance from CICA
Publication, “20 Questions About
Government Financial Reporting,
Federal, Provincial and Territorial
Governments”.
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their assets and that the government has been financing their annual
operating deficits by borrowing.  It also reflects the sum of all the
annual surpluses and deficits ever reported by a government;

• Borrowings on the Statement of Financial Position (see Appendix B,
page 110) refer to the total debt issued by the government(past and
present);

• Net borrowings on the Statement of Financial Position exclude the debt
issued on behalf of government business enterprises such as Manitoba
Hydro-Electric Board as well as sinking funds which are used to repay
the debt.  However, net borrowings are only part of the government’s
total liabilities;

• Total liabilities represent all the amounts owed by the government
including amounts owed to employees for future benefits such as
pensions and retirement allowances (severance);

• Government’s annual surplus (deficit) (see Appendix B, page 111)
indicates whether a government has raised sufficient revenues to pay
for its expenses for that fiscal year.  The expenses reported include the
cost of using existing and new capital assets which is referred to as
amortization expense.  If revenues equal expenses then a government is
considered to have maintained its net assets (there is no increase in the
accumulated deficit);

• Government’s change in net debt (see Appendix B, page 113) reflects
whether the government’s revenues were sufficient to cover their
expenses and other spending such as the funds spent on the purchase
or construction of tangible capital assets.  The level of net capital
spending may also be compared to the planned (budgeted) level of
capital spending.  An increase in net debt indicates that more future
revenues will be required to pay for past transactions;

• Government’s cash flows are reported on the Statement of Cash Flow
and identify the change in cash (and cash equivalents) and the source
and use of cash through operating, investing and financing activities.
It also highlights net capital spending and how cash was used to acquire
capital assets;

• Budgeted and actual figures should be shown on the Statements of
Revenue and Expense (Operations) and Change in Net Debt (see
Appendix B, pages 111 and 113).  Unfortunately at this time, only the
Special Purpose Financial Statements disclose detailed budgeted figures
on the Schedule of Operating Fund Revenue and Expense (Schedule 8);
the Summary Financial Statements disclose only net revenues by crown
organization (Schedule 9);

• The budget is a guide to the government’s public policy decisions.  It
establishes the estimates of revenues and expenses as well as capital
spending for each fiscal year.  The budget reflects the government’s
financing requirements to support both operating and capital spending.
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It is also used to determine the extent of new borrowings needed and
influences the setting of tax rates and users’ fees;

• Government’s budget is also an important accountability document and
is used as a benchmark against which their performance is measured.
Planned spending is compared with actual spending.  The government is
accountable for their programs, the cost of services (programs) provided
as well as their financial position.  The cost of services should be
reported by function such as Health and Education.  As a result, the
budget should be presented on a basis that is consistent with or at least
reconciled with how the information is presented in the Summary
Financial Statements;

• Government’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in note 1 to
the Summary Financial Statements.  These accounting policies are
integral to understanding how a government accounts for transactions
and events and should indicate whether they are set in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles;

• In order to have meaningful comparisons between planned and actual
results, the same accounting policies must be used to reflect the prior
year’s and the current year’s annual results.  The prior’s year annual
results along with the current year’s results must be restated to reflect
the effects of any change in accounting policy;

• The Auditor’s Report states whether the accounting policies have been
applied on a consistent basis with that of the preceding year.  A
consistent basis means that where there have been changes in
accounting policies, the prior years’ as well as the current year’s results
have been restated to show the reader the impact of the changes; and

• Other notes to the Summary Financial Statements also provide
disclosure and explanations regarding significant transactions and
events in the reporting period as well as information about contingent
liabilities and contractual obligations, related party transactions and
subsequent events.  Note disclosure is not a substitute for proper
accounting treatment which means that transactions must be reflected
in the Statements of Financial Position and Revenue and Expense
(Operations) unless only note disclosure is required under GAAP.

FINANCIAL CONDITION
In order to assess the government’s financial condition, the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants selected a set of financial indicators which provide an analysis of
the state of a government’s management of their finances.

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Research Report on Indicators of
Government Financial Condition [1997] (Research Report) also indicates that the
Summary Financial Statements should be used to determine the financial indicators.  The
Research Report defines the financial condition of a government as follows:
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“The financial condition of the government is its financial health as
measured by sustainability, vulnerability and flexibility, looked at in the
context of the overall economic and financial environment. These terms
are defined as follows:

- Sustainability:  the degree to which a government can maintain
existing programs and meet existing creditor requirements without
increasing the debt burden on the economy.

- Flexibility:  the degree to which a government can increase its
financial resources to respond to rising commitments, by either
expanding its revenues or increasing its debt burden.

- Vulnerability:  the degree to which a government becomes
dependent on, and therefore vulnerable to, sources of funding
outside its control or influence, both domestic and international. “

Financial condition focuses on the finances of the government.  It is not intended to
assess the financial condition of the economy, or overall government performance or
current fiscal policy or government solvency.  It is not an assessment of the effectiveness
of government spending and revenue decisions.  The intended outcomes of government
activities are important and should be discussed but not as indicators of financial
condition.  The financial condition of a government needs to be assessed relative to the
economy, and benchmarks (targets) should be used to measure the government’s relative
financial condition as well as assess long term trends.  The Government of Manitoba has
not established its own targets for such indicators.

Overall, the financial condition of the government is different from the financial
condition of the economy.  The benefits that are generated by government financial
activities are different from the benefits created by the financial activities of private
sector organizations.  For the most part, the benefits of the financial activities of private
sector organizations accrue to the organizations and increase their net wealth.  Most of
the benefits that are generated by government financial activities accrue to society and
are not reflected on the government’s balance sheet (statement of financial position)
even though the shortfall or deficit resulting from these activities becomes part of the
government’s debt.  A case in point is the investment in health and education which
benefits society as a whole but is not reflected on the government’s balance sheet.

For the 2001 – 2005 fiscal years, seven of the ten financial indicators recommended in the
CICA Research Report are presented below.  Two of the other three indicators are national
indicators and their relevance to assessing the Province’s financial condition is not clear.
The third remaining indicator is the Foreign-Held Government Debt-to-Net Government
Debt.  Foreign held debt informed (foreign investors holding Manitoba debentures) can
only be derived from the paying agents’ records.  The cost of obtaining this information is
considered to outweigh the benefits of presenting it.  The Annual Report of the Province
of Manitoba for the year ended March 31, 2005 included five of  these financial
indicators, [Net] Debt-to-GDP, Debt Servicing Charges-to-Revenues, Own Source Revenues-
to-GDP, Government-to-Government [Federal] Transfers-to Own Source Revenues and
Foreign Currency Debt-to-Net Government Debt which is described as Unhedged Foreign
Debt as a percentage of Net Debt.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 19

CHANGING FOCUS TO THE SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sustainability Indicators
• (Net) Debt-to-GDP ratio measures the level of net debt (total liabilities

less financial assets) a government carries as percentage of its Gross
Domestic Product (see Appendix I).  An increasing Debt-to-GDP ratio
means that the debt burden on taxpayers is growing and more of the
government’s future revenues will be required to repay that debt.  The
Province’s (Net) Debt-to-GDP ratio had been slowly increasing up to
2004.  In 2005, the indicator dropped significantly.  The Federal
Government’s target for this ratio has been recently set at 20%.  The
Government of Manitoba has not established a target ratio.

FIGURE 3A

• (Surplus) Deficit-to-GDP ratio measures the difference between
government annual revenues and expenses as a percentage of GDP.  It
can be used to identify the annual surplus (deficit) that would be
required to stabilize the Debt-to-GDP ratio at a specified rate of
economic growth.  For instance, if the rate of the growth in the
economy is 3% and interest rates are 5%, then if all other factors
remaining the same, the Debt-to-GDP ratio will increase.  In order to
stabilize the Debt-to-GDP ratio in this situation, revenue must exceed
program expenses to offset the difference in the rate of growth in the
economy compared to the level of interest rates.  The target used for the
(Surplus) Deficit [Annual]-to-GDP ratio of the Federal Government was
2.0 % (surplus) according the CICA Scorecard (Measuring Progress:  The
State of Federal Government Finances) prepared in 2001/02.  The
Government of Manitoba has not established a target ratio.
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FIGURE 3B

Flexibility Indicators
• Debt service charges as a percentage of revenues show the percentage of

revenue that is used to service the debt and also show the impact of
increasing a government’s net debt.  Higher net debt puts pressure on
interest rates, and increased interest rates result in higher debt
servicing costs which reduce the revenue available to spend on
programs.  The target used for the Debt Servicing Charges-to-Revenues
ratio of the Federal Government was 16.0% according the CICA Scorecard
(Measuring Progress:  The State of Federal Government Finances)
prepared in 2001/02.  The Province’s interest costs as a percentage of
revenues have been steadily decreasing.  This change is a positive
development.  The Government of Manitoba has not established its
target ratio.

FIGURE 4A
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• Own Source Revenues-to-GDP shows the impact of raising government
revenue as a percentage of income in the economy.  A steady increase in
this ratio is a warning to a government in terms of its ability to increase
these revenues in the future.  The Federal Government’s target for this
used for the Revenues-to-GDP ratio of the Federal Government was
16.0% according the CICA Scorecard (Measuring Progress:  The State of
Federal Government Finances) prepared in 2001/02.  The Province’s ratio
has been decreasing except for the 2005 fiscal year.  The Government of
Manitoba has not established its target ratio.

FIGURE 4B

• Changes in Physical Capital Stock (tangible capital assets including
infrastructure) is an indication of the extent of deferred capital
maintenance.  Deferring capital maintenance delays when capital stock
is maintained or restored, and generally results in higher costs when the
maintenance is performed because of an increased level of deterioration.
This ratio indicates the pace of the spending to replace tangible capital
assets and it is usually reflected as the percentage change in the net
book value (cost less accumulated amortization) year over year.  The
limited trend available indicates a slowing pace of spending by the
Province.
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FIGURE 4C

Vulnerability Indicators
• Government-to-Government Transfers-to-Own Source Revenues is, in a

provincial government context, the dependence of a government on
federal transfers (revenue).  The trend of this ratio indicates an
increasing dependence on federal transfers.  It should be noted that the
increase in federal transfers in essence was provided to restore past
funding cuts to all provinces, including Manitoba, and as well some of
the federal funding mechanisms have resulted in multi-year transfers
being provided in a lump sum that would otherwise have been received
as annual transfers.  Between 2001 and 2005, the federal government
increased its funding for provincial health and social programs so as to
substantially restore its share of the costs of delivering these services,
which had declined with the introduction of the Canada Health and
Social Transfer in 1997.  The increase in the ratio for 2005 also reflects
a substantial increase in Equalization payments.  The increase is
comprised of higher entitlements under the new Framework
arrangements announced by the federal government in October 2004.
The Government of Manitoba has not established its target ratio.
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FIGURE 5A

• Foreign Currency Debt-to-Net Government Debt is the debt payable in
foreign currencies as a percentage of net government debt.  It is an
indicator of the potential impact of foreign currency exchange rates of
the Canadian dollar relative to foreign currencies which can increase
debt servicing costs and the cost of repaying the debt.  The Province
believes that for the past two years that they have fully hedged
(eliminated) this risk through their activities.  Even without the effects
of hedging, the percentage of foreign currency debt to net debt over the
past five years has steadily decreased.

FIGURE 5B
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Summary of Recommendations
Discussion leading to the following recommendations is presented in further detail within
this report’s section “Public Accounts - Improvements and Recommendations”.

Recommendation 1
That the Government report progress toward its commitment to
implement summary budgeting by 2007/08 to the Members of the
Legislative Assembly and the public on a regular basis.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

The Manitoba Government remains committed to continuing to work with
the Office of the Auditor General on a plan that will result in presentation
of its Budget and other financial reports on a summary basis.  The
Government has engaged consultants to assist in its preparations to meet
this goal.  Progress has already begun to be demonstrated to the Members
of the Legislative Assembly and the public in published financial reports,
such as the 2004/05 Summary Financial Statements.  The Government
expects to demonstrate further progress in the 2005/06 and future fiscal
years.

Recommendation 2
That the quarterly reports of the Province, a financial reporting tool, be
prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles framework as soon after the full implementation of summary
budgeting in 2007/08 as practicable.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

As indicated in the response to Recommendation 1, the Manitoba
Government is working with the Office of the Auditor General on a plan
that will result in presentation of its Budget and other financial reports,
including its quarterly reports, on a summary basis.  This plan will
encompass the timing and nature of changes to the quarterly reports, with
a view to implementing changes as early as will be practicable following
full implementation of summary budgeting in 2007/08.

Recommendation 3
That the Government continue with its commitment to introduce
amendments to the Financial Administration Act to eliminate the
requirement for separate Consolidated Fund (Operating Fund) financial
statements.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

The Manitoba Government will consider this recommendation in the
development of the plan, noted in the responses to Recommendations 1
and 2, to present its Budget and other financial reports on a summary
basis by 2007/08.  While the Government understands that Manitobans
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and other interested parties may have a significant interest in the
financial position of the provincial public sector as a whole, it is believed
that Manitobans also expect to continue being informed about the
spending of Government departments, the revenue derived from taxes,
fees, transfers from other Governments and other elements of the present
Consolidated Fund.

Recommendation 4
That consideration be given to amending the Balanced Budget
Legislation to refer to the Summary Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

As part of the plan referenced in the response to earlier
Recommendations, the Manitoba Government will be considering changes
to Balanced Budget Legislation.  The Government is prepared to consult
the Auditor General as it develops revised Balanced Budget Legislation
that would appropriately reflect the Government’s goals of maintaining
financial discipline and protecting essential services in the context of
Summary Budget reporting.

Recommendation 5
That Internal Auditing and Consulting Services revisit their role and
expand their work on an annual basis to systematically, according to a
documented plan, review and test SAP controls in the departments and
consider providing assurance as to the effectiveness of internals controls
within the provincial government.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

Internal Audit and Consulting Services (IACS) provides internal audit
services across the Government.  As noted in the Report, IACS will be
revisiting its strategic direction.  Government will consider this
Recommendation in that context, also taking into consideration the
availability of resources necessary to implement this and other
Recommendations.

Recommendation 6
That Manager’s Desktop be expanded to encompass all managers,
additional functionality be provided, the use of it encouraged and that
management tasks be removed from administrative staff as soon as
possible and moved back to departmental managers where they
appropriately belong.  In addition, we continue to recommend the
Government set a target date for the implementation of this
recommendation once the assessments are completed on the above
initiatives and the reports released.
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RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

Executive Financial Officers in each department are charged with the
responsibility to ensure that appropriate control processes are in place,
including the proper authorization of spending transactions.  Where
Manager’s Desktop is not being used, managers are required to develop
off-line control processes that provide Executive Financial Officers with
satisfactory assurances that the control environment is appropriate.

With respect to the automation of this control environment through
Manager’s Desktop, two initiatives have been undertaken by the
Government:

• A review of the roll-out of Manager’s Desktop was conducted by the
Comptroller’s Office in conjunction with all Executive Financial Officers.
A survey has been completed by department managers on its use;
feedback included suggested improvements as well as perceived
limitations.

• A review of the overall use of SAP as the government’s business
management tool was conducted under the direction of the department
of Energy, Science and Technology.

Government will assess these initiatives and determine an appropriate
course of action, taking into consideration the availability of resources
that would be required to implement this Recommendation.

Recommendation 7
That the Comptroller’s Office, through a monitoring of the Departments’
accountability, ensure that all departments’ delegated authorities are
properly represented in SAP or that differences from these delegated
authorities are approved and documented.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

Delegation of signing authorities is a departmental responsibility.
Monitoring of this is an ongoing activity, integral to the overall
implementation of SAP which continues to be led by the Comptroller’s
Office.  This responsibility has been communicated to all departments.  As
noted, departments are required to address this issue in their
departmental Comptrollership plans.  Significant effort is being directed to
the completion of the plans, which are critically reviewed as they arrive in
the Comptroller’s Office and subject to review and audit by Internal Audit
and Consulting Services.

Recommendation 8
That the Comptroller’s Office, through a monitoring of departmental
accountability, ensure that departments review the incompatible
functions on a regular basis and that departments maintain
documentation on compensating controls should incompatibilities exist.
The role matrix should be updated, reconcile to incompatibilities noted
on MICT’s intranet site and should document why a combination of
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functions/roles is incompatible so that departments can understand why
they are incompatible and better able them to document the required
compensating controls.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

Departments are required to address SAP roles in their Comptrollership
plans, as well as the processes in place to identify any role
incompatibilities and ensure the presence of compensating controls.
Significant effort is being directed to the completion of Comptrollership
plans, which are critically reviewed as they arrive in the Comptroller’s
Office and subject to review and audit by Internal Audit and Consulting
Services.

As indicated in 2004, the matrix will be comprehensively reviewed in
conjunction with the next upgrade to SAP, and the revised matrix, together
with its underlying rationale, will be communicated to departments.

Recommendation 9
That a well thought out and effective Business Continuity Plan, one
component being disaster recovery having been completed, be
developed, documented and tested regularly to minimize the risk of
disruptions caused by unforeseen events.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

Improving disaster recovery capacity has been a focus of significant effort
during the last year, as it has been for the last several years.  For
example, a Disaster Recovery site was established in 2002 and a
corresponding Plan has been developed by Manitoba Information and
Communication Technology Services (MICT), a division of the Department
of Energy, Science and Technology.  The Plan addresses the coverage
around the SAP application.  MICT has completed the Disaster Recovery
documentation.

A Business Continuity Plan is currently under development and is expected
to be substantially completed in 2006/07.

Recommendation 10
That the Government develop suitable, generally accepted criteria to be
used in determining an amount of emergency expenditures to be
excluded under Section 3(2) of the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment,
and Taxpayer Accountability Act and communicate these criteria to the
Members of the Legislative Assembly.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

As indicated in the response to Recommendation 4, the Government will be
considering changes to Balanced Budget Legislation as part of the plan to
present its Budget and other financial reports on a summary basis in
2007/08.  The Government is prepared to consult the Auditor General as it
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develops revised Balanced Budget Legislation that would appropriately
reflect the Government’s goals of maintaining financial discipline and
protecting essential services in the context of Summary Budget reporting.

Recommendation 11
That the Province of Manitoba continue to reshape its Annual Report
into a document that more closely reflects the recommendations of
PSAB’s Financial Statement Discussion & Analysis and CCAF’s
Performance Reporting Principles.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

Manitoba is committed to advancing the way in which performance is
reported to citizens, and has made important progress in this area in
2005 with the release of two public documents -- “Reporting to
Manitobans on Performance: A Discussion Document”, and “The 2005
Provincial Sustainability Report”.

The Discussion Document makes a range of performance information
accessible in one document for the first time by reporting in four key
areas of government priority - economy, people, community and
environment.  This document is intended to further Manitoba’s approach
to performance reporting by illustrating one way in which performance
information could be reported on an ongoing basis.  It asks citizens to
respond to the document by commenting on how the information has been
presented, the types of indicators used and the frequency of reporting.
These responses will be assessed to help determine the shape of future
efforts in this area.

The Manitoba Government will also continue to improve its Annual Report
and will work toward that objective in this and future years.

Recommendation 12
That the Government develop a plan to discharge its remaining
obligations for vacation and severance pay to the various government
organizations involved.  That the Government also clearly communicate
to these organizations, the portion of the annual funding provided by
the Province, if any, that relates to the increase in vacation and
severance pay liabilities.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

The Manitoba Government is considering options regarding treatment of
these liabilities, and will consider this Recommendation in its
deliberations.  It should be noted that these liabilities are accounting
accruals, not cash requirements.  The Manitoba Government has
communicated to organizations that they are expected to manage
increases to these liabilities within their funding.
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Financial Reporting Structure

FIGURE 6

The Public Accounts of Manitoba represent the annual financial statements for the
Province of Manitoba (Province).  These financial statements provide an important link in
an essential chain of public accountability.  They are the principal means by which the
Government reports to the Legislative Assembly and to all Manitobans on its stewardship
of public funds.

The Public Accounts are prepared in accordance with The Financial Administration Act and
contain the financial statements and supporting information required by this legislation.
The Public Accounts also include information required by other legislation such as the
Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act and by the Public
Sector Compensation Disclosure Act.

Public Accounts are represented by two distinct sets of financial statements.  The
Summary Financial Statements are the General Purpose statements of the Government.
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They provide audited information on the aggregate financial affairs and resources for
which the Government is responsible, including government business enterprises and
crown organizations as listed in Appendix E.  The Summary Financial Statements are
prepared in accordance with public sector accounting standards (as issued by the Public
Sector Accounting Board [PSAB]) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA).  These statements are the appropriate statements to use when comparing the
operating results and the financial position of the Province to other provinces and the
federal government.  The consolidated net income reported in the Summary Financial
Statements of the Government for 2004/05 was $599 million.

The other set of financial statements presented in the Public Accounts are the Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund and Special Funds.  They are Special Purpose in nature
and are used as the Government’s accountability report to the Legislative Assembly on
revenues raised and expenditures made as authorized by the Appropriation Act and other
statutory spending authorities.  These financial statements are also used to reflect the
Government’s compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer
Accountability Act.  For 2004/05 the Government recorded a positive balance of $406
million including the interfund transfer to the Debt Retirement Fund and, therefore, was
in compliance with balanced budget legislation.  These statements do not incorporate the
Government’s unfunded pension liabilities or the results of other organizations owned and
controlled by the Government as included in the Summary Financial Statements.

The Public Accounts for the 2004/05 fiscal year are published in four volumes.  The
preceding chart illustrates the structure of the Government’s financial reporting in the
Public Accounts.

Volume 1, Province of Manitoba Annual Report, contains:

• the audited Summary Financial Statements;
• the audited Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund

and Special Funds (Operating Fund);
• the Minister of Finance’s comments for the year ended March 31, 2005;
• information on the Manitoba economy;
• discussions on financial indicators; and
• variance explanations for both the Summary Financial Statements and

the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund.

Volume 2, Supplementary Information, contains details of employee compensation of
$50,000 or more, as well as information on other payments from the Operating Fund in
excess of $5,000 to corporations, firms, individuals, other governments and government
agencies.  The information on employee compensation of $50,000 or more is audited as
required by the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act.  The information on other
payments from the Operating Fund to corporations, firms, individuals, other governments
and government agencies is unaudited.

Volume 3, Supplementary Schedules and Other Statutory Reporting Requirements, provides
additional information on the Operating Fund of the Government.  This financial
information is unaudited with the exception of the Report of Amounts Paid to MLAs and
the Northern Affairs Fund.
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Volume 4, The Financial Statements of Funds, Organizations, Agencies and Enterprises
Comprising the Government Reporting Entity, contains the individual audited financial
statements of the various entities owned or controlled by the Government which are
included in the Government Reporting Entity for the Province of Manitoba, except for the
Operating Fund and Special Operating Agencies (SOAs).  (However, Volume 4 contains the
financial statements for the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority.)  The audited
financial statements of SOAs are included in a separate annual report prepared for the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority.

Accountability Organization

FIGURE 7

Figure 7 provides an overview of the accountability organization of the provincial public
sector.  It is not intended to represent all parties or relationships involved, but rather to
emphasize that various levels that exist, and that accountability to the public is relevant
at all levels.

It can be used when considering accountability at various levels within Provincial
operations reflecting the Government’s accountability to citizens, to the Legislative
Assembly, Departments’ and Provincial public sector entities’ accountability to the
Government, Deputy Minister’s or Board’s accountability to a Minister, and management’s
accountability to a Deputy Minister.
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Auditor Independence and Objectivity
As a member of the legislative audit community, we maintain the highest standards of
independence and objectivity in the conduct of our audits.  In Manitoba, our audit role
has included an involvement with prospectuses as well as the financial statement audit of
the Public Accounts and other organizations.  We do not provide non-assurance services
such as designing or implementing a hardware or software system, valuation services,
financial statement preparation or bookkeeping services, legal services or internal audit
services.  In the private sector, provision of these services by external auditors and
inadequate rotation of the audit partner have been identified as contributing to failures
to provide the high level of assurance associated with generally accepted auditing
standards.

Because legislative auditors report directly to the Legislative Assembly, we are
independent of government.  Further, because we have no financial interest in
organizations we audit, and do not benefit from the audit fees we charge, we are less
vulnerable to independence threats existing in the private sector.

Similarly, the threat that we might become too sympathetic to an audited organization’s
interests to maintain our objectivity is dealt with in the political process by the
requirement for periodic general elections as well as the ten year term of the appointment
of the Auditor General.  In addition, staff rotation on the audit of the Public Accounts
and the influence of the broader legislative audit community assist us in maintaining our
objectivity.

During the past year we maintained our communication with audit committees or their
equivalents and continued to take steps to ensure that the private sector auditors of the
organizations within the government reporting entity adhered to independence and
conflict of interest standards.

We believe that we provide a high level of assurance in our reports to the Legislative
Assembly, and therefore to the citizens of Manitoba, and we will continue to ensure our
independence and objectivity in all our work.

Summary Financial Statements - Auditor’s
Report
Our Office commends the Government for their full adoption of GAAP in the 2004/05
Summary Financial Statements.

The Auditor’s Report on the Summary Financial Statements is included for reference in
Appendix A at the end of this report, along with an excerpt of the Summary Financial
Statements for the year ended March 31, 2005 contained in Appendix B.

The Auditor General Act requires the Auditor General to provide assurance to the
Legislative Assembly on the annual Public Accounts and other accountability documents
prepared by the Government.  To address this mandate, the office issues high level
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assurance reports in the format of the standard auditor’s report recommended by the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA).

The purpose of the auditor’s report is to provide the reader with a high level of assurance
on the fairness of financial statements, while describing the distinct roles of management
and the auditor with respect to these financial statements, and outlining the nature and
scope of audit work conducted.

An unqualified auditor’s report, where there is no reservation of opinion, contains three
standard paragraphs.  The introductory paragraph identifies the financial statements that
have been audited and reflects management’s responsibility for preparing the financial
statements as well as the auditor’s responsibility for expressing an opinion on the fairness
of the balances, transaction totals and overall presentation.  The second paragraph
describes the nature and extent of the auditor’s work and the degree of assurance that the
auditor’s report provides.  It refers to Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) and
describes some of the important procedures the auditor undertakes.  The third paragraph
contains the auditor’s opinion or conclusion based on the audit conducted.

The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) sets generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for the public sector in Canada.  PSAB pronouncements represent the consensus of
senior government officials, legislative auditors and other experts in public sector
accounting across Canada.  They represent standards for governments and are the
benchmark for acceptable financial reporting.

The auditor’s reports issued by Manitoba’s Auditor General, as well as by other legislative
auditors across Canada reflect the extent to which government financial statements
comply with these auditing, accounting and financial reporting standards.  In situations
where government financial statements do not comply with PSAB standards, legislative
auditors consider the need to include a reservation in their opinion.  These standards are
designed to apply to the Summary Financial Statements of the Government.

For the year ended March 31, 2005, the fourth paragraph which was added to the
Auditor’s Report on the 2003/04 Summary Financial Statements was removed.  That
fourth paragraph had stated that if Canadian generally accepted accounting principles had
been used in the preparation of the Summary Financial Statements, assets, liabilities, the
accumulated deficit, revenues, and expenses would have been adjusted.  This year, the
Government of the Province of Manitoba prepared Summary Financial Statements that
were completely in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for senior governments.  The Government eliminated from their Summary
Financial Statements all the previously reported exceptions to GAAP. This year was the
first instance since the Summary Financial Statements were first prepared in 1988 that
the Auditor’s Report attested that the Summary Financial Statements were complete
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.

In Manitoba, the Summary Financial Statements are presented in the Annual Report,
together with the Auditor General’s Report thereon.  The audit opinion is now a Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles’ (GAAP) opinion.



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200540

OVERVIEW OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Special Purpose Financial Statements of the
Operating Fund and Special Funds -
Auditor’s Report

AUDIT OPINION ON THE SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE OPERATING FUND AND SPECIAL FUNDS
The Auditor’s Report on the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund
and Special Funds is included for reference in Appendix C, along with an excerpt of the
Operating Fund and Special Funds for the year ended March 31, 2005 contained in
Appendix D.

As mentioned previously, the Financial Statements of the Operating and Special Funds
(Operating Fund) are special purpose in nature.  They currently serve as the Government’s
accountability report to the Legislative Assembly on revenues raised and expenditures
made as authorized by the Appropriation Act and other statutory spending authorities.
These financial statements are specifically used to reflect the Government’s compliance
with the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act and The
Financial Administration Act.

Special Purpose Financial Statements are by their nature incomplete and often deviate
significantly from GAAP.  Hence, while required for reporting on compliance with
balanced budget legislation, they are not complete for understanding the Government’s
management of its financial affairs.  These statements focus only on one component of
the government reporting entity.  Proponents claim they are relevant because they show
tax supported activities of government.  However, this argument is flawed for at least
three reasons:

1. In 2005, $672 million of Operating Fund revenue was from Crown
Corporations.

2. The Operating Fund ignores pension costs that will ultimately have to
be paid through taxes.

3. “Rainy Day” Fund transfers are essentially left over money from the sale
of MTS and multi-year federal transfers (Canada Health Transfers and
Equalization Transfers).
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FIGURE 8

FIGURE 9
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Because of the changes to generally accepted auditing standards last year, for the
2004/05 fiscal year the Auditor’s Report on the Special Purpose Financial Statements of
the Operating Fund and Special Funds again included a more detailed reference to the fact
that the financial statements are special purpose and not prepared in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  The Auditor’s Report no longer states
that the Special Purpose Financial Statements are fairly presented chiefly because of the
limitations of the Special Purpose Financial Statements, which are discussed in the
opinion as follows:

“These financial statements report transactions and events of the
Operating Fund and Special Funds only.  Significant financial
activities of the Government occur outside of these funds.
Therefore, readers should not use these special purpose financial
statements to understand and assess the Government’s overall
management of public financial affairs and provincial resources.

The Summary Financial Statements are complete financial
statements. Their purpose is to report the full nature and extent of
the overall financial affairs and resources of the Province of
Manitoba for which the Government is responsible.

Please refer to the Summary Financial Statements to understand
and assess the Government’s management of public financial affairs
and provincial resources as a whole.”

In addition, there are also paragraphs following the opinion paragraph, which emphasized
the special purpose nature of the financial statements and the fact that they are intended
for the Legislative Assembly as legislators reviewing compliance with Balanced Budget
Legislation and identified exceptions from GAAP as follows:

“Exceptions from Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

These financial statements, which have not been, and were not intended
to be, prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector (GAAP), are solely for the
information and use of the Members of the Legislative Assembly for the
purpose of determining compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act.  The financial statements are
not intended to be and should not be used by lenders, bond rating
agencies, citizens, or anyone other than the specified users or for any
other purpose.  Specifically, these statements should not be used to
assess the fiscal performance of the government as this information is
only available in the Summary Financial Statements.

The Special Purpose Statement of Revenue and Expense along with the
Special Purpose Statement of Calculation of Balance under the Balanced
Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act should be
analyzed in two parts.  The first part, showing the calculation of Net
Result for the year, has been determined using the accounting policies
described in Note 1 to the Special Purpose Financial Statements.  These
accounting policies differ materially from Canadian GAAP as described in
Note 1, and therefore do not result in fair presentation.  The second part
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is where the Net Result for the year is adjusted as authorized by The
Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act to
determine a Positive Balance as defined by the Act.  These adjustments,
specifically inter-fund transfers, would not be included in the Special
Purpose Statement of Revenue and Expense and a Special Purpose
Statement of Calculation of Balance under the Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act would not be produced had
Canadian GAAP been used.

If Canadian GAAP had been used in the preparation of the Special
Purpose Financial Statements, financial assets would increase by $196
million, non-financial assets would increase by $1.640 billion, liabilities
would increase by $2.484 billion, net debt would increase by $2.288
billion, accumulated deficit would increase by $648 million, revenues
including net income from government business enterprises would
increase by $1.854 billion, and expenses would increase by $1.800
billion.”

The details of the exceptions to GAAP are separately disclosed and where possible,
quantified, in Note 1 to the Special Purpose Financial Statements for the year ended
March 31, 2005 as reproduced in Appendix D.

Opinion Paragraph

Our opinion paragraph this year again excluded the word ‘fairly’ from ‘presents fairly’.
This elimination is because of the limitations inherent in the Special Purpose Financial
Statements in terms of presenting the financial position and operations of the
government reporting entity of Province of Manitoba.  It was also used to re enforce to
the reader that only the Summary Financial Statements should be used to assess the
Government‘s management of the Province of Manitoba’s financial affairs and resources.

PENSION LIABILITIES EXCLUDED FROM THE OPERATING FUND
In 1990, our office issued our first audit qualification for pension liabilities not being
recorded in the Financial Statements of the Operating Fund.  Each year since then we
have recommended the Government amend its accounting policy for pension costs and
liabilities.  In 2004/05, the unrecorded pension liability for the Operating Fund
approximated $3.8 billion.

In 1999/00, the Government issued the Summary Financial Statements and the Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund in a single volume with the Financial Statements of the
Operating Fund subordinate to the Summary Financial Statements.  As the pension
liability is recorded in the Summary Statements, the impact on the entire Government
Reporting Entity including the Operating Fund is transparent.

Starting in 2000/01, the Government committed to set aside funds equal to the pension
contributions for all civil servants and teachers hired on or after April 1, 2000.  They also
committed to set aside additional funds from time to time toward the pension liability.
Effective October 1, 2002, departments and Crown Organizations also began setting aside
funds equal to the pension contributions of civil servants hired on or after October 1,
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2002, in effect, matching contributions, as part of their annual budget.  Total funds set
aside since the 2001 fiscal year including net investment income have amounted to $382
million or 10% of the unrecorded pension liability outstanding at March 31, 2005.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFIT LIABILITIES FOR HEALTHCARE
FACILITIES AND CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICE AGENCIES
INCLUDED IN THE OPERATING FUND
In the 2003 fiscal year, the Government began disclosing a further significant exception
to GAAP.  This exception was the lack of recognition of the Operating Fund’s liability for
employee future benefits of health care facilities and child and family services agencies.
In accordance with an agreement reached in 2003, the Government began recording the
additional $234 million liability in the 2004/05 Special Purpose (Operating Fund)
Financial Statements.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS
AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Note:  All official Provincial responses to our recommendations are
contained in the Summary of Recommendations Section.
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Significant Improvements in Financial
Statement Reporting

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION AND
DISCLOSURE

We routinely advise the Comptroller, the Deputy Minister of Finance, and the Minister of
Finance of opportunities to improve financial statement reporting in accordance with the
current recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).  There were very
significant improvements reflected in the Summary Financial Statements for the year
ended March 31, 2005 and they are as follows:

• Elimination of all the exceptions to Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) by:

- Recognition of the infrastructure tangible capital assets;

- Full adoption of the new Government Reporting model;

- Full consolidation of non-devolved health facilities and the
elimination of the deferred charges related to them;

- Changes in accounting policies and correction of errors being
restated;

- Expanded disclosure of the Province’s related party transactions,
contingent liabilities related to environmental liabilities, and the
settlement of obligations under Treaty Land Entitlement
agreements; and

• Full disclosure of public debt expense.

RECOGNITION IN THE OPERATING FUND OF BORROWINGS
INCURRED TO FINANCE CAPITAL FUNDING TO HEALTH CARE
FACILITIES

While improving financial statement presentation and disclosure is an ongoing
process, we have advocated for a considerable number of years for the full
adoption of GAAP in the preparation of the Summary Financial Statements.  We
therefore highly commend the Government for the preparation of Summary
Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP in 2004/05.

We commend the Government for the recognition of the capital grants to health
care facilities and the related debt incurred to finance the grants, in accordance
with public sector accounting standards.
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During the 2005 fiscal year, we identified that the Government’s accounting policy related
to the recognition of third party borrowings of health care facilities was not in accordance
with public sector accounting standards for senior governments.  We found that the
Estimates of Expenditure provided for annual grants to health care facilities to enable
them to repay their loans from private sector financial institutions.  Public sector
accounting standards state that where a government provides future funding to enable an
entity to repay its debt, in substance, the government is guaranteeing the repayment of
that debt.  As such, that debt should be recognized as the government’s debt and the
government should account for these loans from third parties as borrowings incurred by
the government to provide capital funding.

As a result, the Government, in the 2005 Special Purpose Financial Statements,
recognized $274 million in borrowings offset by sinking fund investments of $122 million
and an increase in the accumulated deficit of $152 million for past transactions.  In the
current year, this accounting resulted in the reduction of grants to health care facilities of
$17 million and an increase in the deferred charge for health care facilities of $32 million.
No adjustment was needed to the Summary Financial Statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING IMPROVEMENTS IN THE 2004/05
PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Recognition of Infrastructure Tangible Capital Assets

The Government of the Province of Manitoba first began recognizing tangible capital
assets in the Public Accounts in the 1999/00 fiscal year.  That year the Government
recognized all its tangible capital assets except for land and infrastructure.  In 2000/01,
the Government recognized land.  In the 2004/05 fiscal year, the Government completed
its recognition of tangible capital assets with the inclusion of infrastructure.
Infrastructure tangible capital assets consist of such assets as provincial roads and
highways, provincial bridges, provincial parks, the Red River floodway, and provincial
dams.  The Government recorded the opening net book value (cost less accumulated
amortization) of infrastructure at $1.183 billion with an offsetting credit to the
accumulated deficit.  In the current year, the recognition of infrastructure resulted in a
decrease in capital expense and an increase in tangible capital assets of $90 million offset
by an increase in amortization expense and accumulated amortization of $69 million.

We performed an audit to determine whether the Government recognized infrastructure
tangible capital assets in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for senior governments and to determine whether there are effective internal
controls supporting the proper accounting for infrastructure.

Our report of the results of that audit is included in a later section in this Report.

Recognition of Liabilities Associated With the Long Term Disability
Income Plan

In accordance with the new public sector accounting standard, the Government
recognized the liability for post employment benefits under the Long Term Disability
Income Plan.  This liability as at March 31, 2005 amounted to $28 million; the opening
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balance of $27 million was charged to the accumulated deficit and $1 million was
recorded as a current year expense.

Previous Recommendations Implemented
Figure 10 summarizes the implementation of OAG recommendations made in the last five
years.

We commend the Government for the implementation of these recommendations.

FIGURE 10
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

Adoption of GAAP

2004/05 Summary Financial Statements are Complete GAAP Financial
Statements

Four other jurisdictions, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Saskatchewan and British Columbia prepare
the Public Accounts in accordance with GAAP for senior governments.  For the year ended
March 31, 2005, Manitoba has also prepared its Summary Financial Statement in
accordance with GAAP.

In the preparation of the Estimates of Expenditures and Revenues and the Budget
Address, the Province uses the provisions of The Financial Administration Act (Act) as the
basis for financial accounting and reporting considerations.  According to this Act,
Treasury Board is responsible under Section 5(a) for preparing the estimates and similarly,
under Section 5(f), for ensuring accountability of government departments to the
Legislature for the delivery of government programs.

Under Section 8 of the Act, the Minister of Finance is responsible for the management and
administration of the Department of Finance; the management and administration of the
Consolidated Fund; the management of public debt; and the control and direction of all
matters relating to the financial management of the government that are not assigned to
Treasury Board.  In addition, Section 9 of this Act states that the Minister of Finance may
make regulations and issue directives regarding accounting policies and practices.

Section 65(1) of the Act requires that the Comptroller shall prepare the Public Accounts
including the financial statements of the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the
accounting policies of the Government.  However, it does not state that the accounting
policies of the Government must be in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards for senior governments as recommended by PSAB of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants.  The Act does not, however, prohibit the use of Public Sector
Accounting Standards for Senior Governments as the basis for financial reporting in the
preparation of the Public Accounts, Estimates and Quarterly Reports.

In contrast, the Province of British Columbia has entrenched in legislation the use of
Public Sector Accounting Standards for senior governments as recommended by PSAB of
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, in its Budget Transparency and
Accountability Act.  This Act creates an accounting policy advisory committee to advise
Treasury Board as to the implementation of GAAP for the government reporting entity.
Treasury Board is to establish the accounting policies used for preparation of the Main
Estimates and the Public Accounts.  Treasury Board is to establish the accounting policies
used for the preparation of Quarterly Reports.  It is implied that these accounting policies
should be GAAP unless otherwise disclosed.

British Columbia’s Budget Transparency and Accountability Act, also incorporates that
wherever, public sector accounting standards for senior governments are not used either
in the Estimates or the Public Accounts, there must be disclosure of any material
variances of those policies from GAAP.  In addition, with regard to Quarterly Reports, if
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there is a change in the accounting policies of the government reporting entity which
would affect, by a prescribed dollar amount, the forecasted deficit or surplus for the
current and next three years, then there must be a public report of it.

While the Manitoba Government has not introduced legislation to entrench the
requirement to prepare significant public financial reports, in accordance with Canadian
Public Sector Accounting Standards for Senior Governments as recommended by the PSAB
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, it has adopted GAAP for the
preparation of the 2004/05 Summary Financial Statements.

NEW GOVERNMENT REPORTING MODEL IMPLEMENTED IN
2004/05
GAAP requires the adoption of the new Government Reporting Model no later than the
2005/06 fiscal year.  As part of the Government’s full adoption of GAAP in the preparation
of the 2004/05 Summary Financial Statements, Manitoba has also adopted the new
Government Reporting Model.

ADOPTION OF THE NEW GOVERNMENT REPORTING ENTITY
DEFINITION
As a result of changes to public sector accounting standards, the Government must use a
new definition to determine the entities included in their reporting entity.  This standard
set by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2005 (2006 fiscal
year).  The new definition is based solely on control, not accountability and ownership
and/or control which were the bases of the former standard.  Control is defined by PSAB
as follows:

“the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another
organization with expected benefits or the risk of loss to the government
from the other organization’s activities … a government may choose not
to exercise its power; nevertheless, control exists by virtue of the
government’s ability to do so.  Control must exist at the financial
statement date, without the need to amend legislation or agreements.”

The existence of control can be viewed as working along a continuum.  At one end of the
continuum, it is clear that the entity does not have the power to act independently and is
controlled by the government.  At the other end, the entity has the power to act
independently and while the government may influence the entity, it is evident that the
government does not control the entity.  For entities falling between the two ends of the
continuum, PSAB has offered guidance as to what indicators of control might be
considered in evaluating whether control exists.

In addition, PSAB has provided a listing of the more persuasive indicators of control as
well as suggested other indicators that could be used to evaluate whether control exists.
PSAB’s more persuasive indicators are:

• “government has the power to unilaterally appoint or remove a majority
of the members of the governing body of the organization;
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• government has ongoing access to the assets of the organization, has the
ability to direct the ongoing use of those assets, or has ongoing
responsibility for losses;

• government holds the majority of the voting shares or a “golden share”
that confers the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
the organization; and

• government has the unilateral power to dissolve the organization and
thereby access its assets and become responsible for its obligations”.

Other indicators recommended by PSAB for consideration are:

• “provide significant input into the appointment of members of the
governing body of the organization by appointing a majority of those
members from a list of nominees provided by others or being otherwise
involved in the appointment or removal of a significant number of
members;

• appoint or remove the CEO or other key personnel;

• establish or amend the mission or mandate of the organization;

• approve the business plans or budgets for the organization and require
amendments, either on a net or line-by-line basis;

• establish borrowing or investment limits or restrict the organization’s
investments;

• restrict the revenue-generating capacity of the organization, notably the
sources of revenue; and

• establish or amend the policies that the organization uses to manage,
such as those relating to accounting, personnel, compensation, collective
bargaining or deployment of resources”.

However, in order to determine whether control exists, each indicator would be evaluated
in the circumstances and the degree of government influence would determine how
important the indicator is in terms of providing evidence of control.  The weight given to
an indicator also depends on the circumstances.  For example, an entity’s compliance with
regulatory authority does not, in and of itself, constitute control if the government’s
interest in the entity only extends to the regulated aspects of its operations.

Another example is that financial dependence of an organization also does not constitute
control, in and of itself.  The governing body of the entity could be independent with
respect to establishing its financial and operating policies.  The government may require
reporting from the entity to demonstrate compliance with the terms and conditions of the
funding provided and if that is the extent of the government’s interest in the
organization, it does not constitute control.  The organization retains the right to decide
whether it accepts the government funding and the conditions attached to that funding.

As a result, indicators should be considered collectively as well as individually such that it
is the sum of all the evidence that should lead to a conclusion as to whether the
government controls an entity.
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This new standard is, in many respects, more inclusive than the former standard as it
looks at the fundamentals of the relationship between the government and the
organization.  Whereas, under the former standard, the entity could be excluded if the
government did not have the power to appoint the majority of the governing body.  The
Government’s evaluation, in consultation with us, has determined that school divisions,
the University of Winnipeg, Le Collège de Saint-Boniface, the North, South and Metis
Child and Family Services Authorities (the proportionate share of operations for children
in care within the Province’s jurisdiction), Sport Manitoba, Tire Stewardship Board and
certain other health care facilities previously excluded, are now part of the Government’s
reporting entity.

Notwithstanding that the Government does not appoint the majority of the governing
boards of these entities or in the case of school divisions does not appoint any school
trustees, the Government does control these entities through other means.  For instance,
school divisions will be included in the Government’s reporting entity because of the
control exerted by the Government through the Department of Education and Public
Schools Finance Board in such areas as the budgeting process, accounting and financial
reporting practices, capital plans, curricula and ability to borrow for capital purposes.

Similarly, the University of Winnipeg, and Le Collège de Saint-Boniface are controlled by
the Government through the powers of the Council on Post-Secondary Education
regarding operating and capital budgets, changing policies for tuition fees charged,
capital financing as well as the requirement for approval of any new program of study or
changes to a program delivered at the institution, if funded by the Province.  The Child
and Family Services Authorities are considered controlled by the Government because the
Province will be responsible for the Authorities’ operating losses, the Province must
approve their operating plans and capital budgeting and the Authorities have restricted
alternate revenue generating capacity.

The Government plans to adopt this redefined Province of Manitoba Government Reporting
Entity in the 2005/06 fiscal year.
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Previous Recommendations Not Yet Implemented
Figure 11 is a summary of OAG recommendations not yet implemented by the Department of Finance and/or
the Government of Manitoba.

FIGURE 11
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SUMMARY BUDGET
Over the past four years, we have noted that, in response to our recommendation, the
Government has prepared an annual summary budget based on the budgets for all entities
included in the Government Reporting Entity and that this budget was presented each
year in the Manitoba Budget Address.  The most recent budget presented in 2005 is,
however, still not presented with the appropriate level of detail needed to compare with
the results in the Summary Financial Statements.

In our view, the Summary Financial Statements and therefore, the Summary Budget are
the Government’s foremost accountability documents.  The arguments for the preparation
of a detailed summary budget are many.  One need only view Schedules 8 and 10 of the
Summary Financial Statements to become aware of the number of entities that compose
the Government Reporting Entity and the fact that considerable financial activity within
the Government Reporting Entity is outside of the Operating Fund.  Without a detailed
summary budget, the Legislative Assembly is not given the depth of financial information
necessary upon which to fully discuss the planned use of public funds.  As well, it is the
comparison of the Summary Financial Statements’ actual results with that detailed
summary budget which permits a thorough analysis of the Province’s financial position
compared with planned results, and provides the ability to measure the Government’s
management of public resources.

Canada and five of the other Provinces produce summary budgets that are tabled in
Parliament/Legislatures.  The governments of Canada, British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario,
Quebec and New Brunswick have already made the summary budget their primary budget.
These summary budgets are prepared on the same basis as the Summary Financial
Statements of those governments.  Three of these six summary budgets are voted on by
the members of the Parliament/Legislatures.  Manitoba is still not aligned with these
jurisdictions in this regard.

However, the Government has committed to preparing a full summary budget for the
2007/08 fiscal year. This summary budget will also incorporate all the entities defined in
the new government reporting entity.  To date, the Province has completed an assessment
of the capacity of the crown organizations to provide the Government with the
information necessary to prepare a full summary budget for the 2007/08 fiscal year.

Recommendation 1

That the Government report progress toward its commitment to
implement summary budgeting by 2007/08 to the Members of the
Legislative Assembly and the public on a regular basis.

Quarterly Reporting

We believe that the quarterly financial report should be prepared using the same
accounting principles as the Summary Financial Statements, as these provide the most
complete and accurate indication of the Government’s fiscal position.  Our
recommendations on quarterly reporting reflect the higher priority issue of encouraging
the Government to adopt the GAAP Framework in its quarterly reports.

First recommended in the 2001
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
(Modified in 2005.)
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The Government has committed to prepare quarterly reports on a summary basis after the
2007/08 fiscal year, as soon as is practicable.  To that end, this year the Government
undertook an evaluation of the capacity of crown organizations to provide the
information needed to prepare quarterly reports on a summary basis as well as develop a
plan to ensure that crown organizations can provide the necessary information in a timely
manner.

In addition, in the 2004/05 fiscal year, the Government discontinued the release of a 4th
quarter report.

Recommendation 2

That the quarterly reports of the Province, a financial reporting tool,
be prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles framework as soon after the full implementation of
summary budgeting in 2007/08 as practicable.

THE ELIMINATION OF SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balanced Budget Legislation - What Is It?

Balanced Budget Legislation, enacted in the fall of 1995 with amendments in 2000, is a
prescribed set of rules incorporated in legislation, in The Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act (Act) (see Appendix F).  Those rules (with
variations from GAAP) are used to determine if the Government of the day has generated
a positive balance in the Operating Fund for a fiscal year, meaning generating more
revenue than a defined subset of the expenses incurred and factoring in transfers from
the Fiscal Stabilization Fund and to the Debt Retirement Fund.  According to the Act, the
Government is not to incur a negative balance in the Operating Fund.  The main rules are
as follows:

• An excess of revenue over expenses is determined according to the
accounting policies of the Government as disclosed in the audited
financial statements.  If there is a reservation in the Auditor’s Report to
the financial statements resulting from a change in accounting policies
not authorized in the Act, then the financial statements must be
restated to ensure that the financial effects of that change did not
result in a positive balance which would have otherwise, under the
former accounting policy(ies), have resulted in a negative balance.  If a
change in accounting policies did result in a change from a negative to
a positive balance, then the government will not have achieved a
balanced budget.

• The existing accounting policies are disclosed as Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles for senior governments as recommended
by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants with certain exceptions.  One notable exception
is the failure to record in the Operating Fund the liability related to the
unfunded pension obligations.  As a result, the change in the unfunded

First recommended in the 2001
Report to the Legislative Assembly.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 57

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

pension liability is not reflected in the determination of a positive or a
negative balance.

• The Act permits a once a year interfund transfer, a transfer into the
Operating Fund, from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund, often referred to as
the “Rainy Day Fund”, of an amount up to the maximum of the balance
of the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  That transfer-in is also included in the
determination of the balance according to balanced budget legislation.

• The Act also prescribes that as a target, an amount equal to 5% of the
year’s expenses in the Consolidated (Operating) Fund or any greater
amount that the Minister (of Finance) considers appropriate is to be
transferred to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  Only a positive balance
may be transferred back to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund for use in
future years.  The transfer out is not included in the determination of a
positive or negative balance according to balanced budget legislation.

• Any transfers out of the Debt Retirement Fund to the Operating Fund
for the repayment of the outstanding debt and pension obligations are
not included in the determination of a positive or negative balance
according to balanced budget legislation.

• A calculated amount, presently at $99 million, shall be transferred
annually, from the Operating Fund to the Debt Retirement Fund to
provide for the future retirement of the outstanding debt and pension
obligations.  That transfer out, an interfund transfer, is also to be
reflected in the determination of a positive or negative balance
according to balanced budget legislation.

• The above interfund transfers as noted are included for purposes of
determining if there is a positive balance in the Operating Fund,
according to balanced budget legislation.  However, interfund transfers
are not included in the determination of an excess of revenue over
expenses according to generally accepted accounting principles.

• If there is a negative balance in a fiscal year then there must be an
offsetting positive balance in the next year unless there is a general
election and the party forming the Government has changed.  Then if,
in the year of a general election, the party forming the Government has
changed and there is a negative basis, the new Government is not
required to have an offsetting positive balance in the following year.

• There are financial penalties to the members of the Executive Council
for failing to meet the requirements of the Act.

• The Act does not apply in the case of war or a natural disaster that
affects the Province which could not be anticipated or if there is greater
than a 5% reduction in revenue in the fiscal year, providing the
reduction did not result from a change in Manitoba taxation laws.  The
proceeds from the sale of a Crown Corporation are not to be included in
the determination of a positive balance.
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For the first time since the legislation was passed, the Government invoked in 2003/04
Section 3(2) of the Act to exclude the expenses related to a natural disaster that affects
the Province which could not be anticipated, in the Government’s determination of a
positive balance under the Act.  A further discussion of this matter appears later in this
section of the Report.

Fiscal Stabilization Fund - What Is It?

The Fiscal Stabilization Fund (Fund) was established under the authority of The Fiscal
Stabilization Fund Act (Act) (see Appendix G), which was enacted in 1989 and was
amended in 2000.  The purpose of the Fund as set out in the Act is to assist in stabilizing
the fiscal position of the government from year to year and to improve long-term fiscal
planning.  The Fund is often referred to as the “Rainy Day Fund”.

In 1989, in its first year of existence, the Government of the day transferred $200 million
from the Operating Fund into the Fund.  That transfer created a $142 million deficit in
the Operating Fund where there would otherwise have been $58 million surplus for the
year ended March 31, 1989.  At the time, we qualified our opinion on the $58 million
surplus.  Since then there have been other sizable transfers into the Fund including the
net proceeds from the sale of the Crown Corporation, Manitoba Telephone System, as well
as from the greater than budgeted federal transfers, including multi-year transfers that
were paid out in lump sum.

Legislative amendments were made to the Act in 2000.  Consequently, the Government
can no longer deposit in the fund any revenue or other financial assets received by the
Government in a fiscal year ending after March 31, 2000 as a result of selling shares or
assets of a Crown corporation in the course of a privatization of the Crown Corporation
and the Government can only transfer positive balances (from the Operating Fund) - the
transfer cannot create an annual deficit in the Operating Fund.

The primary activities of the Fund are interfund transfers.  The transfers are either
transfers out to the Operating Fund or transfers into the Fund from the Operating Fund.
The Fiscal Stabilization Fund also earns income on the investment of the assets of the
Fund, which is retained in the Fund until transferred out.

With regard to transfers into the Fund, the Government may deposit in the Fund, any part
of revenue or other financial assets received in the Operating Fund in any fiscal year.
Furthermore, the target level for the Fund is a minimum of 5% of the expense of the
Consolidated (Operating) Fund.

The Government may transfer out of the Fund, all or part of the Fund balance to the
Operating Fund, but the Government may only make one transfer out each fiscal year.

This Fund is used to create a positive balance in the Operating Fund in an amount chosen
each year by government.
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FIGURE 12

Conclusion

The Financial Administration Act section 65(1)(a) requires the preparation of financial
statements of the Consolidated Fund.  It also requires that the Auditor General report on
his examination of these financial statements.  The Consolidated Fund of the Public
Accounts is more commonly known as the Operating Fund and its financial position and
annual operations are included in the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds
Financial Statements.

The Special Purpose Financial Statements are prepared primarily in order to reflect
compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act
(Balanced Budget Legislation).

Only Saskatchewan, Prince Edward Island and Manitoba, include audited Special Purpose
Financial Statements or General (Operating Fund) Financial Statements in their Public
Accounts.

However, as we have noted elsewhere in this report, the Special Purpose Financial
Statements are not appropriate for assessing the government’s fiscal performance.  In
essence, therefore, it is illogical to have balanced budget legislation refer to an
inappropriate set of financial statements.  It would be more appropriate to have the
balanced budget legislation refer to the Summary Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

In keeping with the appropriateness of emphasizing the Summary Financial Statements,
we continue to believe that the Government should reflect any key information from the
Special Purpose Financial Statements in the Summary Financial Statements (in the notes
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to the financial statements).  We also believe that the Summary Financial Statements/
Summary Budget should combine budget information from the Operating Fund (Estimates
of Expenditure and Revenues) with detailed budget information from Crown
organizations.  The Government would, therefore, eliminate the need for the preparation
of the Special Purpose Financial Statements and reduce the risk of confusion caused by
having two sets of financial statements publicly presented each year.

Recommendation 3

That the Government continue with its commitment to introduce
amendments to the Financial Administration Act to eliminate the
requirement for separate Consolidated Fund (Operating Fund)
Financial Statements.

Recommendation 4

That consideration be given to amending the Balanced Budget
Legislation to refer to the Summary Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

ROLE OF INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING SERVICES
The Internal Audit and Consulting Services (Internal Audit) Branch of the Department of
Finance provides internal audit and consulting services to management throughout
government.  All government departments have access to internal audit services through
requesting work/assistance that Internal Audit may then incorporate into their annual
plans for what is assessed as high priority matters.

In addition, Internal Audit was also involved initially in the implementation of SAP
through participation in the Process and Systems Integrity Team which was responsible
for providing expert advice, guidance and integration of all aspects of internal control and
system security for the SAP project.

SAP was first implemented six years ago and is an extremely complex system.  Internal
Audit, we believe should play a significant and active role in providing assurance as to the
effectiveness of controls at the departmental level.  Ongoing involvement would give
Internal Audit the opportunity to add confidence in the reliability and accuracy of this
importance government-wide system on a continuous basis.

Moreover, an effective internal audit function enhances the control environment of the
entity.  The United States (US) passed legislation, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to address
concerns created by Enron and other financial disasters.  Those new US standards apply to
publicly traded companies.  One of the US requirements being implemented is that public
companies must make representations regarding the effectiveness of their internal
controls over financial reporting among others.

In Canada, management of publicly traded companies will also be required to make
representations on the effectiveness of the organization’s internal controls over financial

First recommended in the 2003
Report to the Legislative Assembly.

First recommended in the 2003
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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reporting.  While the regulations of provincial securities commissions requiring reporting
on the effectiveness of a company‘s internal controls over financial reporting only apply
to publicly traded companies, we believe that the public expectation that governments
provide these same assurances will soon follow.  As well, the Federal Government, in
response to the sponsorship scandal, is expanding the internal audit function throughout
government in order to provide additional assurance on the adequacy of internal controls
within departments affecting financial management and financial reporting.

As a result, we continue to believe that the internal audit function of the Province should
plan for the expansion of testing of internal controls to enable the Government to make
representations on the effectiveness of their internal control systems.  The Province’s
government-wide information system is SAP and would be a primary focus for internal
control testing.  In past years, we recommended that Internal Audit take a lead role on an
annual basis in the review and testing of SAP controls at the departmental level.

This year, we understand that the Internal Audit and Consulting Services will be revisiting
its strategic direction to focus a greater effort on the internal audit function.  In the
past, we have recommended that Internal Audit and Consulting Services have a more
significant role in providing assurance as to the effectiveness of controls at the
departmental level as they relate to SAP.

Further, as we noted in past two years, the revised Comptrollership Framework was
distributed in October 2003 and made reference to an audit function in monitoring
compliance with the authority delegated by the Comptroller to the Departments.  That
delegated authority includes ensuring effective internal control systems among other
responsibilities.  There have been further delays in the completion of the Comptrollership
Plans by some of the Departments and Internal Audit has not been involved with that
audit function in the 2005 fiscal year.

Recommendation 5

That Internal Auditing and Consulting Services revisit their role and
expand their work on an annual basis to systematically, according to a
documented plan, review and test SAP controls in the departments and
consider providing assurance as to the effectiveness of internals
controls within the provincial government.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS
The Province of Manitoba (Province) has various information systems of major and minor
significance both centrally and in the departments.  Information systems are integral to
the administration of Province and successful management of their programs.
Identification and review of these information systems are critical.

The components of a good information system include proper design, sufficient
documentation, identification and use of internal controls as well as the ongoing
monitoring of results as intended.  Change is inherent within all information systems and
therefore change management is also important.

First recommended in the 2002
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
(Modified in 2005.)
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As part of our financial statement audit methodology, we gain an understanding of
controls relevant to financial reporting.  This understanding includes controls over
business processes that are significant to financial reporting.  They are called application
controls. Some application controls are manual activities performed by people.

However, business processes are generally automated and referred to as information
systems. As the processes are automated, the application controls tend to be automated,
that is the controls are built into the computer logic or programs.  For example, a
computer program automatically assigns sequential numbers to invoices.

Therefore, proper functioning of these computer programs is important to financial
reporting.  The computer programs operate in a computer environment.  A well-controlled
computer environment provides assurance that the computer programs are functioning
properly.  The components of control over the computer environment are called general
computer controls.

The general computer controls relate to the following:

• Computer management environment;
• Computer operations;
• Acquisition and development of information systems;
• Changes to information systems;
• Logical access to programs and data; and
• Physical computer environment.

Our approach is to assess the general controls for the computer environments supporting
information systems significant to financial reporting.  Some general computer controls,
such as management practices and security policies, are common across the various
computer environments.

Other general computer controls are specific to a computer environment, such as the
configuration of system software that enables the controlled functioning of computers on
which automated information systems reside.  This system software includes the particular
computer operating system and database management system software that support an
information system.

Our approach also includes assessing application controls, both automated and manual.
We review the business process activities to determine the controls to be assessed for the
audit.

Some of the more significant information systems within the Province include SAP,
GenTax, Treasury Manager, Social Allowance Management Information Network, public
health systems such as Pharmacare, Medical and Hospital information systems in addition
to numerous departmental revenue systems.

One of the most critical information systems in place for the Province is the SAP System
which is used by all government departments, special operating agencies and certain
crown organizations.  Our Office has commented previously on various SAP internal
control issues since it was implemented on April 1, 1999.
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SAP R/3 Version 4.6b

The Province uses SAP R/3 (SAP) as an enterprise solution for its accounting, logistics and
human resource processes.  SAP is a fully integrated computerized accounting and
management information system and functions across multiple departments, agencies,
commissions and sites throughout Manitoba.  SAP allows for the sharing of common data,
so transactions initiated by one business area may have a direct impact on other business
areas.  The broad and detailed functionality that gives the system its flexibility often
results in complex control and security requirements.

Our office identified that the complexity of the controls and security requirements of SAP
creates a new set of challenges to be addressed, as we need to rely on SAP in the audit of
Public Accounts.  To this end, we performed a review of the controls over SAP in the
initial implementation of SAP version 3.1h, and we issued a report on the results of our
review.  A summary of this report was included in the March 31, 1999 Public Accounts
Report to the Legislature.

The Province upgraded from SAP version 3.1h to version 4.6b in November 2000.  We
reviewed the upgrade to determine if there were any changes due to the upgrade that
would affect our reliance on the controls over SAP in our audit of Public Accounts.  A
summary of this report was included in the March 31, 2001 Public Accounts Report to the
Legislature.

For both the initial SAP implementation as well as the 4.6b upgrade there were three
areas which we considered the most critical and were reported on previously.  Our
recommendation regarding the use of critical standard reports was addressed in 2003 and
now two areas remain.  In our 2001 Report to the Legislature we also stated that we
would provide reports to the departments detailing our recommendations based on a
review of the 4.6b upgrade.  We have issued separate reports to the departments and our
follow-up on the implementation of those recommendations has indicated that there was
still further action that needed to be taken by the departments in this regard.  As we
have reported in prior years, we will continue to address the key outstanding issues with
the Comptroller’s Office to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

The two remaining areas of recommendations made in prior years are:

1.  Access to SAP by Departmental Managers

There were several recommendations regarding access to SAP by Departmental managers as
follows:

• We had recommended that departmental managers be provided with
access to SAP and that the management tasks be removed from
administrative staff as soon as possible.  During 2001/02 there was an
initiative for providing targeted access to SAP through the Manager’s
Desktop (MDT) program.  Manager’s Desktop provides managers with
immediate access to a defined subset of management reports for human
resources and financial information.  While approximately 350 managers
attended Manager’s Desktop training and went “live” on SAP in
2001/02, we understand there have been only marginal increases in its
use by managers since then.  While MDT continues to be rolled out, it is
still not mandatory that managers access it.  Increasing MDT’s use as
well as expanding its functionality should continue to be explored.



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200564

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

While MDT provided access to specific reports in SAP, our
recommendation in regard to not having administrative staff complete
management tasks on SAP, has yet to be met.

We understand for 2005, that with respect to the automation of this
control environment through MDT, there were two initiatives
undertaken.  The current status of these initiatives is the following:

- A review of the overall use of SAP as the government’s business
management tool was completed by the Coordinated Services Unit
of the Department of Energy, Science and Technology (EST) and a
draft report (as of October 2005 ) is currently being reviewed by
senior officials before its release.

- A review of the rollout of MDT was conducted by the Comptroller’s
Office in conjunction with all executive financial officers to
determine what actions could be taken to accelerate the
implementation of MDT.  The MDT review and survey has been
completed by all department managers which contained feedback
on its use including suggested improvements including comments
on its perceived limitations.  A team, consisting of department and
central government representatives will provide support to the lead
of EST officials who will report back with the results of the survey
and the next steps to take toward regarding expanding the
functionality.

Recommendation 6

That Manager’s Desktop be expanded to encompass all managers,
additional functionality be provided, the use of it encouraged and that
management tasks be removed from administrative staff as soon as
possible and moved back to departmental managers where they
appropriately belong.  In addition, we continue to recommend the
Government set a target date for the implementation of this
recommendation once the assessments are completed on the above
initiatives and the reports released.

• We recommended that the Comptroller’s Office reinforce the importance
to departments of ensuring the delegated authorities are properly
represented in SAP or that differences from the delegated authority
levels to the levels set in SAP have been approved and documented.
During 2002/03, an SAP report was developed to assist departments to
assess the SAP authority levels, and to ensure compatibility and
comparability.  Distribution of the report to departments occurred at the
December 2002 Council of Executive Finance Officers (CEFO) meeting.  In
accordance with the Comptrollership Framework, it is the responsibility
of each individual department, rather than a central function, to review
delegated authorities and have the appropriate documentation.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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While we commend the Government for having made progress with
regard to documenting and approving differences from the delegated
authority levels, our concern remains.  All differences from delegated
authorities represented in SAP should be identified and the approval
and documentation of that approval is still required.

We understand that departments are required to ensure this issue is
satisfactorily addressed in their Comptrollership Plans and indicate how
they satisfy themselves that delegated authorities are properly
represented in SAP, as well as ensure that they are updated on a timely
basis and highlight any incompatibilities.  We understand that
departments are required to address the SAP role matrix in their
Comptrollership plans to identify any role incompatibilities.  At
March 31, 2005 there were a number of Comptrollership plans that had
not been completed and filed with the Comptroller’s Office.  We have
been informed that the Comptrollership plans are subject to review and
audit by Internal Audit and Consulting Services.

Recommendation 7

That the Comptroller’s Office, through a timely monitoring of the
Departments’ accountability, ensure that all departments’ delegated
authorities are properly represented in SAP or that differences from
these delegated authorities are approved and documented.

• We previously recommended that Manitoba Information and
Communication Technology (MICT), formerly ESM, prepare lists of
incompatible functions by department.  Each department should be
provided with their specific list for review and approval.  This process
should be updated on a regular basis to ensure that departments are
aware of staff members with incompatible functions and that
departments have controls to compensate for the increased exposure to
risk.

During 2002/03 an SAP report was developed which assisted
departments in identifying incompatible functions.  It was first
distributed to Departmental Executive Finance Officers in June 2002 for
their review.  Each individual department is responsible for the review,
on a regular basis, of the existence of incompatible functions and for
documenting the compensating controls should any incompatibilities
exist.

The SAP report used the original role matrix of incompatible functions
as of April 1, 1999.  We understand that in accordance with revised
Comptrollership Framework, it is the responsibility of each department
to ensure that the existence of any incompatible roles and the
compensating controls are identified and documented.  However, the
departmental Comptrollership plans which are the mechanism for
reporting to the Comptroller’s Office have not all been completed.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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Over the past few years we have found instances in the departments
where there are incompatible roles without documentation regarding the
compensating controls.  As a result of our reviews several departments
eliminated incompatible roles, either because the roles were found to be
no longer necessary, or to address the identified role conflicts.

In 2004, we were informed the matrix would be comprehensively
reviewed in conjunction with the next upgrade and then the revised
matrix, together with its underlying rationale, would be communicated
to departments.  We understand this responsibility has been
communicated to all departments.  Additionally, departments are being
required to address this issue in their departmental Comptrollership
plans.  We were informed a significant effort is being directed to
completion of the plans, which are critically reviewed as they arrive in
the Comptroller’s Office, with special emphasis on ensuring that this
requirement is being met.

There has not been another SAP upgrade as yet.  As a result, we
understand that no revisions will be made to the matrix until the next
SAP upgrade is undertaken.

Recommendation 8

That the Comptroller’s Office, through a monitoring of departmental
accountability, ensure that departments review the incompatible
functions on a regular basis and that departments maintain
documentation on compensating controls should incompatibilities
exist.  The role matrix, when updated on the next upgrade, should
reconcile to incompatibilities noted on MICT’s intranet site and should
document why a combination of functions/roles is incompatible so
that departments can understand why they are incompatible and
better able them to document the required compensating controls.

2.  Business Continuity Plan for Manitoba Information and Communication Technology

We previously recommended that a comprehensive business continuity plan be put in
place by the Province covering the SAP application.  Business continuity plans are
necessary to restore critical business activities in the event of a disaster.  They specify
how alternate facilities and SAP processing capabilities will be provided to continue and
restore operations within a planned timeframe.  Without a business continuity plan, users
may be unable to access SAP.

An effective disaster recovery plan is one aspect of a business continuity plan.  During
2002, Manitoba Information and Communication Technology (MICT) (formerly ESM)
successfully completed the implementation of a significant step in their disaster recovery
plan.  This involved establishing an interim facility to house an alternative computing
environment for the SAP system.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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Furthermore, the presence of this disaster recovery site will minimize disruption of access
to the SAP system in the event of an unforeseen event or disaster at the primary site.  We
understand that operating procedures relating to the disaster recovery plan have been
completed, tested successfully in the summer of 2004 for a 3 week period and will be
amended as future conditions warrant.  Disaster recovery procedures should include
testing as a normal part of operations and any changes in conditions should be reflected
in amendments to the disaster recovery plan.  We understand that associated
documentation outlining the D/R plan is being revised to reflect the recent hardware
upgrade.  MICT expects to complete the D/R documentation in the 2005/06 fiscal year.

In 2004 we were also informed that MICT intended to refocus efforts on development of a
comprehensive and effective Business Continuity Plan in relation to the Government’s SAP
installation.  We understand Manitoba Information and Communication Technology as a
branch of the Department of Energy, Science and Technology has planned for the
development of their own Business Continuity Plan as it applies to the Government’s SAP
installation as one of its projects to be completed during the 2005/06 fiscal year.

Recommendation 9

That a well thought out and effective Business Continuity Plan, one
component being disaster recovery having been completed, be
developed, documented and tested regularly to minimize the risk of
disruptions caused by unforeseen events.

INVOKING SECTION 3(2) FOR EMERGENCY EXPENSES
For the first time in the 2003/04 fiscal year, the Government invoked Section 3(2) of the
Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment, and Taxpayer Accountability Act (Act) to exclude
emergency expenses in determining whether there was a positive or negative balance.
The Government did not invoke Section 3(2) of the Act during the 2004/05 fiscal year.
However, our concerns regarding of the invocation of Section 3(2) of the Act remain.

Although we reported in 2003/04 that the Government did comply with Section 3(2) of
the Act, we also placed a scope limitation in the 2003/04 Auditor’s Report on the Special
Purpose (Operating Fund) Financial Statements because we could not express an opinion
on the amount of the emergency expenses.  We found that there was an absence of
suitable, generally accepted criteria for use in determining an amount for emergency
expenditures as called for by the Act.  As a result, the amount, although declared in
accordance with the provisions of the Act, is not susceptible to audit verification and no
opinion was expressed on the amount of the emergency expenditures.

Representatives of the Department of Finance and Treasury Board Secretariat provided us
with the following documented rationale for the use of Section 3(2):

“Balanced Budget Legislation (BBL) Disaster Exemption Background for 2003/04
Public Accounts

• Section 3(2) of the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer
Accountability Act states that, ‘The government is not required to include

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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the following in determining whether there is a positive or negative
balance for a fiscal year:

a) an expenditure required in the fiscal year as a result of a natural or
other disaster in Manitoba that could not have been anticipated and
affects the province or a region of the province in a manner that is of
urgent public concern;

b) an expenditure required in the fiscal year because Canada is at war or
under apprehension of war;

c) a reduction in revenue of 5% or more in the fiscal year, other than a
reduction resulting from a change in Manitoba’s tax laws’.

• While this clause has existed since the inception of BBL, it has not been
used to declare any expenditure as disaster-related and not included in
the determination of the balance.

• Certainly as to the amount to be excluded under Section 3(2) may be
provided by way of a declaration of the Lieutenant Governor in Council
under Section 3(3) of the BBL, which states, ‘A declaration by the
Lieutenant Governor in Council that, in the opinion of the Lieutenant
Governor in Council, an expenditure or reduction of revenue as described
in subsection (2) has occurred is conclusive for the purposes of this Act of
the fact that the expenditure or reduction occurred and in that amount’.
This declaration can only be made after the amounts are known.

• Key criteria for invoking the clause in 2003/04 are the magnitude of the
emergency, the availability of other sources of revenue, and the remaining
balance of the Fiscal Stabilization Fund (FSF).  As indicated in the
following Figure 13, the available FSF balance was the lowest since the
inception of the BBL in terms of the total balance and as a percent of
total expenditure.  Revenue also declined from budget in 2003/04.

FIGURE 13
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• The criteria of revenue availability and FSF capacity were applied to
ensure that flexibility existed in the Operating Fund for future years.  The
FSF capacity as at March 31, 2004 is currently at $118 million on a
preliminary actual basis, or 1.6% versus the fund balance target
established in BBL of 5% of total 2004/05 expenditure.

• Legal opinion on the expenditures that could be declared indicated that,
to the extent that Emergency Expenditures exceed the $25,000,000
provided for in the Main Estimates, they could be excluded in determining
the balance for the year under the BBL.”

In Figure 13 above, provided by the Government, the Emergency Expenditures Variance
from Budget column shows actual expenses but the third party recoveries are included in
the Total Revenue Variance from Budget column for the 2003/04 year, but not for the
years 1997/98 to 1999/00.  Figure 14 shows what Figure 13 would look like if third
party recoverables were listed consistently.

FIGURE 14

The $71 million in emergency expenses excluded under Section 3(2) of the Act was, as
noted above, net of the budgeted amount of $25 million provided in the 2003/04
Estimates (of Expenditures).  The $71 million emergency expenses were also net of
approximately $2 million in third party recoveries from the Federal Government.

The two largest categories of costs included emergency expenses related to the bovine
spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) crisis and forest fire suppression activity.  The BSE crisis
costs were $42 million which incorporated $9 million for a provision for bad debts for the
BSE Recovery Loan Program and $33 million for a shared cost program to support
producers affected.  As well, there was $52 million spent on forest fire suppression
activities.

The other categories included were spring flood costs of approximately $1 million and a
further $1 million for various departmental emergency expenses.
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Analysis

We reviewed the justification for this transaction before concluding that the amount of
the excluded emergency expenses was not susceptible to audit verification because of a
lack suitable lack of generally accepted criteria to be used in determining the amount.

In our view, appropriate criteria for determining the amount of emergency expenses
would not include the amount available to be drawn from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund or
the availability of other sources of revenue.

However, the criterion of the magnitude of the costs related to emergency expenses is
relevant as the Government must manage unforeseen circumstances on an ongoing basis.
Similarly, there is the issue of the amount budgeted as a baseline over which any
additional expenses would be considered of a sufficient magnitude to be excluded.

Another criterion to consider in the appropriateness of the amount budgeted for
contingencies.  In 2003/04 the government budgeted $25 million (0.3% of budgeted
expenses) for contingencies.  On this basis, Section 3(2) was invoked for all emergency
expenses over $25 million.  However, one could argue that $25 million is a very tiny
contingency in a $7.3 billion budget.  A larger contingency would result in Section 3(2)
being invoked only for significant events.

In addition, we found that over the past five years, the highest costs incurred for forest
fire suppression activities alone, net of recoveries and adjusted for inflation, were $25
million ($26.2 million in 1999/00 with recoveries of $2.9 million, both in nominal
dollars).

We believe that the criteria could also consider the historical trends of expenses incurred
and be used to establish a range, outside of which, the emergency expenses would be
considered eligible for exclusion under Section 3(2) of the Act.  Similarly, the Government
might also establish criteria for what constitutes a natural or other disaster in Manitoba
that could not have been anticipated and affects the province or a region of the province
in a manner that is of urgent public concern.

In summary, we believe that the criteria used to determine the emergency expenses
excluded under Section 3(2) of the Act for purposes of determining whether there is a
balanced budget should be clearly defined and communicated to the Legislative Assembly.

Recommendation 10

That the Government develop suitable, generally accepted criteria to
be used in determining an amount of emergency expenditures to be
excluded under Section 3(2) of the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment,
and Taxpayer Accountability Act and communicate these criteria to the
Members of the Legislative Assembly.

First recommended in the 2004
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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Review of the “Province of Manitoba
Annual Report for the Year Ended March 31,
2005” in Relation to Recommended
Practices in Performance Reporting

INTRODUCTION
In our report to the Legislature last year on the Audit of the Public Accounts for the year
ended March 31, 2004, we made the following recommendation:

That the Province of Manitoba reshape its Annual Report into a
document that more closely reflects the recommendations of PSAB’s
Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis and CCAF’s Performance
Reporting Principles.

We reviewed the 2005 Annual Report to determine how much progress has been made in
implementing this recommendation.  Our work was conducted pursuant to the Auditor
General’s mandate under clause 14(1)(c) of The Auditor General Act which authorizes the
examination of whether the Legislative Assembly has been provided with appropriate
accountability information.  We relied on guidance developed by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants and CCAF to undertake the review of the Province of Manitoba
Annual Report for the Year Ended March 31, 2005.  The guidance from each of these
sources is explained below followed by our conclusions and further recommendations.

GUIDANCE FROM THE CANADIAN INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED
ACCOUNTANTS
To encourage governments to effectively report only the most relevant information, the
Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(PSAB) has developed a Statement of Recommended Practice in regard to the annual
reports of the federal, provincial, territorial and local governments.  The Statement of
Recommended Practice is intended to provide guidance for the development of the
Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (FSD&A).  Although not part of the financial
statements, FSD&A is information that would accompany the financial statements.  FSD&A
information also includes narrative explanations and graphic illustrations highlighting the
key relationships that exist among the quantitative representations set out in the
financial statements, as well as explanations and illustrations of variances and trends.

There are two essential aims of FSD&A information:

• to enhance the users’ understanding of a government’s financial position
and results of operations, enabling them to make more informed
decisions and judgments;
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• to enable a government to demonstrate accountability for the resources
entrusted to it.

Figure 15 presents the key elements from PSAB’s FSD&A Statement of Recommended
Practice and findings from our review of the Annual Report in relation to the Statement of
Practice.

GUIDANCE FROM CCAF
In addition to the FSD&A, there is also a set of Performance Reporting Principles which
CCAF released in 2001.  CCAF, a national, non-profit research and education foundation
that researches public sector accountability, management and audit issues, developed its
Performance Reporting Principles through extensive consultation with legislators,
managers and auditors.

These Principles are aimed at helping governments and other public sector institutions
bring public performance reporting to a new level of excellence.  CCAF considers public
reporting on performance not an end in itself, but rather an integral part of effective
public sector governance and management.  Figure 16 presents the key elements from
CCAF’s Performance Reporting Principles and the findings from our review of the Annual
Report in relation to those Principles.

CONCLUSION
The 2005 Annual Report continues to demonstrate the same limitations as the previous
year’s report (Figure 15 and Figure 16).  As with the previous Annual Report, the 2005
Annual Report is still not outcome oriented and significant work is needed to bring the
performance information presented in line with PSAB and CCAF recommendations on
reporting.  Therefore, we reiterate the recommendation we made last year:

Recommendation 11

That the Province of Manitoba continue to reshape its Annual Report
into a document that more closely reflects the recommendations of
PSAB’s Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis and CCAF’s
Performance Reporting Principles.

First recommended in the 2004
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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FINDINGS

FIGURE 15
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FIGURE 15 (CONT’D.)
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FIGURE 16
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FIGURE 16 (CONT’D.)
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Who Conducts the Audits
The Auditor General’s Office audits many of the crown organizations and one of the
government business enterprises included in the Government Reporting Entity, and many
others are audited by private sector auditors appointed by the Government.
Consequently, we place reliance on the audit work and opinions of the private sector
auditors in forming the audit opinion on the Summary Financial Statements.  As discussed
below The Auditor General Act also provides us with specific authority over Government
appointed auditors.  We obtain written representations from the private sector auditors
regarding their independence and compliance with generally accepted auditing standards.
We also perform additional auditing procedures, as we consider necessary, to fulfill our
broader reporting responsibilities to the Legislative Assembly.

Appendix E lists those government entities audited by the Auditor General’s Office and
those audited by private sector auditors.

Relationship with Private Sector Auditors

THE AUDITOR GENERAL ACT
The Auditor General, as the auditor of the Public Accounts of the Government of the
Province of Manitoba, reports on whether the Government’s Summary Financial
Statements are fairly presented in accordance with public sector accounting standards for
senior governments.

As many of the financial statements of government entities included in the Government
Reporting Entity are audited by private sector auditors, the Auditor General must also be
able to rely on the work of these external auditors.  The Auditor General Act (Act)
clarified the Auditor General’s authority over the external auditors and the responsibilities
of the external auditors to the Auditor General as auditors of government entities.
Section 13 of the Act authorizes the Auditor General to rely on the report of an external
auditor of a government entity in order to fulfill the Auditor General’s responsibilities as
the auditor of the government accounts.  Professional auditing standards, namely Section
6930 of the CICA Assurance Handbook, permit reliance on the work of another auditor
provided that the Auditor General is satisfied that the audit conducted has been properly
planned, executed, completed and reported.

In addition, as we reported previously, the Act was proclaimed in early May 2002, and
since then we have expanded our role in the financial statement audits of government
entities audited by the private sector auditors.  Our expanded role encompassed a review
of the planning, execution and completion stages of the audits performed by these
auditors.

Excerpts from the Act are provided below:

Planning

The Auditor General may require the external auditor of government entities to provide
the Auditor General with a description of the proposed scope of the audit before the audit



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200582

CROWN ORGANIZATIONS AND GOVERNMENT BUSINESS ENTERPRISES

is begun.  The Auditor General may then require changes to be made in the scope of the
audit.  [Section 12(1) of the Act]

Execution

Before an external auditor issues an audit opinion on the financial statements of a
government entity, the Auditor General may require the external auditor conduct
additional examinations relating to the financial statements.  [Section 12(2)(b) of the
Act]

Completion

Before an external auditor issues an audit opinion on the financial statements of a
government entity, the Auditor General may require the external auditor to provide the
Auditor General with a copy of the proposed audit opinion, the draft financial statements,
and any recommendations arising out of the audit of the financial statements.
[Section 12(2)(a) of the Act]

The Auditor General may require an external auditor to give the Auditor General a copy of
the audit working papers.  [Section 12(3) of the Act]

Reporting

As soon as an audit is completed, an external auditor must give the Auditor General a
copy of the audit opinion on the financial statements of a government organization and
any recommendations arising out of the audit of the financial statements.  [Section
12(4) of the Act]

Report to the Legislative Assembly

The Auditor General has the authority to report to the Legislative Assembly on any
matter he or she may wish attention to and make recommendations regarding any audit
conducted by an external auditor under Section 12.  [Section 10(3) of the Act]

RELIANCE ON THE WORK OF PRIVATE SECTOR AUDITORS
In the 2002/03 audit cycle, we met with the Chief Executive Officers and the Chief
Financial Officers of Crown organizations included in the Government Reporting Entity, as
well as representatives from the private sector audit firms conducting the financial
statement audits of these entities.  At these meetings we clarified the role our Office
would be taking in these audits, and set out our specific expectations regarding required
correspondence, communications and time lines.

For year ended March 31, 2005, the Office of the Auditor General continued to issue
letters to the external auditors requiring them to comply with Sections 12(1), 12(2) and
12(4) of the Act.  Specifically, the external auditors were to provide to our Office, draft
audit plans before the commencement of the audit field work and draft audit opinions
and financial statements prior to finalizing the audit.  The auditors were also directed to
provide signed audit opinions and management letters.
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Review of Draft Planning Memoranda, Financial Statements and
Auditors’ Reports

We received 53 draft planning memoranda from private sector auditors, which we reviewed
and made recommendations for changes on two of these audit plans.

Similarly, we also received and reviewed 53 draft financial statements and auditors’
reports.  We provided recommendations on 44 of the draft financial statements.  We had
no recommendations on 9 of the draft financial statements.

Of the 44 draft financial statements for which we made recommendations, 29 draft
financial statements were amended in 2005.  With respect to the other 15 draft financial
statements, some of the changes we recommended were deferred until next year.

The recommended changes included presentation and disclosure matters in the financial
statements and in the notes to the financial statements.

In accordance with our annual and cyclical review schedule, we reviewed 17 of the
external auditors’ working paper files including the audit working paper files for all of the
large government business enterprises.

We continued to communicate with the external auditors at each stage of the overview.

As a result of our reliance process regarding Crown organizations’ financial statement
audits, we continued our involvement with the audit processes of Crowns including
attendance at Board and Audit Committee meetings.  Through our review of the draft
financial statements of Crown Organizations prior to finalization, we also continued to
contribute to improved public sector financial reporting.  Our impact on their financial
statements included clearer and expanded note disclosure and improved asset and liability
classification and description.

Furthermore, in the case of our overview work with respect to Special Operating Agencies’
(SOAs) financial statement audits, we were able to assist them to improve the overall
disclosure and consistency of presentation among these organizations.  As well, that work
also contributed to the improved consistency of the financial reporting of the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority.

Management Letter Issues

On an annual basis the OAG reviews the management letters issued within the
Government Reporting Entity.  These audits are conducted by the OAG or by private sector
accounting firms with overviews of the external audits performed by the OAG.

Management Letters deal with matters that come to the attention of an auditor during
the course of a financial statement audit.  The matters communicated do not necessarily
include all those matters which a more extensive or special examination might uncover.
The objective of a financial statement audit is to express an opinion on the financial
statements of an entity based on the audit procedures.  A financial statement audit is not
designed to identify matters to communicate and may not identify all such matters.
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements, which includes
responsibilities related to internal control, such as designing and maintaining accounting
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records, selecting and applying accounting policies, safeguarding assets and preventing
and detecting error and fraud.

OAG reviewed 81 organizations in the Government Reporting Entity (see Figure 17).
There were 36 Management Letters issued.  Management Letters were not issued for 45
entities.  For these entities, it was the auditors’ opinion that no significant items came to
their attention during the course of the financial statement audit that should be brought
to the attention of management, and/or their Board/Audit Committee.

FIGURE 17

Among the 36 Management Letters that were issued OAG noted three major themes as
highlighted in Figure 18:

FIGURE 18

1.  Internal Controls Weaknesses

There were 72 instances of internal controls weaknesses reported.  Internal controls assist
with safeguarding of assets and are designed to prevent and/or detect errors or
irregularities.  The internal control weaknesses identified involved the revenues, expenses,
capital assets and payroll functions within the entities.  Some of the items noted were:

• Poor controls over financial reporting;
• Poor controls over inventory counts;
• Lack of a capital asset listing;
• Unreconciled accounts;
• Improper segregation of duties; and
• Inadequate review and approval of transactions.
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2.  Governance

There were 26 instances of governance weaknesses reported.  Governance practices relate
to how a governing body, most often the Board of Directors, leads and oversees an
organization.  Some of the items noted were:

• Lack of minutes from Board of Director and Audit Committee meetings;
• Inadequate polices and procedures regarding code of conduct and

conflict of interest;
• Inadequate and untimely financial information provided to the Board;
• Lack of review of budget to actual comparison of revenues and expenses;

and
• Lack of review and approval of financial statements.

3.  Information Technology

There were 45 instances of information technology (IT) weaknesses reported.  IT policies
and procedures are important as they help prevent unauthorized access to sensitive
information and play a vital role in ongoing government operations.  Some of the items
noted were:

• Poor computer system access controls;
• Poor computer password controls;
• Inadequate segregation of duties in the IT Department; and
• Outdated and untested disaster recovery plans.

During 2006/07, we will follow up the recommendations made in the Management Letters
to determine and report on the status of implementation of the recommendations.

Workers Compensation Board
Last year, we reported that during 2003, the CICA issued a new accounting
recommendation, entitled Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).  This
standard clarified what constituted Canadian GAAP as well as the primary sources of
Canadian GAAP and was effective for fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2003.
This standard affected the Workers Compensation Board’s (WCB) 2004 fiscal year financial
statements and eliminated the WCB option of accounting for investments and investment
income using the five year moving average method which was the WCB’s current
accounting policy.  Instead, long-term investments were to be accounted for on the cost
basis and gains and losses recognized in income when realized through sale.

However, the cost basis of accounting for investments was also under review.  The CICA
exposure draft issued in 2004 entitled, Financial Instruments – Recognition and
Measurement (HB 3855) recommended the following:

1) Fair value is the most useful measure of financial instruments and
similar items; and

2) All changes in the fair value of these instruments should be recognized
in the period in which they arise.
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If this standard related to financial instruments had not been approved in 2004, the WCB
would have been required to adopt the cost basis of accounting for investments in 2004 to
comply with GAAP and subsequently adopt fair value accounting for investments in 2005
or 2006 in accordance with the new financial instrument recommendation.

Last year, we reported that the WCB was monitoring developments at the CICA closely and
had consulted with its auditors, the OAG and the provincial Comptroller’s Office in
formulating its decision to address this financial reporting issue.

CICA Handbook, Section 3855 - Financial Instruments–Recognition and Measurement, and
Section 1530 - Comprehensive Income, are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006.  Early adoption was permitted for fiscal years ending on or after
December 31, 2004.  The Workers Compensation Board elected to early adopt these
standards on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2004.

Under the previous accounting policy, investments were initially recorded at cost and
adjusted to market using the moving average market method.  Unrealized and realized
gains and losses were deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over 60 months.
Interest and dividend income were recognized in the period earned.

Under the new accounting policy, the WCB has elected to classify all investments that
meet the CICA Handbook definition of a financial asset as “available for sale” and carry
those investments at fair value.  Realized gains and losses are recognized as investment
income in the year they occur.  Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive income until the investment is sold or becomes impaired at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to operating surplus.

The change in accounting policy has been applied prospectively from January 1, 2004 in
accordance with the new Handbook sections.  The issuance of these new accounting
standards allowed WCB to prepare its financial statements in accordance with GAAP
without the need to change its investment related accounting policies two years in a row.

Regional Health Authorities
The Regional Health Authorities (RHAs) have third party long term debt (owed to private
sector financial institutions) which was incurred to finance capital projects and is being
repaid with funding from the Province of Manitoba.  In substance, under public sector
accounting standards, that debt is considered the debt of the Province.  As mentioned
earlier in this report, this year the Province recognized in the Special Purpose Financial
Statements that third party debt as borrowings of the Province.  However, since the RHAs
have also recorded this long term debt as their debt, the RHAs were directed by Manitoba
Health Services Insurance Plan to change their financial reporting to reflect this third
party long term debt as deferred contributions (reflecting that the funding represents
capital grants from the Province) in the their financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2005.

For the most part, the RHAs did not record that third party long term debt as deferred
contributions in their March 31, 2005 financial statements due to time constraints.
However, the RHAs are expected to restate that third party long term debt as deferred
contributions in their March 31, 2006 financial statements.
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Receivables from the Province of Manitoba
for Severance and Vacation Pay Liabilities
Last year we reported that several years ago the Province of Manitoba instructed various
crown organizations (organizations) to accrue their vacation and severance pay liabilities
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  At that time, the
Province recognized that it would be an unfair imposition on the organizations’ financial
position to record those liabilities without financial support from the Province.  As a
result, the Province acknowledged responsibility for the liabilities for vacation and
severance pay entitlements incurred up to the time of the directive and recorded the
liability owing to the organizations in the Special Purpose (Operating Fund) Financial
Statements.

This year, the Province has also recognized in the Special Purpose (Operating Fund)
Financial Statements, the remaining liability of $234 million for employee future benefits
(severance and vacation benefits) owed to health care facilities (Regional Health
Authorities and Non-devolved health care facilities) and child and family services agencies
as at March 31, 2004.

Similarly, when these liabilities were recognized by the Province, the entities also set up
offsetting receivables from the Province for these amounts.  The current liabilities to the
organizations of approximately $268 million for severance and vacation pay entitlements
set up by the Province are listed in Appendix H.  The Province’s liabilities to the
organizations and the organizations’ receivables from the Province are eliminated when
their financial statements and the Operating Fund Financial Statements are consolidated
into the Summary Financial Statements.

Although the Province has recorded these liabilities, there is only a plan to pay $239
million (the balances owed to health care facilities).  The Department of Health has
indicated that they will fund the payment of the balances due to health care facilities
over a 25 year period commencing in the 2006/07 fiscal year.  However, for the remaining
organizations, the Province has directed the organizations to budget for the annual
change in the liability which might be included in part of the annual provincial funding
provided to the respective entities.  In discussion with government organizations, we
noted that this annual funding of the change in the liability has not been clearly
communicated to the respective organizations.

In addition, the Province’s decision not to repay, in the foreseeable future, the receivables
set up by certain crown organizations for vacation and severance pay liabilities, raises
questions as to the valuation of those receivables from the Province reflected in the
financial statements of these organizations.  From the perspective of the crown
organizations, the accounting treatment is defensible because related parties can enter
into transactions with terms and conditions different from those of unrelated parties.
The balances due from the Province should be reflected at carrying value by the crown
organizations with note disclosure of the terms and conditions.

However, without a plan from the Province to discharge the remaining liabilities, the
crown organizations must also consider the cash flow issue regarding collection of these
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long-term receivables.  Many of the organizations are starting to pay out large severance
benefits as staff retire.  The organizations have to provide the funding from within the
organization.  We understand that the Province has no plans at present to fund the
remaining balance of these amounts, unless the organizations experience an overall cash
shortfall.  This shortfall would be likely to occur only if the respective organizations
ceased operations.

Recommendation 12

That the Government develop a plan to discharge its remaining
obligations for vacation and severance pay to the various government
organizations involved.  That the Government also clearly
communicate to these organizations, the portion of the annual
funding provided by the Province, if any, that relates to the increase
in vacation and severance pay liabilities.

Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements
Prepared Using a Basis of Accounting Other
Than Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles
An auditor’s report on general purpose financial statements under the relatively new
audit standard (in place for the past two years) must be qualified if the financial
statements are not prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  A qualified auditor’s
report indicates that the financial statements are found significantly lacking either
because an accounting issue has not been handled properly or because important note
disclosure is missing.

This auditing standard also provides that if the financial statements are prepared for
legislative or regulatory purposes, then the auditor’s report would only include a fourth
paragraph and would not be qualified.  In addition, this fourth paragraph indicates the
limitations placed on the assurance provided in the report as follows:

“These financial statements, which have not been, and were not intended
to be, prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles, are solely for the information and use of ….  The
financial statements are not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than the specified users or for any other purpose.”

Two years ago we identified eight crowns in the Government Reporting Entity whose
auditor’s reports could be affected by this change in audit standards.  During the 2004
fiscal year, we met with the representatives of seven of the entities.  As their auditors, we
discussed whether their organizations could adopt Canadian generally accounting
principles as the basis of accounting for their financial statements.  As a result,
Cooperative Promotion Board, Legal Aid Services Society of Manitoba, Manitoba Housing

First recommended in the 2004
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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and Renewal Corporation and Northern Affairs Fund adopted GAAP as the basis of
accounting for their 2004 financial statements and we were able to issue unqualified
auditors’ reports on their 2004 and 2005 financial statements.

For Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan (MHSIP), this year we issued an unqualified
auditors’ report as the financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP.
MHSIP eliminated the GAAP exception that was in place in their 2003/04 financial
statements in order to be in a position to receive a GAAP opinion in 2004/05.

In the case of the Cooperative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board, we continued to issue an
unqualified Section 5805 auditor’s report on their financial information.  Statements of
financial information are not considered financial statements and are not affected by the
new audit standard.

As well, for the Public Trustee Estates and Trusts Under Administration, we also continued
to issue a fourth paragraph to the auditor’s report as described above and indicated that
the financial statements are only for use of the Members of the Legislative Assembly for
the purpose of compliance with Section 19 of The Public Trustee Act.  The auditors of
Addictions Foundation of Manitoba again issued a similar fourth paragraph to their
2004/05 auditors’ report.



COMPLIANCE WITH AUTHORITY
AND AGREEMENTS
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Audit Opinion on Compliance with
Legislative Authorities
Compliance with legislative authorities is essential for governments and government
entities.  We believe there is an increasing need for positive assurance of compliance to be
provided by the government and its entities.

Accordingly, we have drafted guidelines for auditing compliance with authorities.  The
guidelines detail management’s and auditor’s responsibilities in providing assurance on
compliance with authority for the government entity.  Management is responsible for
ensuring the entity complies with legislative authorities.  The guideline requires
management to prepare a certification addressed to the Board of Directors confirming the
entity’s compliance with specific legislative authorities identified that relate to financial
reporting, safeguarding public resources, revenue raising, spending, borrowing, and
investing.

The responsibility of the auditor is to form an opinion on the government entity’s
compliance with its legislative authorities as identified in management’s certification.

We piloted the guideline on one of our direct audits of a government entity.  The results
of the pilot were very favourable.  The senior management and the Board were very
receptive to the process and found that it was a useful exercise.

We intend to pilot the draft guidelines on two more entities we directly audit, as well as
one entity where we use an agent in the audit and one entity audited by an auditor
external to our Office.

Based on the results of the pilots and further discussions with the Department of Finance,
external auditors, and entity senior management we intend to finalize the guidelines.  We
will then require audits of compliance with authorities to be conducted for the Province
and public sector entities for fiscal year ends ending on or after March 31, 2007.  The
compliance opinion will be separate from the audit opinion on the financial statements
but will have the same deadline requirements as the financial statement audit opinion.



FUTURE HANDBOOK SECTIONS
AFFECTING THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
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Public Sector Accounting Board
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) sets out Generally Accepted
Accounting Principals (GAAP) for entities in Canada.  The recommendations and guidance
on accounting for businesses and not-for-profit entities are detailed in the CICA
Accounting Handbook.

However, there are unique accounting issues encountered in the public sector that are
different from the issues encountered in the private sector.  The CICA recognized the
unique characteristics of accounting in the public sector and established the Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB) to issue recommendations and guidance regarding GAAP in the
public sector.  These recommendations and guidance strengthen accountability in the
public sector through developing, recommending and gaining acceptance of accounting
and financial reporting standards.  PSAB recommendations and guidance are detailed in
the PSAB Handbook.

PSAB defines the public sector to include federal, provincial, territorial and local
governments, government organizations, government partnerships and school boards.

The public sector reported on by the Office of the Auditor General in Manitoba is
comprised of the Summary Financial Statements of the Province of Manitoba and the
government organizations consolidated in these statements.  This is described as the
Government Reporting Entity.

PSAB recommendations directly apply to the Summary Financial Statements of the
Government of Manitoba.  The Auditor’s Report issued by the Office of the Auditor General
in Manitoba on the Summary Financial Statements reflects the extent to which
government financial statements comply with PSAB standards.

Our Office and private sector auditors’ report on the financial statements of the
government organizations making up the Government Reporting Entity.  These
government organizations may base their accounting on the PSAB Handbook or the CICA
Accounting Handbook depending on the nature of the organization.  Government
business-type organizations and government not-for-profit organizations adhere to the
recommendations in CICA Accounting Handbook.  Other government organizations base the
accounting policies on those that most appropriately reflect to their objectives and
circumstances - based on the accounting recommendations of PSAB or on the
recommendations in CICA Accounting Handbook.  Where PSAB Handbook or CICA
Accounting Handbook is silent on a particular issue, the entity obtains guidance from
other acceptable sources.

PSAB is responsible for developing Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for
the public sector.  Accordingly, it has approved a number of projects to develop these
standards.

After developing the draft standards, PSAB then issues exposure drafts on the proposed
standards to be included in the Handbook.  Comments on the proposed standards are
requested from interested parties.  Depending on the comments received the standards in
the exposure drafts may be adopted, changed, reissued as another exposure draft or
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withdrawn.  Once adopted the standards are included in the Handbooks and are then
considered GAAP.

PSAB also issues research studies to provide guidance on specific areas.

New and Future PSAB Handbook Sections
Affecting Financial Reporting in Public
Accounts
The new Handbook sections, exposure drafts and other projects highlighted below have a
potential affect on GAAP for the Public Accounts of the Province of Manitoba.

NEW PSAB HANDBOOK SECTIONS AND OTHER GUIDANCE

Government Reporting Entity for Senior Governments - Section
PS1300

What entities should be consolidated in the Summary Financial Statements?  In August
2003, the definition of the Government Reporting Entity (GRE) for senior governments
was amended with the issuance of the revised PSAB Handbook, Government Reporting
Entity, Section PS1300.  The revised PSAB Handbook section recommends that the GRE
should be comprised of entities that are controlled by the government.  Control is defined
as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity with
expectation of benefit or the risk loss to the government from the entity’s activities.  The
section provides indicators of control to guide governments in assessing whether control
exists for financial reporting purposes.  Some indicators of control are more persuasive
than others but on balance it is the preponderance of evidence that would be considered
in determining whether control exists.

Effective date – The new standards are effective for all fiscal years beginning on or after
April 1, 2005.  However, in June 2004, PSAB added a transitional provision to PS1300.
The transitional provision allows governments to consolidate government organizations,
not previously included in the GRE in the previous fiscal year, on a modified equity basis
until fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2008.  At that time, these organizations
have to be fully consolidated in the GRE.  To be eligible for the transitional provision,
government organizations have to have the following characteristics:

• they are separate legal entities with the power to contract in their own
name, and that can sue and be sued;

• they have the financial and operational authority to provide a
government service within a defined service area;

• there is a governance framework of appointed or elected local board
representatives from the defined service area; and

• there are significant restrictions on the government’s ability to access
their assets.
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The Province of Manitoba strategy for its government reporting entity is discussed in the
section of this report titled, Public Accounts – Improvements and Recommendations.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) – Section PS1150

PSAB provides the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for the public sector.
However, there are instances where PSAB is silent in particular areas.  Where this happens,
the entities have to look to other sources for guidance.

In February 2005, PSAB issued a new section establishing standards for financial reporting
in accordance with GAAP.  It describes what constitutes Canadian GAAP and its sources for
governments and public sector entities that consider the CICA Public Sector Accounting
Handbook appropriate.

The primary source of GAAP for a public sector entity is PSAB Handbook.  When a matter
is not dealt with explicitly in the PSAB Handbook, a public sector entity adopts
accounting policies and disclosures that are consistent with the primary source of GAAP.
The accounting policies and disclosures are developed through the exercise of professional
judgment and the application of the accounting concepts described in the PSAB
Handbook.  The standards identify some other sources that an entity might consult to
assist in selecting accounting policies and disclosures when a matter is not dealt with
explicitly in the PSAB Handbook.

If the basis of accounting used to prepare financial statements in accordance with
regulatory, legislative or contractual requirements conflicts with the requirements of the
Section, that basis cannot be described as being in accordance with GAAP.

The section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2005.

In September 2005, an exposure draft was approved for release that would extend the
effective date for this section to April 1, 2006 for local governments only.

Measurement Uncertainty, PS2130

In February 2005, PSAB issued a new section establishing standards relating to
measurement uncertainty in the government financial statements.

The standards require that an entity disclose material measurement uncertainty and the
extent of the measurement uncertainty if the amount could change by a material amount
in the near term.  The amount of the item subject to measurement uncertainty should be
disclosed unless the disclosure of the amount would have a significant adverse impact on
the entity.  In which case, the reason for non-disclosure should be disclosed.

The section defines measurement uncertainty as “uncertainty in the determination of the
amount at which an item is recognized or disclosed in financial statements. Such
uncertainty exists when there is a variance between the recognized or disclosed amount and
another reasonably possible amount”.

The section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2005.
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Sale and Lease Transactions Guideline

This guideline provides guidance on accounting for sale-leaseback transactions for senior
governments to comply with the new expense based government reporting model.  The
new model differs from the previous model because it is full accrual instead of modified
accrual.

PSAB issued Public Sector Guideline #5 - Sale-Leaseback Transactions - Expense-Based.

PSAB PROJECTS

Government Transfers

The government transfers project was initiated because governments and their auditors
were interpreting the existing standard differently and some new transfer issues had
arisen since the original standard was issued.  In 2002, a Statement of Principles (SOP)
was issued.

Responses to the SOP and the subsequent Associates Exposure Draft in June 2004 were
mixed.  A second Associates Exposure Draft was deemed necessary to build a consensus on
accounting and reporting issues related to the project.  This draft was released in June
2005.

The major issues in the project include:

• resolving the debate over the appropriate accounting for multi-year
funding provided by governments;

• clarifying the nature and extent of the authorization needed to be in
place for a transfer to be recognized;

• clarifying the degree to which stipulations imposed by a transferring
government should impact the timing of recognition of the transfer by
both the transferor and recipient governments; and

• addressing the appropriate accounting for capital transfers received
under expense-based accounting.

Status:  Responses have been received from the second Associates draft.  A public
exposure draft is under development.

Financial Instruments

Derivative and other sophisticated non-traditional financial instruments are increasingly
being used by governments to manage financial exposures such as interest rate exposures.

However, the PSAB Handbook does not have presentation, disclosure and measurement
standards for sophisticated, non-traditional financial instruments.  As a result,
inconsistent recognition, measurement and disclosure practices have developed.  There is
concern that recorded and disclosed information on financial instruments is inadequate to
enable users of financial statements to understand fully the financial effects of a
government’s use of financial instruments.
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Accordingly, PSAB approved a project on financial instruments and set up a task force to
manage the project.  The main objective of the project is to develop standards that will
make reporting by governments on the use of financial instrument derivatives as
transparent and understandable as possible.  The scope of the project provides for
consideration of public sector reporting implications of the breadth of guidance offered by
the recently approved standards in the CICA Accounting Handbook for the private sector
that addresses the reporting of financial instruments and related hedge accounting
provisions.

In August 2005, PSAB approved a Draft Guideline for comment addressing the adjustments
necessary for consolidating government entities that report financial instruments based
on the new CICA standards for the private sector.

The task force is also continuing its deliberations on the reporting of derivatives by
governments.  It expects to communicate its proposals in a Statement of Principles.

Status:  A draft guideline released and a Statement of Principles is under development.

Performance Reporting

PSAB has an ongoing project to provide a set of basic principles for the development of
performance reports.  PSAB completed the first step in this project - Statement of
Recommended Practice (SORP) on Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis - in June
2004.

However, government financial statements alone are not sufficient to demonstrate the
government’s accountability and performance.  Accordingly PSAB, as a second step in the
project, is developing guidance to enhance the usefulness of the public sector’s financial
and non-financial performance information.  The project has been undertaken to help
provide some consistency in performance reporting.  While there are a number of efforts
currently underway, there exists no national, generally accepted approach to the
development of overall performance measurement and reporting in the public sector.  The
long-term goal of the project is to develop a set of overarching recommended practices
that will guide the future development of performance reporting, including a framework
for identifying specific performance indicators.

This project will result in a new SORP that will provide a general framework for public
performance reporting.  SORPs are not part of generally accepted accounting principles,
but serve to provide guidance for the development and acceptance of performance
reporting recommendations.

Status:  In March 2005, PSAB approved a draft SORP for comment by its Associates.  PSAB
is scheduled to approve an Exposure Draft at its meeting in November 2005.

Revenue

Detailed standards outlining the accounting for and reporting of government revenues are
needed to fill a strategic gap in government GAAP in Canada.  The PSAB Handbook does
not currently include a definition of revenue for governments.  A general revenue
recognition principle is included in the general standards of financial statement
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presentation for both senior and local governments.  The PSAB Handbook also has a
specific section that details the accounting and reporting requirements for restricted
assets and revenues and specific guidance for the recognition of revenue arising from
government.  However, the accounting and reporting guidance for revenues in the existing
PSAB Handbook is incomplete in that it does not specifically address many other types of
government revenues, such as income and property taxes.

In July 2005, the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board considered a
revised version of a proposed public Exposure Draft on revenue recognition.  Their review
is scheduled to be completed at its November 2005 meeting.

When finally approved by the international body, PSAB will develop a version amended for
Canadian circumstances for comment.

Status:  PSAB is waiting on international developments.

Segment Disclosures

PSAB has undertaken this project because concerns have been raised about the level of
aggregation of government summary financial statements.  With the new definition of the
reporting entity, there are a number of organizations previously not included that are
likely to be part of the reporting entity as of April 1, 2005.  Providing guidance about the
relevant disclosures is important. As more and more governments look to including these
organizations, the need for additional disclosures increases.

The objective of requiring disclosures on governmental segments is to help users of
financial statements better understand the different types of activities that government
engage in.

This project will result in a new PSAB Handbook section that prescribes disclosures for
government summary financial statements.

Status:  In June 2005, PSAB issued an Exposure Draft for public comment.

New and Future CICA Assurance (Auditing)
Standards Affecting Audits in the Public
Sector
The new Handbook sections, exposure drafts and other projects highlighted below have a
potential affect on generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) for auditing the public
sector in Manitoba.

NEW ASSURANCE (AUDITING) STANDARDS

Terms of the Engagement - Section 5110

This new Section establishes standards and provides guidance on establishing an
understanding and agreeing with the client on the terms of the engagement for the audit
of financial statements.
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The Section requires the auditor to establish an understanding of the terms of the
engagement with the entity and to document this understanding in a written agreement
with the entity.  The agreement is to include:

• the objective, scope and limitations of the engagement;

• the responsibilities of the auditor;

• the responsibilities of the entity’s management; and

• other relevant and important matters.

The new Recommendations are effective for periods beginning on or after August 1, 2005.

Management Representations - Section 5370

This new Section establishes standards and provides guidance on the use of management’s
representations as audit evidence and on obtaining written representations from
management.

The new Section emphasizes that the auditor:

• should corroborate management’s representations when obtaining
sufficient appropriate audit evidence;

• discusses the relevance of management representations to the audit
evidence and the need to obtain written representations with both
management and the audit committee when planning the engagement;

• obtains management’s written representations for all financial periods
covered by the auditor’s report;

• obtains written representations from current management even if
current management was not present for part or all of the financial
periods covered by the auditor’s report; and

• should express a qualified opinion or deny an opinion if there is a scope
limitation as a result of management’s refusal to provide written
representations requested by the auditor.

The new Recommendations are effective for periods beginning on or after August 1, 2005.

Authority of Auditing and Assurance Standards and Other Guidance -
Section 5021

This new section provides guidance on the authority of the CICA auditing and assurance
recommendations and other sources of auditing and assurance guidance that a
practitioner may refer to when performing an assurance engagement.

The new Recommendations are effective with respect to financial statements and financial
reports for periods beginning on or after September 1, 2005.
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Audit Risk – Various Sections

A number of sections of the CICA Assurance and Auditing Standards Handbook have been
updated to harmonize Canadian standards with international auditing standards.
Fundamentally, the current risk-based approach to auditing in Canada has not changed.
However, there are changes related to the auditor’s understanding of the entity and its
internal control in order to improve the auditor’s risk assessments and to better link
assessed risks of material misstatement to the auditor’s evidence gathering procedures.

The revision to the Handbook includes new and revised standards for defining the
concepts of reasonable assurance and audit risk, understanding the entity and its
environment, including internal control, assessing the risks of material misstatement, and
designing audit procedures that are responsive to assessed risks and for audit evidence.

The new standards identify specific requirements for understanding the entity, its
environment and business risks relevant to the financial statements.  The auditor must
obtain an understanding of the design and implementation of controls.  The auditor must
also obtain an understanding of the entity’s risk assessment and its monitoring of
controls.

There are clear requirements for an auditor to assess the risk of material misstatement at
the financial statement level and the assertion level.  Audit procedures must be linked to
the assertions.

Tests of control must be completed to support the assessment a control risk assessment
below maximum.  In some situations tests of controls must be completed – only
completing substantive tests is not sufficient.

The new requirements are all to be applied at the same time and are effective with respect
to financial statements and financial reports for periods beginning on or after January 1,
2006.

ASSURANCE AND AUDITING PROJECTS

Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of Public Sector Reporting
Entities

The objective of this project is to develop guidance on the auditor’s report for the
financial statements of a public sector entity that uses public sector accounting
recommendations.

In 2003, the CICA issued standards requiring that the financial statements had to be
based on GAAP except in special circumstances.  One of these circumstances was the
financial statements of federal, provincial and local governments.  They were allowed to be
presented on a disclosed basis of accounting because the PSAB Handbook does not have a
GAAP hierarchy.   PSAB now has a section on GAAP that is effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after April 1, 2005.
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An Exposure Draft was issued in May 2005.  Responses focused on two key aspects of the
proposals:

• the effective date of the changes; and
• the scope and content of the proposed Guideline.

Status:  A Handbook section is under development.

Reporting on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The objective of this project is to provide standards and guidance necessary to issue a
report on the effectiveness of an entity’s internal control over financial reporting in
conjunction with a financial statement audit.  A report on the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting includes both a report on management’s assertion on
internal controls and the auditor’s direct report on the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting.

The project is also intended to ensure that Canadian standards are harmonized with the
equivalent US standards for internal control reporting engagements, including those
required to meet the needs of both Canadian and US securities regulators.

In February 2005, the AASB approved, subject to written ballot, a new standard - An
Audit of Internal Control over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with an Audit
of Financial Statements.  This standard describes an engagement that is the same in
nature, scope and work effort as that set out in US standards.  The AASB has not yet
determined an effective date for this standard.

Status:  Final standard approved, subject to written ballot which is pending finalization of
the Canadian Securities Administrators’ Proposed Multilateral Instrument 52-111 and
Companion Policy 52-111CP.

Date of Auditor’s Report and Subsequent Events

The purpose of this project is to consider possible revisions to Section 6550, Subsequent
Events, and Section 5405, Date of the Auditor’s Report, in light of:

• recently revised International Standards;

• proposed changes to CICA Handbook – Accounting Section 3820,
Subsequent Events;

• the introduction of Canadian Securities Administrator’s National
Instrument 51-102, “Continuous Disclosure Obligations”; and

• other changes to security legislation.

Status:  Final Handbook material has been approved - effective January 1, 2006.



APPENDICES



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor  General    | 109

APPENDICES

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - AUDITOR’S REPORT Appendix A



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005110

EXCERPTS FROM “PROVINCE OF MANITOBA, ANNUAL REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005”
(Schedules associated with these financial statements have not been replicated in this
report.  To review these Schedules, refer to the annual report noted above.)

Appendix B



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

111

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005112

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

113

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005114

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

115

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005116

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

117

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005118

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

119

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005120

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

121

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005122

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

123

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005124

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

125

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005126

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

127

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005128

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

129

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005130

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

131

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005132

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

133

Appendix B
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005134

Appendix C SPECIAL PURPOSE OPERATING FUND AND SPECIAL FUNDS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - AUDITOR’S REPORT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

APPENDICES

135

Appendix C
(cont’d.)



APPENDICES

|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005136

Appendix D EXCERPTS FROM “PROVINCE OF MANITOBA, ANNUAL REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005”
(Schedules associated with these financial statements have not been replicated in this
report.  To review these Schedules, refer to the annual report noted above.)
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SUMMARY OF WHO CONDUCTS THE AUDITS
(OAG - Office of the Auditor General; PSA - Private Sector Auditors)

              Audit Conducted By
OAG PSA

Government Business Enterprises
Leaf Rapids Town Properties Ltd. X
Manitoba Hazardous Waste Management Corporation X
Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board X
Manitoba Liquor Control Commission X
Manitoba Lotteries Corporation X
Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation X
Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation X
Workers Compensation Board X

Crown Organizations
Addictions Foundation of Manitoba X
Assiniboine Community College X
Board of Administration under the Embalmers and
   Funeral Directors Act X
Brandon University X
CancerCare Manitoba X
Centre Culturel Franco-Manitobain X
Child and Family Services of Central Manitoba X
Child and Family Services of Western Manitoba X
Communities Economic Development Fund X
Cooperative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board X
Cooperative Promotion Board X
Council on Post-Secondary Education X
Crown Corporations Council X
Diagnostic Services of Manitoba Inc. X
Economic Innovation and Technology Council X
General Child and Family Services Authority X
Helen Betty Osborne Foundation X
Horse Racing Commission X
Insurance Council of Manitoba X
Legal Aid Services Society of Manitoba X
Manitoba Adolescent Treatment Centre Inc. X
Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation X
Manitoba Arts Council X
Manitoba Boxing Commission X
Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation X
Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. X
Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation X
Manitoba Development Corporation X
Manitoba Film and Sound Development Corporation X
Manitoba Floodway Authority X
Manitoba Gaming Control Commission X
Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation X

Appendix E
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             Audit Conducted By
OAG PSA

Manitoba Health Research Council X
Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan X
Manitoba Hospital Capital Financing Authority X
Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation X
Manitoba Opportunities Fund Ltd. X
Manitoba Trade and Investment Corporation X
Manitoba Water Services Board X
Public Schools Finance Board X
Red River College X
Rehabilitation Centre for Children, Inc. X
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority X
University College of the North X
University of Manitoba X
Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. X

Special Operating Agencies
Civil Legal Services X
Companies Office X
Fire Commissioner, Office of the X
Fleet Vehicles Agency X
Food Development Centre X
Industrial Technology Centre X
Land Management Services X
Mail Management Agency X
Manitoba Education, Research and Learning
    Information Networks (MERLIN) X
Manitoba Securities Commission X
Manitoba Text Book Bureau X
Materials Distribution Agency X
Organization and Staff Development X
Pineland Forest Nursery X
The Property Registry X
The Public Trustee X
Vital Statistics Agency X

Regional Health Authorities
Assiniboine Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Brandon Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Burntwood Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Churchill Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Interlake Regional Health Authority X
NOR-MAN Regional Health Authority Inc. X
North Eastman Health Authority Inc. X
Parkland Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Regional Health Authority - Central Manitoba Inc. X
South Eastman Regional/Sante Sud-Est Inc. X
Winnipeg Regional Health Authority Inc. X
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Accumulated surplus/deficit The total of all past annual surpluses and deficits
to date.

The difference between the government’s annual
revenues and expenses.

A “swap” or other financial instrument that is
entered into with a third party, and is used to
hedge interest rate, foreign currency or other risk
exposures.

Funds received by the Province from the Federal
government, such as the Equalization Transfers and
the Canada Health and Social Transfer.

Assets of government (such as cash, investments,
loans and accounts receivable) that can be
converted to cash in order to pay government’s
liabilities or finance its future operations.

Also known as capital assets, physical assets,
tangible assets, non-financial assets, physical
capital stock.  These general program capital assets
form the infrastructure necessary to provide
services to citizens.

This refers to the accounting policies that
government should follow in order to be consistent
in its accounting practices with other, similar,
organizations.  The accepted authority for GAAP for
Canadian governments is the recommendations of
the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA).

Those activities of government which are not
carried out by its profit-oriented enterprises.

Also known as commercial, self-supporting, or
modified equity enterprises.  These are self-
sufficient Crown corporations that sell goods or
services to parties outside the government
reporting entity.

The group of organizations that are consolidated in
the government’s main summary financial
statements.

Annual surplus/deficit

Derivative contract

Government Business
Enterprises

Federal transfers

Financial assets

General infrastructure assets

Generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP)

General programs

Government reporting entity
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The money value of goods and services produced
within a geographical boundary.  GDP can be
reported without adjusting for inflation (known as
market value, current, or nominal GDP) or it may
be discounted for the effects of inflation (real
GDP).

Reducing potential exposure to foreign currency,
interest rate or other risks.  Often achieved by
entering into derivative contracts with a third
party.

Defined as government’s total liabilities less its
financial assets, this is the residual liability
amount that will have to be paid by future
taxpayers.

These facilities are controlled by a Regional Health
Authority.  They include faith based hospitals as
well as personal care homes.

Borrowings of the government.  Debt generally
consists of debentures, notes payable, capital leases
and mortgages.

Also known as the cost of borrowing, or debt
servicing costs, this is the interest incurred by
government on its borrowings.

The financial statements through which
government reports its financial position and
operating results.

Gross domestic product (GDP)

Hedging

Net debt

Non-devolved Health Care
Facilities

Public debt

Public debt expense

Summary financial statements
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Executive Summary
School divisions in Manitoba receive substantial monies from the Province and citizens
(taxpayers, ratepayers and residents).  To ensure that school divisions are held
accountable for the funds they receive, citizens need to receive appropriate financial
reporting and be confident that objective and recognized accounting standards are used.
An understandable and accurate picture of a school division’s financial position and
operations enables both the Province and citizens, as well as the trustees and other
stakeholders, to obtain assurance that public monies are being utilized in an appropriate
and transparent manner.

The questions researched in this review were concluded on as follows:

• What legislation governs school division accounting and what are the
required school division accounting standards in Manitoba?

- As per Section 41(11.2) of The Public Schools Act, Manitoba school
divisions are required to follow accepted accounting principles for
school divisions.  Accepted accounting principles for school
divisions are outlined in the Financial Reporting and Accounting in
Manitoba Education Manual (FRAME Manual) as those developed by
the Department of Education, Citizenship and Youth (Department)
through the Schools’ Finance Branch (Branch).

• Are current Manitoba school division accounting policies in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)?

- There are several areas where the accounting policies of Manitoba’s
school divisions do not comply with GAAP.  These areas are
highlighted in Figure 1.

• Is compliance with GAAP as issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA) required in legislation across Canada and are CICA
accounting recommendations being applied by other Provinces?

- The accounting for school divisions in Canada is varied and appears
to be in transition with a direction of movement toward compliance
with GAAP as specified by PSAB recommendations, or alternatively
the Not-for-Profit – deferral method.

- Four Canadian Provinces have implemented, or have taken steps to
implement, new accounting policies in accordance with either the
Not-for-Profit – deferral method or Public Sector Accounting Board
(PSAB) recommendations; British Columbia and Alberta have adopted
Not-for-Profit deferral recommendations and Saskatchewan and Nova
Scotia have adopted PSAB recommendations.  Ontario, Prince Edward
Island, and Newfoundland acknowledge that accounting policies for
school divisions in their provinces need to be overhauled, but have
made no decision as to which form of GAAP to adopt.  Quebec has no
plans to change current accounting policies.  New Brunswick’s school
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districts do not prepare financial statements.  All financial reporting
is prepared by the provincial government.

• What is the Branch doing to ensure that the school divisions in Manitoba
are in compliance with Sections 41(11) through 41(14) of The Public
Schools Act?

- The updated supplementary report (June 2003) is now providing a
higher level of assurance.  The report is no longer derivative in
nature and the expectation gap has been closed as a result of the
new process implemented by the Branch.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP is fundamental to
meaningful reporting.  These principles are designed to provide for financial reporting
that is readily understandable and consistent.  They are intended to support transparency
and accountability.  We believe that citizens are not receiving the quality of financial
reporting from their school divisions to which they are entitled, and their ability to hold
divisions accountable is thereby impaired.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE DEPARTMENT
As a result of this review, the following recommendations are provided:

• That the Department of Education, Citizenship and Youth update the
FRAME Manual to ensure that school divisions account and report in
accordance with GAAP. GAAP is defined for this purpose as being either
accounting recommendations as defined by the PSAB Handbook or Not-
for-Profit – deferral method accounting recommendations as defined by
the CICA Handbook.  However, we believe that there is merit in seriously
considering the PSAB model because it is consistent with the government
reporting models for local, provincial and federal governments.  The
following accounting policies should be incorporated into the method of
GAAP chosen by the Department:

- the consolidation of all funds reported in the financial statements;

- the amortization of capital assets in a systematic manner over their
useful life;

- the recording of all school generated funds with supplementary note
disclosure (to facilitate understanding by users, supplementary
disclosure in the notes to school board financial statements should
describe the nature of schools-generated funds and any limitations
or restrictions of the use of such funds);

- the full recording of employee future benefits;

- the reporting of trusts and endowments;

- the accrual of interest on outstanding debenture debt;

- the retroactive restatement of the financial statements to reflect
changes in accounting policies;
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- the segregation of current and long-term assets liabilities;

- as a minimum, a statement of financial position, a statement of
financial activities and a statement of cash flow; and

- the incorporation of notes to the financial statements that are in
accordance with GAAP.

• If GAAP is not followed, that the audit opinion on a school division’s
audited financial statements contain a fourth paragraph, as per Section
5600 of the CICA Handbook, indicating the financial statements are not
prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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1.0  Introduction
In performing this review, we explored the following questions:

1. What legislation governs school division accounting and what are the
required school division accounting policies in Manitoba?

2. Are current Manitoba school division accounting policies in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)?

3. Is compliance with GAAP recommendations required by legislation across
Canada, and are Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA)
accounting recommendations being applied by other Provinces?

4. What is the Schools’ Finance Branch (Branch) doing to ensure that the
school divisions in Manitoba are in compliance with Sections 41(11)
through 41(14) of The Public Schools Act?

1.1 SCOPE
This review was conducted from October 2002 to December 2002.  Information on the
Supplementary Report and the impact of recent changes to the CICA Handbook to April
2004 has been reflected in this report.  Our work consisted of such examinations,
documentation review and procedures that we deemed necessary, including the
following:

• Review of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA)/Public
Sector Accounting Handbook recommendations;

• Review of the Financial Reporting and Accounting in Manitoba Education
Manual (FRAME Manual) published by the Department of Education,
Citizenship and Youth (Department);

• Review of The Public Schools Act (Act);

• Review of the accounting manuals prepared by Departments of Education
of other provinces of Canada (British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan,
Quebec and Nova Scotia);

• Review of “Financial Reporting by Canadian School Boards” 1996
publication by the CICA;

• Analysis of financial statements for various year-ends between August 31,
2000 and June 30, 2002 from selected school divisions in Canada:

- We reviewed the financial statements of nine school divisions in
eight provinces.  It should be noted that our review of school
division financial statements did not include New Brunswick as they
do not prepare financial statements on a divisional basis;

• Analysis of financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2001, for ten
Manitoba school divisions:

- Our sample included four large divisions (instructional budget over
$45M), two intermediate divisions ($10M - $45M) and four small
divisions (less than $10M); and
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• Interviews with staff of the Branch of the Department.

This report was reviewed by a representative of the CICA.  Suggestions received were
incorporated in this document.

2.0 Background

2.1 SCHOOL DIVISION FINANCIAL REPORTING
All school divisions in Manitoba are formed and dissolved by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council, or the Minister, under the Act.  The Minister of Education, Citizenship and Youth
has statutory responsibility for the Act.

Under the Act, a school division is defined as “having the responsibility of providing for
elementary and secondary public school education and includes a remote school district”.
The Minister can establish, alter or dissolve school divisions and school districts by
regulation.

Under the Act, School Divisions must submit certain information, including annual
audited financial statements, to the Minister of Education, Citizenship and Youth.  A
school division’s financial statements are a measure of the division’s accountability to its
stakeholders, and provides stakeholders with the opportunity to scrutinize the financial
performance of the school division.

As required under Section 41(8) of the Act, the annual financial statements must be
audited by an external auditor who must meet certain professional qualifications.
Although an external auditor attests to the financial statements, the statements are the
responsibility of management.  This responsibility is stated in the first paragraph of the
standard auditor’s report.  This responsibility is further emphasized in the statement of
management responsibility, which is generally included in an annual report before the
auditor’s report and the financial statements.  An example of the auditor’s report can be
found in Appendix A.

Section 41(11.2) of the Act states that an auditor’s report “shall include the auditor’s
opinion as to whether the financial statements present fairly the financial position of the
school division at the end of the preceding fiscal year and the results of its operations for
the preceding fiscal year, in accordance with accepted accounting principles for school
divisions”.

Manitoba school divisions are given direction as to the format and content of financial
statements and other financial information by the FRAME Manual.  The FRAME Manual
states, “A school division must follow the standards set out in this manual including
accounting principles, fund accounting, and object and function/program definitions”.

The FRAME Manual defines accepted accounting principles for school divisions in
Manitoba.  It provides direction and guidance for specific accounting procedures and also
for financial statement presentation.
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FRAME provides a standardized accounting and reporting system for school divisions in
Manitoba.

FRAME is generally based on Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) with two
major exceptions. Amortization and interest on debt are not reflected in school division
audited financial statements.  As well, financial statement presentation varies from GAAP
in a number of areas.  Figure 1 in this report highlights differences from GAAP.

The FRAME Manual was developed by the FRAME Committee in 1982.  The FRAME
Committee is made up of representatives from the education community and meets about
four times a year to discuss the FRAME Manual and other school accounting issues.  The
FRAME Manual was overhauled in 1992 and is currently updated annually.  Accounting
principles are evolving rapidly and accounting policies and procedures need to be
monitored and changed on an ongoing basis.  The Department, through the Branch and
the FRAME committee, has recognized the need for a change to the current School
Division accounting practices in Manitoba.

The FRAME Report is published twice annually from the FRAME system to provide
financial accountability to the public on school division revenues and expenditures.  The
first report is based on budget figures and the second reports shows financial statement
figures.  The FRAME Report consolidates data from all of the school divisions in Manitoba,
facilitating comparison between the divisions.

2.2 CURRENT PRINCIPLES AND RECENT CHANGES IN
SCHOOL DIVISION LEGISLATION

Accounting Standards are developed by The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants -
Accounting Standards Board and the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).  These
standards evolve as the need for more directive or specific information is required and
when the ever increasing complexities of financial transactions warrant new standards.
The Departments of Education of a number of Canadian provinces have recognized the
need for changes to current accounting standards for school divisions, and have
implemented, or have begun to implement, new accounting policies for their school
divisions.  There are two generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) options for
school divisions, Not-for-Profit deferral accounting recommendations, or PSAB
recommendations.  The two methods are very similar in the way transactions are
accounted for, with distinctively different reporting recommendations.  In examining
accounting policies for school divisions across Canada, one GAAP method does not
dominate.  Saskatchewan and Nova Scotia have recently implemented PSAB accounting
recommendations, British Columbia and Alberta have implemented Not-for-Profit deferral
accounting recommendations, Manitoba, Ontario, Prince Edward Island and Newfoundland
have not made a decision on changing their accounting policies and New Brunswick’s
school divisions do not prepare financial statements.  Quebec has no plans to change
from its current accounting policies.

2.3 RECENT CHANGES TO THE CICA HANDBOOK
Effective October 1, 2003, Section 5600, Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements
Prepared Using a Basis of Accounting Other than Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, applies.  This section recommends that where an audit opinion is provided on
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financial statements that are prepared using a basis of accounting other than GAAP, a
paragraph be added to the auditor’s report alerting users to this fact.  This fourth
paragraph will indicate to users that the financial statements are not, and were not
intended to be, prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and are for the information
and use of the intended users.  An example of the resulting audit report appears in
Appendix A.1.

Until school divisions have adopted accounting policies that result in full GAAP
compliance, this additional paragraph will need to appear in all school division auditors’
reports.  When full GAAP accounting has been adopted by the school divisions, a GAAP
audit opinion can be provided. An example of a GAAP opinion appears in Appendix A.2.

2.4 PROVINCIAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO SCHOOL
DIVISIONS

School divisions receive financial assistance from the Public Schools Finance Board in the
form of conditional and unconditional grants for operating assistance and capital
assistance.  Provincial support is based on a set of calculations that take into
consideration student enrolment and expenditures for the current and preceding years,
as well as a variety of other factors.  The financial assistance provided by the Province to
school divisions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002 totaled approximately $789.9
million.  This funding is detailed in Appendix B.

3.0  What Legislation Governs School
Division Accounting And What Are
The Required School Division
Accounting Standards In Manitoba?

Findings
• Section 41(11.2) of the Act in Manitoba directs that an Auditor’s Report

should indicate whether the division’s financial statements are in
accordance with accepted accounting principles for school divisions.

• The Department of Education, Citizenship and Youth, through the Branch
has the responsibility to develop accounting principles for school
divisions in Manitoba.

• The FRAME Manual prepared by the Department of Education, Citizenship
and Youth is the directive for school board accounting standards.

• The financial statement package is prepared by completing forms which
are issued by the Department

• The FRAME Manual specifies the following accounting policies:
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Reporting

- Required reporting for school divisions consists of:

- Operating Fund - Statement of Financial Position;

- Operating Fund - Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and
Accumulated Surplus;

- Capital Fund Statement of Financial Position;

- Capital Fund – Capital Financing; and

- Capital Fund – Capital Invested.

(An example of each statement can be found in Appendix C).

Revenue Recognition

- All revenue is accrued with the exception of endowments, trust funds
and school generated funds, which are not reported in the financial
statements.

Contributions Receivable

- Not specifically mentioned, however, all grants from the Province are
recorded as revenue and set up as a receivable.

Capital Assets

- Capital assets are defined as identifiable assets that are held for use
in the provision of services, for administrative purposes or for the
maintenance, repair, development or construction of other capital
assets. Capital assets are recorded in the Capital Fund.  The FRAME
Manual establishes a threshold of $20,000 for the recording of
capital assets. Amounts below this threshold are recorded in the
Operating Fund.

- There is no amortization recorded on capital assets.

School Generated Funds

- The Department has issued a policy on school funds.  Not all school
funds are recorded in the financial statements.

Trust Funds

- Trust and endowments are not included in Manitoba school division
financial statements.

Employee Future Benefits

- There is no directive for Employee Future Benefits in the Manual.

Fund Accounting

- The FRAME manual directs that a Capital Fund and an Operating Fund
must be maintained.
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Modified Accrual Accounting

- Defined by the FRAME Manual as full accrual except for the treatment
of debenture and other long-term debt.  Interest on debentures and
other Provincially financed debt is recorded as an expenditure when
paid.  All other revenue and expenditures, except for amortization
and employee future benefits, are accrued.

Changes in Accounting Policies

- Changes in accounting policies or principles are to be accounted for
retroactively with no prior year restatement.  Corrections of prior
period errors are to be reported as a prior year adjustment.

Commitments

- The FRAME Manual states that annual financial statements should not
include commitments

Presentation

- There is no segregation of the current portion of long-term
liabilities.

Conclusions
• As per Section 41(11.2) of the Act, Manitoba school divisions are required

to follow accepted accounting principles for school divisions.  Accepted
accounting principles for school divisions are outlined in the FRAME Manual
as developed by the Department of Education, Citizenship and Youth through
the Branch.

• Accepted accounting principles for School Divisions vary in a number of
cases from GAAP.

4.0 Are Current Manitoba School Division
Accounting Policies In Accordance
With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP)?

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Accounting Handbook or the
Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) Handbook defines Canadian GAAP.  School
divisions can be classified as Not-for-Profit entities and would fall under the Not-for-
Profit accounting recommendations of the CICA Accounting Handbook.  School divisions
may also report under accounting recommendations as prescribed by the PSAB
Handbook.  There are few differences in accounting between the two methods, however,
there are significant differences in reporting between the two methods.
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Findings

Reporting
• Under Not-for-Profit deferral method accounting, the following

statements are recommended:

- a statement of financial position, which should present the
following:

- net assets invested in capital assets;
- net assets subject to restrictions requiring that they be

maintained permanently as endowments;
- other restricted net assets;
- unrestricted net assets; and
- total net assets.

- a statement of operations, which should present:

- for each financial statement item, a total that includes all funds
reported; and

- total excess or deficiency of revenues and gains over expenses
and losses for the period.

- a statement of changes in net assets which presents the changes in
the following for the period:

- net assets invested in capital assets;
- net assets subject to restrictions requiring that they be

maintained as endowments;
- other restricted net assets;
- unrestricted net assets; and
- total net assets.

- a statement of cash flows which reports the total changes in cash
and cash equivalents resulting from activities of the organization
during the period.

• Under PSAB accounting the following statements are recommended:

- a statement of financial position, which at a minimum reports all
financial assets and liabilities at the end of the accounting period.
(Note: financial assets do not include inventories of supplies and
other acquired physical assets);

- a statement of financial activities that accounts for the combined
change in the balances of funds in the accounting period; and

- a statement of changes in financial position.

Revenue Recognition

Not-for-Profit

• Restricted contributions for which the related restrictions remain
unfulfilled are accumulated as deferred contributions.
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• Endowment contributions should be recognized as direct increases in net
assets in the current period.

• Restricted contributions for expenses of one or more future periods
should be deferred and recognized as revenue in the same period as the
related expenses are recognized.

• Restricted contributions for capital expenses should be deferred and
recognized over the same period the respective assets are amortized.

• Unrestricted contributions should be recognized in the current period.

PSAB

• Externally restricted inflows should be recognized as revenue in the
period in which the resources are used for the purpose or purposes
specified.

• Externally restricted inflows received before the specified use has
occurred should be reported as a liability until the resources are used for
the purpose or purposes specified.

• Revenues should be accounted for in the period in which the transactions
or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues.

Contributions Receivable

Not-for-Profit

• A contribution should be recognized as an asset when it meets the
following criteria:

- the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated; and

- ultimate collection is reasonably assured.

PSAB

• Receivables should be recognized by the recipient for those grants
authorized by the transferring government prior to the end of the
accounting period but not yet received, if eligibility requirements have
been met.

Capital Assets

Not-for-Profit

• Not-for-Profit accounting recommends that capital assets be recorded on
the statement of financial position at cost.  For contributed capital
assets, cost is considered to be fair value at the date of contribution.  In
unusual circumstances when the fair value cannot be reasonably
determined, the capital asset should be recorded at a nominal value.

• The cost, less any residual value, of a capital asset with a limited life
should be amortized over its useful life in a rational and systematic
manner appropriate to its nature and use by the organization.
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Amortization should be recognized as an expense in the organization’s
statement of operations.

PSAB

• PSAB recommends that capital assets be accounted for and reported as
assets on the statement of tangible capital assets. Tangible capital assets
should be recorded at cost.

• The amortization of the costs of the tangible capital assets should be
accounted for as expenses in the statement of operations.

School Generated Funds
• GAAP does not specifically mention school generated funds as they are

unique to school divisions, however, all transactions should be recorded
in the financial statements.  One assertion of financial statements is the
assertion of completeness – that there are no unrecorded assets, liabilities
or transactions.

• Revenues should generally be recognized when performance is achieved
and reasonable assurance regarding measurement and collectibility exists.

Trust Funds

Not-for-Profit

• Again, the Handbook does not specifically mention trusts.  An
organization should include in its financial statements, all areas of
activity.  Trust funds should be reported in a school division’s financial
statements if controlled by the school division.

• The completeness assertion also applies here – that there are no
unrecorded assets, liabilities or transactions.

PSAB

• PSAB recommends that trusts not be recorded on the financial statements,
but rather they be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Employee Future Benefits
• Both Not-for Profit and PSAB require that an entity recognize the cost of

retirement benefits and certain post-employment benefits over the
periods in which the employees render service to the entity in return for
the benefits.

Notes to the Financial Statements
• Review of financial statements for school divisions in Manitoba indicates

that there is considerable variation in the notes currently included in the
financial statements.

• The number of notes varied from one to ten depending on the school
division.
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• The Handbooks indicate the required disclosure for each financial
statement item depending on the accounting method with which they are
prepared.

Benefits of GAAP Prepared Statements

Financial statements that are prepared in accordance with GAAP will be beneficial to
School Divisions for a number of reasons:

• Comparability – statements, including notes, can be compared to other
school divisions in Manitoba.

• Full disclosure – statements will present a full accounting of a school
division’s costs.

• Fundraising – statements that present a full accounting of a school
division will assist the school division in reporting fundraising
conducted.

• Note consistency – the Handbooks provide the required disclosure for each
financial statement area.  Statements prepared under GAAP will result in
consistent notes across the Province.

• Consolidation into Public Accounts – a PSAB exposure draft on the
Government Reporting Model indicates that school divisions may be
included in the government reporting entity.  As a result, school division
results may need to be consolidated into the Public Accounts statements.
Financial statements prepared in accordance with PSAB recommendations
will facilitate this consolidation.

• Unqualified audit opinion – the CICA has issued Section 5600 on non-GAAP
auditor’s reports.  This requires that an audit report issued on financial
statements prepared using a basis of accounting other than GAAP should
“in a paragraph following the opinion paragraph, state that these financial
statements, which have not been, and were not intended to be, prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, are
intended for the information and use of (the intended users) and may not
be appropriate for any other purpose”.

Conclusion
• While FRAME was developed around GAAP, with certain exceptions, there are

several areas where the accounting policies in FRAME result in school
divisions not being fully in compliance with GAAP.  These areas are
highlighted in Figure 1.

CICA Exposure Draft - “Auditor’s
Report on Financial Statements
Prepared Using a Basis of
Accounting Other Than Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles”,
October 2002.
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FIGURE 1
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FIGURE 1 (CONT’D.)
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FIGURE 1 (CONT’D.)
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5.0 Is Compliance With GAAP
Recommendations Required By
Legislation Across Canada And Are
CICA Accounting Recommendations
Being Applied By Other Provinces?

We compared accounting rules for school divisions in Manitoba with accounting rules in
other Canadian provinces.

We then examined nine audited financial statements from eight provinces (Alberta,
Saskatchewan, Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Newfoundland and two
from British Columbia) to determine the terminology used in indicating the accounting
policies the statements were prepared in accordance with.  Also, ten audited financial
statements were reviewed from within the Province of Manitoba.

Findings
• Alberta requires the Not-for-Profit – deferral method of accounting be

used for all school divisions in the Province.  The reporting in Alberta is
fully in compliance with Not-for-Profit GAAP as recommended by the
CICA.

• British Columbia requires the Not-for-Profit - deferral method of
accounting be implemented for the June 30, 2003 school division fiscal
year.

• Saskatchewan has undertaken steps to implement PSAB accounting.
Reporting in Saskatchewan has been changed to accommodate PSAB
recommendations.  Accounting issues such as school generated funds and
employee future benefits have not been addressed in Saskatchewan
accounting policies for school divisions.

• Nova Scotia has mandated that accounting policies for school divisions be
in accordance with PSAB accounting and reporting recommendations as of
March 31, 2003.

• School divisions/board accounting policies in Ontario, Quebec, Prince
Edward Island and Newfoundland are currently not in accordance with
either Not-for-Profit or PSAB GAAP as a whole.  The policies in these
provinces vary with respect to whether or not they are GAAP compliant.
For example, Prince Edward Island amortizes capital assets, Quebec
amortizes furniture and equipment only, and New Brunswick and Ontario
do not amortize capital assets.

• In examining the most recently available financial statements from nine
school divisions across Canada (one from each province, not including
New Brunswick and two from British Columbia), there were no
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qualifications issued.  However, there were different authorities that the
financial statements were in accordance with.  The specific wording of the
audit opinions were:

- “in accordance with the accounting principles disclosed in note 1 to
the financial statements” (British Columbia, Ontario, Prince Edward
Island, Newfoundland);

- “in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles”
(Alberta);

- “in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles” (British Columbia);

- “in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for
Quebec school boards, as described in the Manuel de normalisation
de la comptabilite scolaire.” (Quebec);

- “in accordance with the accounting principles prescribed by the
Department of Education” (Saskatchewan);

- “in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted for
school boards” (Nova Scotia).

• The wording used on the auditor’s report for school divisions in Manitoba
is “in accordance with generally accepted accounting policies for school
divisions as described in note 1”.

• In discussing school division accounting with personnel from the various
provinces, there was, for the most part, acknowledgement that, current
accounting and reporting policies were not sufficient.  Ontario is
undertaking a study to determine what changes would be required to
current policies to adopt PSAB recommendations.  Quebec has no plans to
change current school accounting policies.

Conclusions
• The accounting for school divisions in Canada is varied and appears to be

in transition with a direction of movement toward compliance with GAAP as
specified for Not-for-Profit – deferral methods and PSAB recommendations.

• Four Canadian provinces have implemented or have taken steps to
implement new accounting policies in accordance with either the Not-for-
Profit – deferral method or PSAB local government recommendations (two
Not-for-Profit and two PSAB).  Three provinces acknowledge that accounting
policies for school divisions in those provinces need to be overhauled, but
have made no decision as to which recommendation to adopt.  One province
has no plans to change current accounting policies.  One province has
abolished school divisions.
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6.0 What Is The Schools’ Finance Branch
Doing To Ensure That The School
Divisions Are In Compliance With
Sections 41(11) Through 41(14) Of
The Public Schools Act?

Findings
• Sections 41(11) through 41(14) of The Public Schools Act state the

following:

- 41(11) An auditor for a school division or school district shall, not
later than October 31 in each year, make a report to the school board
on the annual financial statements that the auditor has examined as
at the end of the preceding fiscal year.

- 41(11.1) Repealed

- 41(11.2) A report made under subsection (11) shall

a) be in accordance with the standards of the CICA for an auditor’s
standard report; and

b) shall include the auditor’s opinion as to whether the financial
statements present fairly the financial position of the school
division at the end of the preceding fiscal year and the results
of its operations for the preceding fiscal year, in accordance
with accepted accounting principles for school divisions.

- 41(12) The auditor shall submit to the school board a supplementary
report on his or her examination of the annual financial statements
and the report shall contain any information required by the
regulations.

- 41(12.1) For the purpose of subsection 12, the minister may make
regulations respecting information to be contained in the auditor’s
supplementary report.

- 41(13) The auditor shall furnish one copy of each report to the
minister.

- 41(14) Not later than October 31 in each year, each school board
shall furnish to the minister, in the form and manner that the
minister requires, a duly audited financial statement showing the
revenues, expenditures and other financial information relating to its
school division or school district for the immediately preceding fiscal
year, and the financial position of the school division or school
district at the close of the immediately preceding fiscal year.
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• The Branch provides a FRAME Manual to all school divisions.  The FRAME
Manual sets out standards, including accounting principles, fund
accounting, and object and function/program definitions that must be
followed by all school divisions.  The FRAME Manual was originally
produced in 1982.  The entire manual was reissued 1992.  Through the
FRAME Committee, the Branch updates and revises the manual on an
ongoing basis.

• Under the Act, the following information is to be submitted to the
Minister, in care of The School’s Finance Branch by October 31 in each
year:

- audited financial statement;
- auditor’s report; and
- supplementary audit report.

• The Branch maintains a log of all the required submissions that have been
received from school divisions and follows-up with those school divisions
that have not submitted the required information.

• The Branch reviews the audit reports for all school divisions.  All
deviations from an unqualified opinion are followed up.  The school
divisions are contacted and the Branch ensures that changes are
implemented to ensure that the reasons for qualifications or reservations
in the Auditor’s Report are corrected.

• The Branch is responsible for the prescribed form used by the school
divisions for financial statement preparation.  The Branch electronically
sends each school division the prescribed annual financial statement
forms, in which the audited statements are to be prepared.  Included with
the financial statement forms are the Legislative Requirements for the
Completion of Financial Statements of School Divisions/Districts of
Manitoba and Sections 41(9) through 41(13) of the Act.  Also included is
a requirement for a supplementary audit report.  The Branch provides
instructions for the completion of the forms and has a dedicated staff
person which specifically deals with school division accounting.

• The Auditor’s Supplementary Report Regulation, required under Section
41(12) of the Act (see Appendix D for the complete list of requirements),
requires the auditors to give an opinion on:

- the appropriateness of internal controls regarding the school
division’s assets;

- the appropriateness and functionality of internal controls regarding
the school division’s reporting on enrolment;

- the appropriateness of controls regarding school funds;

- the appropriateness of the completed Schedule 8 (Calculation of
Allowable Expenditures);

- whether the funds of the school division have been paid and
disbursed only under authority of the Act, or authority of a
resolution, or by-law of the division; and
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- any significant matters or irregularities or discrepancies in the
administration of the school divisions affairs that the auditor feels
the school board or minister should be aware of.

• As at December 2002, there were slight variations in the wording of
supplementary reports for the school divisions in Manitoba.  However, all
reports contained the information required by the Regulation.  An
example of a supplementary report is presented in Appendix E.

• The Branch relies on the supplementary report to provide assurance on
the compliance with Section 41(12) of the Act.

• The Branch reviews all supplementary reports and notes any significant
issues.  To follow up on any issues noted in the report, the Branch sends a
standard form letter to the chairperson of the school board.  Included in
the letter are the significant issue(s) noted.  Additionally, there are two
sections that require responses from the chairperson, a plan of action to
resolve the issue(s), and the expected date of resolution.

• This report would be defined by the CICA Handbook (CICA HB AuG-13
Special reports on regulated financial institutions) to be a derivative
report, as noted in the following sections:

- Section 11 - A derivative report is a by-product of the financial
statement audit.  The auditor is required to communicate in writing
transactions or conditions encountered during a financial statement
audit that are relevant to the matters specified in legislation.

- Section 12 - The derivative reporting responsibility does not require
the auditor to provide any form of assurance on the matters
specified in the legislation.  Accordingly, no auditing procedures in
addition to those carried out in the normal course of the financial
statement audit would be carried out.

• AuG-13, section 14 notes that a derivative reporting requirement would
not change the scope of a financial statement audit, because the nature,
extent, and timing of auditing procedures performed during a financial
statement audit are not changed.

• Inconsistencies in reporting resulted because regulators and auditors
likely had different expectations and understandings of what can be
reasonably expected from a derivative report.  As noted in AuG-13,
section 22:

“When there is no comprehensive and precise interpretation of the
matters on which derivative reports are required, there will likely be
inconsistencies with respect to the types of transactions or conditions
identified and reported by different auditors.”

• Beginning with the 2003 school year, the Branch has changed the
supplementary report that is required to be submitted by all school
division auditors.  Auditors must indicate in their engagement letter that
the necessary procedures are being performed to issue the supplementary
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report.  An example of the updated supplementary report is presented in
Appendix E.1.  The updated supplementary report is drafted by the
Branch and, as a result, all reports received should contain consistent
wording.

Conclusions
• The supplemental report provided by the external auditors provided a low

level of assurance due to its derivative nature.  However, the Branch relied
solely on this report to assess compliance with Section 41(12) of the Act.
Thus there was an expectation gap between what the external auditors were
providing and what the Branch required.

• The updated (June 2003) supplementary report is now providing a higher
level of assurance.  The report is no longer derivative in nature and the
expectation gap has been closed as a result of the new process implemented
by the Branch.

• The Branch maintains an effective process for monitoring and ensuring
compliance with Sections 41(11) through 41(14) of the Act.

7.0  Recommendation for the Department
 of Education, Citizenship and Youth

• That the Department of Education, Citizenship and Youth, in consultation
with the FRAME Committee and other stakeholders, update the FRAME
Manual to ensure that school divisions move to full accounting and
reporting in accordance with GAAP.  GAAP is defined for this purpose as
being either accounting recommendations as defined by the PSAB
Handbook or Not-for-Profit – deferral method accounting
recommendations as defined by the CICA Handbook.  However, we believe
that there is merit in seriously considering the PSAB model because it is
consistent with the government reporting models for local, provincial and
federal governments.  The following accounting policies should be
incorporated into the method of GAAP chosen by the Department:

- the consolidation of all funds reported in the financial statements;

- the amortization of capital assets in a systematic manner over their
useful life;

- the recording of all school generated funds with supplementary note
disclosure (to facilitate understanding by users, supplementary
disclosure in the notes to school board financial statements should
describe the nature of schools-generated funds and any limitations
or restrictions of the use of such funds);

- the full recording of employee future benefits;

- the reporting of trusts and endowments (where required);
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- the accrual of interest on outstanding debenture debt;

- the retroactive restatement of financial statements to reflect changes
in accounting policies;

- the segregation of current and long-term assets and liabilities;

- as a minimum, a statement of financial position, a statement of
financial activities and a statement of cash flow; and

- the incorporation of notes to the financial statements that are in
accordance with GAAP.

• If GAAP is not followed, that the audit opinion on a school division’s
audited financial statements contain a fourth paragraph, as per Section
5600 of the CICA Handbook, indicating the financial statements are not
prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Departmental Response
The FRAME system of accounting and reporting for school divisions in
Manitoba provides meaningful, relevant and comparable financial
information on school division revenue and expenditures for the benefit of
school boards, the department and the public.  The department has
received many positive comments on the value of FRAME.

FRAME accounting policies were developed to be consistent with generally
accepted accounting principles with some exceptions which have been
noted in the Auditor General’s report.  As the Auditor General has noted,
school division accounting is in a state of change nationally which is
reflective of changing information needs and expectations of public sector
bodies.  The department is aware of this environment and, through the
FRAME Committee, had already taken steps to examine revisions to FRAME
that may be necessary.  For example the FRAME Committee has examined
the reporting of trust funds under the control of school divisions and a
trust fund reporting policy was implemented for the 2004/05 reporting
period.  The FRAME Committee had also established a sub-committee to
examine the continued need for a separate capital fund and related asset
amortization issues.

In June 2005, the Province of Manitoba announced a commitment to be
fully compliant with summary budgeting and reporting standards related
to the government reporting entity (GRE) requirements in the PSAB
handbook by fiscal year 2007/08.  The announcement included the
consolidation of school division financial information in the GRE.  During
the summer of 2005, the department and the FRAME sub-committee
evaluated this requirement in discussions with the government Steering
Committee for summary budgeting and reporting and developed a broad
framework that will lead to compliance with PSAB for local government by
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2007/08 for school division accounting and financial reporting.  It is
expected these changes will address concerns identified in this report.

The Auditor General’s recommendations, and in particular the
comparisons between PSAB versus not-for-profit accounting standards for
school divisions provides useful information for the department and the
FRAME sub-committee to consider while continuing its work to meet this
requirement.

The department will undertake further consultation with stakeholders to
ensure that accounting changes do not result in unintended impacts for
school divisions and taxpayers.  In particular the recommendation to
consolidate school generated funds requires a much closer examination of
related audit requirements (and potential cost) and the administrative
effort (and training requirements) to collect, compile and report the
financial data.
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Appendix AAUDITOR’S REPORTS

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Chairperson and Board of Trustees of XYZ School Division

We have audited the Operating Fund and the Capital Fund Balance Sheets of XYZ School
Division as at June 30, 20__ and the Statements of Revenue and Expenditures, Surplus
(Deficit) Account for the Operating Fund and Capital Financing and Capital Invested
Account for the Capital Fund for the Year then ended.  These financial statements are the
responsibility of the School Division’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of XYZ School Division as at June 30, 20__ and the results of its
operations and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended in
accordance with the basis of accounting required by the Schools’ Finance Branch as
disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

Further, in our opinion, the other schedules and exhibits, when considered in relation to
the aforementioned financial statements, present fairly the supplemental information
shown.

City CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Date
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Chairperson and Board of Trustees of XYZ School Division

We have audited the Operating Fund and the Capital Fund Balance Sheets of XYZ School
Division as at June 30, 20XX and the Statements of Revenue and Expenditures, Surplus
(Deficit) Account for the Operating Fund and Capital Financing and Capital Invested
Account for the Capital Fund for the Year then ended.  These financial statements have
been prepared to comply with the basis of accounting directed by the Manitoba
Department of Education.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the School
Division’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of XYZ School Division as at June 30, 20XX and the results of its
operations and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended in
accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1 to the financial statements.

These financial statements, which have not been and were not intended to be, prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, are solely for the
information and use of the Board of Trustees and the Minister of Education of Manitoba.
The financial statements are not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other
than the specified users or for any other purpose.

City                   CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Date

Appendix
A.1

AUDITOR’S REPORTS (CONT’D.)
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Chairperson and Board of Trustees of XYZ School Division

We have audited the Statement of Financial Position of XYZ School Division as at June 30,
20XX and the Statements of Financial Activities and Changes in Financial Position for the
Year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the School Division’s
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of XYZ School Division as at June 30, 20XX and the results of its
operations and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

City                   CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Date

Appendix
A.2

AUDITOR’S REPORTS (CONT’D.)
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AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT Appendix E

AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT

To the Board of Trustees of the XYZ School Division

In accordance with the provisions of Section 41(12) of The Public Schools Act we have
made a study of those internal accounting control and administrative control procedures
of the XYZ school division that we considered relevant to the requirements of the Act.
Our study was made in accordance Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and
accordingly included such tests and other procedures during the year from July 1, 20__
to June 30, 20__ as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

The administration of the Division is responsible for establishing and maintaining a
system if internal accounting control. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and
judgements by the administration are required to assess the expected benefits and
related costs of control procedures. The objectives of a system are to provide the
administration with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that transactions are executed in
accordance with administration’s authorization and recorded properly to permit the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with a described basis of accounting.

Because of inherent limitations in any system of internal accounting control, errors or
irregularities may occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of the
system to future periods is subject to the risk that procedures may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the procedures
may deteriorate.

Our study and evaluation was made for the limited purpose required by the provision of
Section 41(12) of The Public Schools Act, and as such may not disclose all material
weaknesses in the system. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the system of
internal accounting control of the Division taken as a whole.

We report that in our opinion, during the year from July 1, 20__ to June 30, 20__ taken
as a whole:

a) The appropriate internal controls exist for those School Division assets
outlined in Section 9 of the FRAME Manual.

b) An appropriate system of internal control existed and functioned
effectively for the School Division enrollment for the purpose of
calculating provincial funding, per the definitions and reporting
requirements established in section 1.1 and section 1.2 of the annual
Enrollment Reporting Requirements document issued by the Schools’
Finance Branch.

c) The appropriate controls exist for Type A and Type B school funds as
outlined in the Policy on School Funds issued by the Schools’ Finance
Branch on November 15, 1993.
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d) Schedule 8 (Calculation of Allowable Expenditures) of the audited
financial statements has been completed appropriately and in accordance
with the Department’s instructions included in the annual request for
financial statements.

e) The funds of the School Division have, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, been paid and disbursed only under authority granted by an Act of
Legislature or under authority of a resolution or by-law of the School
Division made under the authority of an Act of the Legislature.

f) There are no other significant matters, or any irregularity or discrepancy
in the administration of the affairs of the School Division, that should be
brought to the attention of the School Board or the Minister. However, we
have issued our standard internal control letter to the Board of Trustees
under separate cover.

City, Province Chartered Accountants

Date

AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTAppendix E
(cont’d.)
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Appendix F

Manitoba
P250 – The Public Schools Act

41(11) Auditor’s Report

An auditor for a school division or school district shall, not later than October 31 in each
year, make a report to the school board on the annual financial statements that the
auditor has examined as at the end of the preceding fiscal year.

41(11.2) Standards of the CICA

A report made in subsection (11) shall

a) comply with the standards of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants for an auditor’s standard report; and

b) include the auditor’s opinion as to whether the financial statements
present fairly the financial position of the school division as at the end of
the preceding fiscal year and the results of its operations for the
preceding fiscal year, in accordance with accepted accounting principles
for school divisions.

41(12) Auditor’s Supplementary Report

The auditor shall submit to the school board a supplementary report on his or her
examination of the annual financial statements and the report shall contain any
information required by the regulations.

41(14) Financial statement to minister

Not later than October 31 in each year, each school board shall furnish to the minister, in
the form and manner the minister requires, a duly audited financial statement showing
the revenues, expenditures and other financial information relating to its school division
or school district for the immediately preceding fiscal year, and the financial position of
the school division or school district at the close of the immediately preceding fiscal
year.

Saskatchewan
E0.2 The Education Act, 1995

Reports to minister 282

A board of education or the conseil scolaire shall furnish to the minister copies of budget
estimates, financial statements and other information in any form and at any times that
the minister may consider necessary.

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS
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Previous financial statements 283

1) On or before June 30 in each fiscal year, a board of education shall cause
to be prepared and presented to the board of education a statement of
the public accounts of the school division for the preceding year.

2) On or before June 30 in each fiscal year the conseil scolaire shall cause to
be prepared and table at a public meeting of the conseil scolaire a
statement of the public accounts of the conseil scolaire for the preceding
fiscal year.

3) The public accounts prepared pursuant to subsection (1) or (2) shall:

a) be open for inspection by any person during regular business hours;

b) be printed in sufficient quantity and distributed in a manner to
satisfy any requests for copies.

4) Subject to any limitations or requirements that may be prescribed in the
regulations, the public accounts prepared pursuant to subsection (1) or
(2) shall:

a) in the case of a board of education, incorporate the audited
financial statement of the school division prepared pursuant to
clause 85(1)(s);

b) in the case of a conseil scolaire, incorporate the audited financial
statement of the conseil scolaire prepared pursuant to clause
86(1)(s);

c) show clearly and fully the revenues, expenditures, assets and
liabilities of the school division or the conseil scolaire as at
December 31 of the preceding fiscal year;

d) show clearly and fully the state of the operating and capital funds,
and of any other funds provided for in this Act, of the school
division or conseil scolaire as at December 31 of the preceding fiscal
year;

e) set forth all matters that are required to explain the financial
transactions and position of the school division or the conseil
scolaire during and at the close of the preceding school year; and

f) show clearly and fully:

i) the remuneration paid to each employee of the board of
education or the conseil scolaire;

ii) expenditures pursuant to any contract; and

iii) expenditures, grants and contributions of goods and services
made pursuant to section 87 in the case of a board of
education, or pursuant to section 88 in the case of a conseil
scolaire.

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS

Appendix F
(cont’d.)
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Alberta
The School Act Chapter S-3

Financial reporting 147

1) The fiscal year of a board of a district or division is September 1 to the
following August 31.

2) The board of a district or division shall do the following:

a) on or before November 15 in each year, prepare financial statements
for the fiscal year ending on the previous August 31;

b) on or before May 31 in each year, prepare and submit to the Minister
a budget for the fiscal year beginning on the following September 1.

Auditor’s report 149
1) An auditor shall perform the auditor’s examination and prepare the

auditor’s report in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
on the financial statements prepared pursuant to this Act and submit the
report to the board.

2) The auditor shall at all times be given access to all records, documents,
books of account and vouchers of the board by board employees, and the
auditor is empowered to request and receive from the board and any
employee of the board any information and explanations that in the
auditor’s opinion may be necessary to enable the auditor to report as
required by subsection (1).

3) The Minister may prescribe procedures to be used under this section that
differ from generally accepted accounting principles.

British Columbia
School Act Part 8

Financial statements 157

1) The board must cause to be prepared each fiscal year by the secretary
treasurer or other person authorized by it, financial statements of the
school district respecting the preceding fiscal year.

2) The financial statements must be prepared on or before September 15 of
each year, and must include for each fund a balance sheet, statement of
income and expenditure and other information that the minister directs
or the regulations prescribe.

3) The financial statements may include separate statements of special
activities of the board so long as the items of account of a controlling
nature appear in the statements referred to in subsection (2).

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS

Appendix F
(cont’d.)
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4) The financial statements referred to in subsection (2) must be signed by
the chair of the board and the secretary treasurer, and must be published
for distribution to the public before December 31 together with the
auditor’s report submitted to the board under section 161(1)(d).

5) The secretary treasurer must, not later than September 30 in each year,
forward to the minister a copy of the financial statements together with
the auditor’s report.

Duties of auditor 161

1) In addition to any terms of an auditor’s appointment, the auditor

a) must make an examination that will enable the auditor to report to
the board as required under paragraph (d),

b) has a right of access at all times to every record of the board other
than a student record or a record referred to in paragraph (d) of the
definition of “student record”,

c) may require from trustees or officers or employees of the board and
from any other persons any information or explanation necessary to
complete the audit, and

d) must submit a report to the board respecting the annual financial
statements referred to in section 157 and must state in the report

i) whether his or her examination was made in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards including such tests and
other procedures as he or she considered necessary in the
circumstances, and

ii) whether in the auditor’s opinion the financial statements
present fairly the financial position of the board as of the end of
the fiscal year and the results of its operations for that year in
accordance with section 156 (1) (b) applied on a basis
consistent with that of the preceding fiscal year.

Ontario
Education Act Chapter E.2

Financial statements 252

1) Every year, the treasurer of every board shall prepare the financial
statements for the board by the date prescribed under subsection (3) and,
on receiving the auditor’s report on the financial statements, shall
promptly give the Ministry two copies of the financial statements and the
auditor’s report.

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS
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Minister’s powers 252

3) The Minister may prescribe the date in each year by which the treasurer
of a board shall prepare the financial statements of the board and forward
them to the auditor.

Duties of auditor 253

4) An auditor of a board shall perform the duties that are prescribed by the
Minister under paragraph 30 of subsection 8(1) and the duties that may
be required by the board that do not conflict with the duties prescribed
by the Minister.

Quebec
Education Act Chapter I-13.3

Auditor 284

For each fiscal year, every school board shall appoint from among the members of a
professional order of accountants governed by the Professional Code (chapter C-26) an
external auditor who shall file a report of his audit of the financial transactions of the
school board.

The Minister may specify the mandate applicable to all auditors of school boards.

Financial Statements 286

Once the financial activities have been audited, the director general shall submit the
financial statements of the school board and the external auditor’s report to the council
of commissioners at its first sitting following by at least 15 days the date of receipt of
the report.

Financial Information 288

At the request of the Minister, the school board, either directly or through the financial
institution with which it does business, shall furnish him with any information he may
require on its financial position.

Newfoundland
Schools Act, 1997 Chapter 12.2

Accounts and audits 66

1) A board shall keep an accurate record of all receipts and expenditures and
ensure that all funds received from the Crown are expended only for the
purpose for which they are provided and prepare and submit to the
minister at the end of each school year a detailed statement of its
accounts audited by a person licensed under the Public Accountancy Act
in the form and at a time that the minister may require.

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS
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Nova Scotia
Education Act

Financial statements 83

Every school board for each fiscal year shall prepare financial statements in the form
prescribed by the Minister and shall submit the statements to the Minister and to each
municipality in the school district or school region before July 1st of the ensuing fiscal
year.

Auditor 84

1) Every school board shall annually appoint a person who is a licensed
public accountant or a firm in which a member is a licensed public
accountant to be the auditor of the school board.

2) Where a school board does not appoint an auditor in accordance with
subsection (1), the Minister may appoint one on behalf of the school
board.

Audit 85

1) Within three months after the end of each fiscal year, the auditor of a
school board shall examine and report on the financial statements of the
board for the preceding fiscal year, including

a) a statement of revenue and expenditure for the operating fund and
any other fund of the board;

b) a continuity of the surplus or deficit statement for the operating
fund and any other fund of the board;

ba) those matters that are required to be published pursuant to
subsection 65(1);

c) a statement of assets and liabilities for the operating fund and any
other fund of the board as of the end of the fiscal year; and

d) such other statement or information as may be required by law or by
the school board.

2) The auditor shall perform the annual examination in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards.

3) The auditor shall attach to the financial statements a report which shall
state

a) whether the auditor has obtained all the information and
explanations the auditor has required;

b) whether the auditor’s examination was made in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards, and accordingly included

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS
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such tests and other procedures as the auditor considered necessary
in the circumstances; and

c) whether the statements present fairly the financial position of the
school board as at the end of the fiscal year and the results of its
operations for the preceding fiscal year in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, as set out by the Minister in the
financial management system approved by the regulations.

Prince Edward Island
School Act Chapter S-2.1

Annual Audited financial Statements 126(3)

Each school board shall provide the Minister with annual audited financial statements on
the date set by Minister’s directives.

SECTIONS OF PROVINCIAL ACTS RELATING TO FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR SCHOOL DIVISIONS
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Executive Summary
The objective of this audit was to confirm that the Province recognized infrastructure
tangible capital assets in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) for senior governments as recommended by the Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB), and to determine whether there are effective internal controls
supporting the proper accounting for infrastructure.

The Province of Manitoba first began recognizing tangible capital assets in the Public
Accounts in the 1999/00 fiscal year.  That year the Province recognized all tangible
capital assets except for land and infrastructure.  In 2000/01, the Province recognized
land.  In the 2004/05 fiscal year, the Province completed its recognition of tangible
capital assets with the recording of infrastructure with a net book value (cost less
accumulated amortization) of $1.2 billion.  Infrastructure tangible capital assets consist
of such assets as provincial roads and highways, provincial bridges, provincial parks, the
Red River floodway, and provincial dams.

The vast majority of infrastructure tangible capital assets was constructed by the
Department of Transportation and Government Services.  To a much lesser extent,
infrastructure was also constructed by the Departments of Conservation and Water
Stewardship and a very limited amount of infrastructure was built by the Department of
Aboriginal and Northern Affairs.

Infrastructure is recognized in the Operating Fund, in all material respects, as at April 1,
2004 and for the year ended March 31, 2005, in accordance with GAAP as recommended
by PSAB.  However, there were certain misstatements related to the application of the
Government’s accounting policy.  The material misstatements that we identified were
adjusted in the 2004/05 Summary and Special Purpose Financial Statements.

We determined that Manitoba’s infrastructure accounting policy is in accordance with
GAAP.  In addition, the key aspects of Manitoba’s accounting policy and practices were
consistent with the accounting policies and practices used in other provincial
jurisdictions.

The Province’s internal controls supporting the proper accounting for infrastructure were
operating effectively for the year ended March 31, 2005 except for the internal control
procedures related to the recognition of when new infrastructure is put in service.  We
recommended that the Province amend their procedures to record new infrastructure by
September 30 of each fiscal year in order to permit the Asset Management Module of SAP
to properly calculate the current year’s amortization expense.
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1.0 Introduction
The Province of Manitoba first began recognizing tangible capital assets in the Public
Accounts in the 1999/00 fiscal year.  That year the Province recognized all its tangible
capital assets except for land and infrastructure.  In 2000/01, the Province recognized
land.  In the 2004/05 fiscal year, the Province completed its recognition of tangible
capital assets with the recording of infrastructure with a net book value (cost less
accumulated amortization) of $1.2 billion.  Infrastructure tangible capital assets consist
of such assets as provincial roads and highways, provincial bridges, provincial parks, the
Red River floodway, and provincial dams.

The vast majority of infrastructure tangible capital assets was constructed by the
Department of Transportation and Government Services.  To a much lesser extent,
infrastructure was also constructed by the Departments of Conservation and Water
Stewardship and a very limited amount of infrastructure was built by the Department of
Aboriginal and Northern Affairs.

1.1 OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE
This examination formed part of our audit of the Public Accounts for the year ended
March 31, 2005; we conducted this audit because the recognition of infrastructure is a
material change in the accounting policies used by the Province in the preparation of the
Public Accounts.

Sections of The Auditor General Act Granting Authority to Conduct the
Audit

“Audit of government accounts
9(1) The Auditor General is the auditor of the accounts of the
government, including those relating to the Consolidated Fund, and must
make any examinations and inquiries that he or she considers necessary
to enable the Auditor General to report as required by this Act.

Audit of the Public Accounts
9(3) The Auditor General is responsible for examining and auditing
the financial statements included in the Public Accounts under The
Financial Administration Act, and any other statements the Minister of
Finance presents for audit.”

Objectives
• To determine whether infrastructure tangible capital assets

(infrastructure) are recognized in the Operating Fund, as at April 1,
2004 and for the year ended March 31, 2005, in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for senior
governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board
(PSAB).

• To determine whether there are effective internal controls supporting
the proper accounting for infrastructure.
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The sources we used for the development of our audit criteria included:

• Recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA);

• CICA Research Report “Accounting for Infrastructure in the Public
Sector”;

• Province of Manitoba’s accounting policy related to  infrastructure; and

• Annual reports of the Public Accounts of other provincial governments.

Our audit objectives and criteria were only applied to the examination of infrastructure.
General tangible capital assets were excluded from this audit.  Our examination of the
internal controls did not include an examination of the general information technology
(IT) controls.  The general IT controls of the Province were examined separately in the
audit of the Public Accounts.

Our examination included such tests and other procedures as we consider necessary in the
circumstances.

Scope

The historical infrastructure recorded at April 1, 2004 does not include any fully
amortized assets.  With the exception of land infrastructure, the Province is not
capitalizing any infrastructure costs incurred prior to April 1, 1964.  The audit of the
historical infrastructure balance at April 1, 2004 examined the 45 year period ending
March 31, 2004.  Our work was substantially conducted between January and February,
2005.

The audit of the internal controls examined the controls in place during the nine month
period ending December 31, 2004.  The construction “season” for highways ends on
October 31st of each year.  Therefore at December 31, 2004, over 80% of the department’s
infrastructure budget was already capitalized.  Our audit work was substantially
conducted between January and February, 2005 and was mainly performed at the Finance
and Administration office of Transportation and Government Services.

The audit of the final infrastructure balances at March 31, 2005 was completed in June,
2005.

Our audit effort for Objective 1 was primarily directed at the infrastructure capitalized at
April 1, 2004.  Our audit effort for Objective 2 was primarily directed at the infrastructure
capitalized since April 1, 2004.

Approach

Our audit procedures for the historical infrastructure of the three departments,
Transportation & Government Services (T&GS), Conservation and Water Stewardship,
identified with significant infrastructure, focused primarily on the verification of the
existence and valuation of the assets.  We reviewed the appropriateness of the
methodology used by the three departments to identify and to ensure the completeness of
their inventory of historical infrastructure.
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The infrastructure constructed by the Departments of Water Stewardship and Conservation
is not as significant to the Public Accounts and the net book value of infrastructure
constructed by Aboriginal and Northern Affairs prior to April 1, 2004 was less than
$1 million.  For these three departments, our audit procedures were limited to minimum
review procedures.  We reviewed the nature of their historical infrastructure and the
appropriateness of the amortization rates.  For the year ended March 31, 2005, we
performed substantive tests including analytical review procedures on the additions,
disposals, write-offs and amortization expense recorded.  However, we did not adopt a
controls reliant approach related to controls affecting the proper accounting at these
departments because of the relatively small dollar value of the 2005 fiscal year
transactions.

For T&GS, the planned evidence gathering techniques beyond the basic approach of
interview/discussion and related document examination were:

Objective 1

• Performance of substantive audit procedures for 100% of the
infrastructure population at April 1, 2004.  Our substantive tests
included recalculating the accumulated amortization and verifying the
construction costs to the annual reports of T&GS (1959/60) and the
Construction Management System (CMS) (1993/94 to 2003/04).

• Adoption of a controls reliance approach for the audit of infrastructure
for the year ended March 31, 2005.  We also performed analytical review
procedures on the additions, disposals, write downs of infrastructure
assets and amortization expense recorded during the year.  The key
controls supporting this approach were documented and tested as part
of our examination for Objective 2.

Objective 2

• Documentation and testing of the key controls at T&GS that ensure that
infrastructure costs, capitalized since April 1, 2004 are complete,
accurate, and valid.

• Documentation and testing of the key controls at T&GS that ensure
amortization expense is complete and accurate.

• Documentation and testing of the key controls at T&GS that ensure that
infrastructure is carried at the lower of net book value and the value of
future economic benefits.

• Recalculation of the amortization expense at T&GS for the period ended
December 31, 2004 for a sample of 16 infrastructure assets selected
judgmentally.
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2.0 Background

2.1 LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY
Under the Financial Administration Act (Act) the Financial Statements of the Operating
Fund [Consolidated Fund] are prepared using the Government’s accounting policies and
the Act also provides for the recognition of the amortization of tangible capital assets.

Excerpts from the Act are provided below:

“Preparation of public accounts
65(1) The Comptroller shall, in accordance with the directions of the
Minister of Finance, prepare the public accounts in respect of each fiscal
year that include

a) the financial statements of the Consolidated Fund

i) prepared in accordance with the accounting policies of the
government as set out in the financial statements, and

ii) accompanied by a report of the Auditor General concerning his or
her examination of the financial statements;

Payment out of Consolidated Fund
29 No money, other than trust money, shall be paid out of the
Consolidated Fund without the authority of this or any other Act of the
Legislature

Main estimates
30(2) The main estimates of expenditure for a fiscal year shall

(a) provide for expenditures that are incurred by the government in the
course of business during the fiscal year and that are required to be
voted on by the Legislature; and

(b) include the amount of expenditures from statutory appropriations to
be incurred in the fiscal year.

Amounts included for amortization of capital investment
30(2.1) Despite clause (2)(a), amounts may be included in the main
estimates in respect of the amortization of capital investments and may
be charged to the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the accounting
policies required to be stated in the public accounts, but shall not be paid
out of the Consolidated Fund except to repay debt.”

2.2 ORGANIZATION
The Province of Manitoba, primarily through the Departments of T&GS, Water Stewardship,
and Conservation, constructs infrastructure tangible capital assets on behalf of
Manitobans and other Canadians.
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Infrastructure tangible capital assets (infrastructure) are complex systems and structures
needed in society to provide a wide range of goods and services.

Infrastructure is distinguished from general tangible capital assets based on:

• Consumption (use) of the assets; and
• Ability to control access to the asset.

Infrastructure is consumed by the general public and its access is generally not restricted.
General tangible capital assets are consumed by the Province to provide services to the
general public.  Access to general tangible assets is usually restricted.

2.3 PROGRAM DELIVERY STRUCTURE
Capital projects including infrastructure projects are budgeted in the Estimates of
Expenditure each year.  The Estimates specify the expenditures under Part B – Capital
Investment; General Assets and Infrastructure Assets are listed separately.  The
construction of infrastructure assets is the responsibility of the Departments of T&GS,
Conservation and Water Stewardship, respectively.

TG&S uses a Construction Management System to manage its projects.  It is a subsidiary
system which tracks the different asset classes as well as aggregates the costs by project
or by region.

The Departments of Conservation and Water Stewardship use the internal orders system
within SAP to manage their projects except for  the Red River Floodway expansion project
which is being managed by the Manitoba Floodway Authority, a crown organization, on
behalf of the Province.

2.4 PROGRAM COSTS
The net book value (cost less accumulated amortization) of infrastructure recorded at
April 1, 2004 was $1,183 million.  T&GS accounted for 92% of the recorded infrastructure
with $1,086 million net book value (NBV).  Infrastructure constructed by Water
Stewardship amounted to 6% at $67 NBV and Conservation‘s share of the opening net
book value of infrastructure was 2% or $29 million.  Aboriginal and Northern Affairs also
recorded infrastructure having a net book value of $1 million at April 1, 2004.

The capital investment budgeted for the 2005 fiscal year was $86 million with $79 million
allocated to T&GS, $4 million allocated to Water Stewardship and $3 million allocated to
Conservation.  The Estimates of Expenditure also allocated $9 million (enabling
appropriation) for the Red River Floodway Expansion.
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3.0 Findings and Conclusions

OBJECTIVE 1

To determine whether infrastructure tangible capital assets
(infrastructure) are recognized in the Operating Fund, as at April 1,
2004 and for the year ended March 31, 2005, in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for senior
governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board
(PSAB).

Findings

3.1 The accounting policies used by the Province to capitalize
infrastructure are in accordance with GAAP.

• Manitoba has adopted the practice of setting minimum threshold
amounts for the capitalization of assets.  We reviewed this practice in
other provincial jurisdictions.  We found that setting minimum
thresholds for capitalization is an accepted practice in five other
provinces, British Columbia, Quebec, Alberta, Nova Scotia and
Newfoundland and Labrador.  Saskatchewan and Ontario do not use
thresholds.  New Brunswick has not recorded infrastructure in its
financial statements.

• The thresholds used by the Province of Manitoba (listed below) are
reasonable in comparison to other jurisdictions:

- land $0
- traffic/lighting facilities and equipment $10,000
- roads, bridges, dams and water structures $100,000

British Columbia also uses $100,000 as the threshold for roads, bridges,
dams and water structures.  Quebec and Nova Scotia use a $500,000
threshold for roads and bridges.

• We compared the asset classes used by Manitoba to those of other
jurisdictions and found that most provincial governments define five
major classes, road/trunk highway surface, road/trunk highway grade,
bridges, and dams/water structures.

• We also evaluated whether the estimate of the useful life of the
respective asset classes and the amortization methods used by the
Province are appropriate to the nature and use of the asset.  The
Province indicated that the rates used were in accordance with industry
standards but did not provide any documentation specifically
supporting their assertions.  We compared the Province’s amortization
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policies and rates to other jurisdictions.  We observed that several key
areas of the Province’s amortization policies were consistent with other
jurisdictions:

- All provincial governments, with the exception of Nova Scotia, use
the straight line method to amortize their infrastructure assets;

- Four provincial governments, British Columbia, Quebec,
Newfoundland and Labrador and Manitoba, amortize their bridges as
a single asset over 40 years;

- All provincial governments, with the exceptions of Alberta and
Newfoundland and Labrador, amortize their roads and highways on
a component basis rather than as a single asset;

- Four provincial governments, British Columbia, Saskatchewan,
Ontario and Manitoba, amortize their road beds over 40 years;

- With the exception of Alberta and Newfoundland and Labrador, the
provinces amortize their road surfaces faster than Manitoba; and

- All provincial governments, including Manitoba, amortize their
dams and water structures over 40 years or longer.

3.2 Infrastructure properly included only direct construction or
development costs, indirect costs, overhead costs and
capitalized interest directly attributable to the construction
or development activity; however, the Government’s
calculations required adjustment as at April 1, 2004 for
overstatement of $6.1 million.

• The Department of Finance made a presentation to senior financial
officers of all the departments on the nature of infrastructure and the
eligible costs.  Each department was then responsible for identifying its
infrastructure at April 1, 2004.  Only four departments, T&GS,
Conservation, Water Stewardship, and Aboriginal and Northern Affairs
reported that they had infrastructure at April 1, 2004.

• In order to develop a methodology to determine the historical cost of
infrastructure constructed before April 1, 2004, T&GS analyzed the costs
incurred during the fiscal years from 1994 to 2002.  T&GS used the
information from their Construction Management System (CMS) to arrive

The net difference between the $26.4 million understatement for survey and
design cost, and the $32.5 million overstatement due to the use of incorrect
CMS data, is $6.1 million NBV (cost - $37.9 million, accumulated
amortization - $31.8 million) overstatement of the total $1.1 billion NBV of
T&GS’s infrastructure at April 1, 2004 (Appendix A).
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at an average percentage for their maintenance (Part A) and
construction (Part B) programs for that period.  Using CMS information,
they were able to further determine an average expenditure rate for
each of the major transportation infrastructure classes.  The total
construction and maintenance costs for the fiscal years 1960 to 1993
were derived from the departmental annual reports.  The Part B rates for
each infrastructure class were multiplied by the total construction costs
to arrive at the historical cost of the various infrastructure asset classes.

Incorrect CMS Data Used
• Based on that methodology, T&GS were not able to use minimum

capitalization thresholds as set out in the Government’s accounting
policy. However, we found that the cost of most T&GS projects exceeded
the minimum thresholds and therefore the cost of the infrastructure
recorded would not be significantly overstated.

• In applying that methodology, T&GS incorrectly combined Part A with
Part B costs to arrive at the percentages of costs incurred for each of
their major infrastructure classes. Part A costs should have been
excluded.  We recalculated the percentages for each infrastructure class
using the appropriate CMS data and then recalculated the infrastructure
balances for fiscal years 1960 to 1993.  The effect of this error resulted
in an overstatement of $32.5 million in the net book value (NBV) of
T&GS’s infrastructure (cost - $82.2 million, accumulated amortization-
$49.7 million).

• For fiscal years 1994 to 2004, the actual CMS data was used to determine
the amounts capitalized for each major transportation infrastructure
class.  T&GS properly calculated the infrastructure balances for fiscal
years 1994 to 2004.

Survey and Design Costs
• T&GS did not capitalize any survey and design costs as part of their

historical infrastructure at April 1, 2004.  The data in the CMS did not
make a distinction between survey and design cost which should be
capitalized and the portion which should be expensed.  Survey and
design costs are often incurred for capital projects which would not
proceed for several years or could be eventually cancelled.  Survey and
design costs must be incurred within two years of the start of project to
be treated as part of the cost of infrastructure according to the
Province’s accounting policy.  A historical analysis of survey and design
cost was considered difficult by T&GS because of the number of work
orders involved and the difficulty in determining if the survey and
design cost related to a capital project which was started within two
fiscal years of the costs being incurred.

• Based on the results for the year ended March 31, 2005, 54.4% of survey
and design costs were incurred for infrastructure projects which will
commence within two fiscal years.  Using a capitalization rate of 54.4%,
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T&GS estimated that the NBV of survey and design costs at April 1, 2004
was $26.4 million (cost - $44.3 million, accumulated amortization-$17.9
million).  We estimated, based on our sensitivity analysis, that a 1%
change in the capitalization rate used for the survey and design costs
only has a $0.5 million effect on the NBV of the infrastructure.

• Conservation and Water Stewardship also used their annual reports to
identify and cost their historical infrastructure as at April 1, 2004.  A
lack of information in their annual reports for the period from 1960 to
1980 impaired their ability to properly recognize the cost of all the
infrastructure assets constructed during that period.  They recorded the
larger and highly visible infrastructure assets constructed during that
period such as the Red River Floodway, the Shellmouth Dam and the
Portage Diversion.

• At April 1, 2004, the cost of the existing Red River Floodway, net of the
federal government contributions, was $32.8 million and the
accumulated amortization was $19.3 million.  The assets under
construction for the floodway expansion at April 1, 2004, net of the
federal government contributions, amounted to $2.1 million.  The total
net book value was therefore $15.6 million.  This information was
reported in the audited financial statement of the Manitoba Floodway
Authority for the year ended March 31, 2004.

• The Departments of Conservation and Water Stewardship used a
threshold of $500,000 for the capitalization of their historical
infrastructure assets.  This cut-off was done to reduce the amount of
work required to identify and cost their historical infrastructure assets.
The thresholds used by the Departments of Conservation and Water
Stewardship are significantly higher than the amounts prescribed by the
Province’s accounting policies for infrastructure.  The Province’s
threshold for the recognition of land improvements, dams and water
structures is set at $100,000.

• We selected judgmentally a small sample of infrastructure assets
recorded by Conservation and Water Stewardship; we vouched the
records of the historical cost of the infrastructure to the departmental
annual reports or other supporting documentation.  We found that all
the amounts recorded were valid infrastructure assets and there was
adequate support for their historical cost.

• We reviewed the Estimates of Expenditures for the Departments of
Conservation, Water Stewardship, and Aboriginal and Northern Affairs
(or former departments) for the period from 1964 to 1980 and found no
evidence of significant spending on projects than those already
identified such as the Red River Floodway and the Portage Diversion.

• In the case of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs’ Estimates, we also found
reference to a federal -provincial government cost sharing agreement for
infrastructure constructed in northern Manitoba.  We found that this
infrastructure was constructed on behalf of northern Community
Councils (local governments) and is held in trust by the Province for the



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 269

INFRASTRUCTURE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS AUDIT REPORT

Community Councils.  This infrastructure, with an estimated cost
(replacement cost) of $ 53 million (the $53 million figure also includes
certain buildings), was not reflected in the Public Accounts as a trust
liability.

• We found that because no fully amortized assets are recognized as
April 1, 2004 and because of the misapplication of the Government’s
accounting policy regarding recording one half of annual amortization
expense in the year of acquisition/construction, which resulted in the
overstatement of accumulated amortization at April 1, 2004 noted
below, assets in the amount of $47 million were not properly reflected
in the cost of infrastructure reported as at April 1, 2004.  These assets
were treated as fully amortized at April 1, 2004 and therefore not
reported.

• We found that all the capitalized costs met the definition of
infrastructure according to the Government’s accounting policy and
infrastructure at April 1, 2004 properly includes direct construction or
development costs, and overhead costs directly attributable to the
construction or development activity.  We also found that infrastructure
was properly classified in accordance with the asset classes established
in the Government’s accounting policy.

• The infrastructure costs recorded by T&GS properly did not include any
indirect overhead such as salaries and wages from the Finance and
Administration branch of the department or the Minister’s salary.

• It is the Province’s accounting policy to capitalize interest where the
projected cost of a project is expected to exceed $20 million before the
asset is ready for productive use.  There was no past or current project
at T&GS that exceeded or was expected to exceed the $20 million
threshold.

We also found that the only project at Water Stewardship where it is
likely that interest will be capitalized is the Red River Floodway
expansion.  Major construction and borrowings to finance the
construction are expected to start in the summer of 2005.

Cost of Infrastructure properly recorded for the year ended
March 31, 2005
• Starting April 1, 2004, T&GS capitalized survey and design costs for

capital projects that will commence within two years.  Survey and
design costs were capitalized as assets under construction (AUC).
Survey and design costs in the operating budget (Part A) were recovered
from the capital assets - infrastructure budget (Part B).

• Based on our analytical review procedures, we found that the cost of
infrastructure was properly recorded during the year ended March 31,
2005.
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3.3 Infrastructure, with a limited life, is properly amortized over
its useful life in a rational and systematic manner appropriate
to its nature and use by the Province; however, the
Province’s calculations required adjustment.

Accumulated amortization recorded at April 1, 2004 required
adjustment for an increase of $17 million
• We recalculated the accumulated amortization of 100% of T&GS’

infrastructure assets recorded at April 1, 2004.  For each asset class, we
vouched the total accumulated amortization calculated to the balances
recorded in general ledger accounts in SAP.  We also selected a sample of
24 infrastructure assets and vouched the accumulated amortization at
April 1, 2004 to the posted amounts in the Fixed Asset Management
System module (SAP).

• We found that the accounting for the calculation of accumulated
amortization as April 1, 2004 did not reflect the half year rule in the
year of acquisition.  The Province’s accounting policy is to take one-half
of the annual amortization in the year of acquisition.  As a
consequence, accumulated amortization as at April 1, 2004 was
estimated to be understated by $13 million ($15 million for assets
recorded by T&GS offset by $2 million for assets recorded by
Conservation, Aboriginal and Northern Affairs and Water Stewardship).

• The errors we found regarding the cost of T&GS infrastructure also
affected the calculation of accumulated amortization at April 1, 2004.
The accumulated amortization overstatement (net of the effects for
understatement for survey and design cost, and the overstatement due
to the use of incorrect CMS data) was estimated at $31.8 million.

• For several historical infrastructure assets recorded by Conservation and
Water Stewardship, we observed that the capitalization date used was
often several years after the costs had been incurred.  Conservation’s
and Finance’s position is that these assets were under construction and
thus amortization should commence only after the project was
completed.  However, we found that the nature and circumstances of the
infrastructure assets involved indicated that the extended asset under
construction period was likely not warranted.  Examples include:

- The Whiteshell Provincial Park land improvements was a project
that began in 1982, however amortization did not begin until the
year ended March 31, 1988.

- One hundred percent of the capitalized cost for the Shellmouth Dam
was incurred in 1969; however amortization of the asset did not
begin until the 1973 fiscal year.

- The Valley Town Dikes, which were betterments to the existing dikes
of several communities, have capitalized costs from 1983 to 2002.
The recorded date for the capitalization of the Valley Town Dikes
was March 31, 1991.
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• Information at Conservation and Water Stewardship as to the date when
an asset was put in service was difficult to obtain and was often not
available.  Based on the results of our testing, we estimated the
extrapolated error to be a $4 million understatement of accumulated
amortization related to the infrastructure recorded by Conservation and
Water Stewardship at April 1, 2004.

Amortization expense recorded for the year ended March 31, 2005
required adjustment for increase of $2 million
• We found that T&GS not recorded amortization expense on new

infrastructure. (Conservation and Water Stewardship did not complete
any new infrastructure in 2004/05). T&GS’s construction period ends in
October; however, the department did not record any amortization
expense on these assets for the year ended March 31, 2005.  This
understatement of amortization expense is estimated at $1 million.

• In addition, the impact of the overstatement of the accumulated
amortization of infrastructure recognized as at April 1, 2004 is that the
amortization expense for the 2005 fiscal year is understated.  We
estimate the understatement at $1 million.

3.4 The financial statement presentation and disclosure of
infrastructure are in accordance with GAAP.

• We reviewed the recommendations of the PSAB and of the CICA Research
Report “Accounting for Infrastructure in the Public Sector” regarding
financial statement presentation and disclosure (Appendix B).

• PSAB’s standards related to infrastructure include a recommendation for
the disclosure of deferred maintenance.  Our value for money  report on
Planning for Highway Construction, Rehabilitation and Maintenance
(Highways)  issued in 1998 stated, “Deferred maintenance, a.k.a.
infrastructure deficit, is the difference between expenditures required to
maintain the normal operating capacity of infrastructure and any lesser
amount of maintenance and replacement actually incurred”.

• Based on the findings of the 1998 Highways report and the level of
spending on maintenance and replacement since then, we found that it
is likely that there is a significant deferred maintenance balance.

• We also noted that the Research Report included three recommendations
which are not included in PSAB’s standards.  They are as follows:

- Disclosure of the current depreciated [amortized] reproduction
costs;

- Information about a government’s infrastructure management plan
should be provided; and

- Information about infrastructure condition should be provided.
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• The Research Report defined current depreciated [amortized]
reproduction cost as an inflation adjusted valuation using the cost to
reproduce the asset reduced by accumulated depreciation (amortization)
to reflect the remaining useful life of the asset. Reproduction cost is
different from replacement cost in that replacement cost usually
includes the impact of technological improvements affecting service
potential and/or cost as supposed to reproduction cost which is defined
as the cost to reproduce the asset in substantially the identical form.

• The Research Report also indicated that the infrastructure management
plan (IMP), which includes information about infrastructure condition,
should be made available for each major network of assets.  An IMP is
fundamental for providing information as to the effects of government
decisions are having on the stock of infrastructure.  An IMP would
include:

- the government’s strategy that sets out the overall objective
related to infrastructure;

- an extensive description or inventory [of infrastructure];

- life cycle needs and costs of the infrastructure network;

- preventative strategies;

- description of condition assessment models; and

- overall condition of the infrastructure network.

• We compared all of these recommendations to the Province‘s revised
financial statement presentation and disclosure and found that
information regarding deferred maintenance, current depreciated
[amortized] reproduction cost and the infrastructure management plan
was excluded.

• The Government participated in a shared cost program with the Federal
Government to construct infrastructure and other tangible capital assets
for northern Community Councils.  The Province holds title to these
assets in trust for the northern communities until the Community
Councils become municipalities.  These trust assets were not disclosed in
the Public Accounts.

Conclusions
• Infrastructure is recognized in the Operating Fund, in all material

respects, as at April 1, 2004 and for the year ended March 31, 2005, in
accordance with GAAP as recommended by the PSAB.  However, there
were certain misstatements related to the application of the
Government’s accounting policy which were adjusted when brought to
the Province’s attention.

• The combination of the following errors in the application of the
Province’s accounting policies results in a $24 million understatement of
the net book value of infrastructure as at April 1, 2004.
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- T&GSs’ estimate of the cost of their infrastructure at April 1, 2004
was overstated by $38 million based on the $1.8 billion cost of
assets capitalized.  T&GS’s estimate of the accumulated
amortization of their infrastructure at April 1, 2004 was overstated
by $32 million based on $792 million of accumulated amortization
recorded.  As a result of these errors, the net book value of
infrastructure as at April 1, 2004 was overstated by $6 million.

- Conservation and Water Stewardship understated accumulated
amortization (overstated net book value) by an estimated $4
million because of the use of inappropriate dates (year) marking
when the infrastructure constructed before April 1, 2004 was first
put in service.

- All four departments further understated both the cost of
infrastructure by $47 million and accumulated amortization of
infrastructure at April 1, 2004 by an additional $13 million (T&GS -
$15 million, offset by the $2 million overstatement by
Conservation, Water Stewardship and Aboriginal and Northern
Affairs).  This overstatement occurred because the calculation of
accumulated amortization as April 1, 2004 did not reflect the half
year rule in the year of acquisition.  The Province’s accounting
policy is to take one-half of the annual amortization in the year of
acquisition.  This error results in the understatement of the net
book value of infrastructure by $34 million.

- Furthermore, amortization expense for the year ended March 31,
2005 was also understated and the net book value was overstated
because no amortization was taken in the 2005 fiscal year on new
infrastructure.  This incorrect application of the Province’s
accounting policy understated the 2005 fiscal year amortization
expense and overstated net book value by $2 million.

• Manitoba’s infrastructure accounting policy is in accordance with GAAP.
Key aspects of Manitoba’s accounting policy and practices are consistent
with the accounting policies and practices used in other provincial
jurisdictions and that the Government’s accounting policy was
appropriate regarding:

- the cost components of infrastructure assets capitalized;
- the major asset classes prescribed; and
- the estimate of the useful life of the various asset classes and

amortization methods used in relation to the nature and use of the
key infrastructure.

Furthermore, in accordance with the Government’s accounting policy,
capitalized assets also met the definition of infrastructure and were
properly classified according to the prescribed asset classes.
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OBJECTIVE 2

To determine whether there are effective internal controls
supporting the proper accounting for infrastructure.

Findings

3.5 Internal controls and procedures are sufficient to ensure that
infrastructure costs recorded are complete, accurate, and valid.

• We documented and tested the key processing controls at T&GS that
ensure infrastructure costs are complete, accurate (valuation) and valid
(exists) (Appendix C).  We found that the internal controls and
procedures are sufficient to ensure infrastructure costs are complete,
accurate, and valid.

3.6 Internal controls and procedures to ensure that amortization
expense is complete and accurate, need improvement.

• We documented and tested the key controls at T&GS that ensure
amortization expense is complete and accurate (measurement)
(Appendix C).  Key controls include management and monitoring
controls as well as processing controls.  We found that internal controls
and procedures are sufficient to ensure that amortization expense is
complete and accurate for existing infrastructure.

• We found, however, that the internal controls regarding the recognition
of the date(s) new infrastructure assets were put in service did not
address the need to record new infrastructure by September 30 of the
fiscal year.  Their procedures need to ensure that all new assets put in
service in the current year are recorded in the Asset Management
Module by September 30.  T&GS’s procedures failed to ensure that roads
and highways completed in the 2005 fiscal year (the costs were incurred
and the work completed prior to October 31, 2004) were reflected as in
service effective September 30 in accordance with the Province’s
accounting policy to record one-half of the annual amortization in the
year of acquisition.

The use of an inappropriate date recognizing when the assets were put
in service resulted in the understatement of amortization expense for
the 2005 fiscal year by an estimated $1 million.
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3.7 Internal controls and procedures are sufficient to ensure that
infrastructure is carried at the lower of net book value and the
value of future economic benefits.

• We discussed the controls over write-downs/write-offs with management
at T&GS.  We found that the circumstances which would require the
write off of an infrastructure asset are considered to be rare.  A write off
would happen only if a road was taken out of service or transferred to a
local government (for nil proceeds).  In either case, this event would
only likely happen with infrastructure assets that were fully amortized
and would also require ministerial approval.  If a write off was required,
the net book value of the infrastructure asset would be estimated.  The
cost and accumulated depreciation for the asset class by year would be
adjusted in the Asset Management System module of SAP.  We found
that there were no write-downs/ write offs during the 2005 fiscal year.

Conclusions
• The Province’s internal controls supporting the proper accounting for

infrastructure were operating effectively for the year ended March 31,
2005 except for the internal control procedures related to the
recognition of when new infrastructure is put in service.

• The internal controls related to the determination of amortization
expense on new infrastructure were not effective. Amortization expense
for the 2004/05 fiscal year was complete and accurate on existing
infrastructure but was not properly calculated on new infrastructure
because the dates used to reflect when the assets were put in service
were incorrect. This failing resulted in no amortization expense being
recorded on new infrastructure for the 2005 fiscal year. Transportation
and Government will need to amend their procedures to properly record
amortization expense on new infrastructure assets.

• For the year ended March 31, 2005, T&GS’s internal controls and
procedures were operating effectively to ensure that:

- infrastructure costs recorded are complete, accurate, and valid; and

- infrastructure is properly carried at the lower of net book value and
the value of future economic benefits.
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4.0 Recommendations
The following recommendations were implemented in the 2004/05 Summary and Special
Purpose Financial Statements.  Therefore no response from officials was needed.

• That the Operating Fund as at April 1, 2004, the cost of infrastructure
estimated at $47 million which was treated as fully amortized and
therefore not properly reported in the opening balances be adjusted to
the opening April 1, 2004 balance.

• That the calculation of accumulated amortization of infrastructure as at
April 1, 2004 incorporate the Province’s accounting policy to take one-
half of the annual amortization in the year of acquisition and that the
$13 million overstatement of accumulated amortization be adjusted
accordingly.

• That the calculation of amortization expense of infrastructure for the
year ended March 31, 2005 be adjusted to reflect the Government’s
accounting policy to take one-half of the annual amortization in the
year of acquisition and that the accumulated amortization is also
adjusted accordingly.  This cumulative adjustment is estimated at $2
million.

• That the disclosure of accounting policies for tangible capital assets be
improved.  The significant accounting policy note should be expanded
to disclose what costs are capitalized and the basis of valuation of the
assets.

• That the presentation of the tangible capital asset schedule be
improved.  Smaller (dollar value) asset classes should be combined
together to accommodate expanded disclosure of the large
transportation infrastructure classes.

The following recommendations have been put forward for the 2005/06 fiscal year:

• That note disclosure on deferred maintenance be added to the financial
statements.

• That information on the infrastructure management plan (IMP) is
included in the financial statements or in text of the annual report of
the Public Accounts.

• That the infrastructure constructed on behalf of the northern
Community Councils, estimated $53 million, be disclosed as a trust asset
and liability in the Public Accounts for the year ended March 31, 2006.

• That T&GS as well as Conservation and Water Stewardship amend their
procedures to record new infrastructure by September 30 of each fiscal
year in order to permit the Asset Management Module of SAP to properly
calculate the current year’s amortization expense.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 277

INFRASTRUCTURE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS AUDIT REPORT

Response from Officials
The Government acknowledges that while deferred maintenance has been
addressed in a Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA)
Research Report and that the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) has
encouraged the measurement of deferred maintenance, there is no
requirement under GAAP to record or note disclose these amounts in the
Public Accounts.  As noted in the PSAB Handbook, section PS3150.43,
“Governments may want to consider providing this information ... as
supplementary disclosure in the notes or schedules to the financial
statements.”  The recommendation will therefore be reviewed considering
the needs of financial statement users and best practices in other
jurisdictions.

This recommendation will be reviewed and any decision to implement or
not will be made after considering the needs of financial statement users
and best practices in other jurisdictions.

We will review the treatment of infrastructure constructed on behalf of
northern Community Councils and, if appropriate, will reflect the amounts
as trust assets and liabilities.

For the March 31, 2005 fiscal year, the application of the accounting
policy was amended under the recommendation of the Auditor General
and all new infrastructure assets were subject to six months amortization
regardless of when it was put into service.  As a result, this issue has been
effectively addressed.
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INFRASTRUCTURE RECORDED BY TRANSPORTATION AND
GOVERNMENT SERVICES AT APRIL 1, 2004

Comparative Findings

Appendix A
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PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Section PS 3150

Paragraph 41:

“Financial statements should also disclose the following information about tangible capital
assets:

(a) the amortization method used, including the amortization period or rate
for each major category of tangible capital asset;

(b) the net book value of tangible capital assets not being amortized because
they are under construction or development or have been removed from
service;

(c) the nature and amount of contributed tangible capital assets received in
the period and recognized in the financial statements;

(d) the nature and use of tangible capital assets recognized at nominal value;

(e) the nature of the works of art and historical treasures held by the
government; and

(f) the amount of interest capitalized in the period.”

Paragraph 42:

“If a government has an accounting policy of capitalizing interest, disclosure of the amount
of interest capitalized would assist readers of the financial statements to assess the impact
of that policy on the government’s reported results.”

Paragraph 43:

“Governments are encouraged to measure the extent to which maintenance has been
deferred on their material and complex network assets, such as highways.  Governments
may want to consider providing this information in their financial statements because it
can add to the picture given of the financial condition of a government.  Deferred
maintenance information, like information on contractual obligations and contingencies, is
useful for understanding and assessing future revenue requirements and could be presented
as supplementary disclosure in the notes or schedules to the financial statements.”

Section PS 1200.061

“The financial statements should disclose, for each major category of tangible capital assets
and in total:

(a) cost at the beginning and end of the accounting period;

(b) additions in the period;

(c) disposals in the period;

(d) the amount of any write-downs in the period;

Appendix B
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(e) the amount of amortization of the costs of tangible capital assets for the
period;

(f) accumulated amortization at the beginning and end of the period; and

(g) net carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period. [APRIL
2005]”

CICA Research Report “Accounting for Infrastructure in the Public Sector” (2002)
excerpt:

“Summary of Findings

The Study Group concluded that

• Financial information about infrastructure should be provided;

• Infrastructure should be reported as an asset;

• Infrastructure acquired in lieu of developer charges or other fees, and
other “acquired” infrastructure should be included in the stock of
infrastructure;

• The cost of using infrastructure should be reported;

• Information about the stock of infrastructure should be accounted for on
a component basis;

• Infrastructure should be depreciated over its useful life;

• At acquisition, acquired or self-constructed infrastructure should be
measured at cost;

• At acquisition, “contributions” of infrastructure should be measured at
estimated cost;

• Subsequent to acquisition, infrastructure should be measured at current
depreciated reproduction cost.  Until the issue of accounting for inflation
is addressed for all assets and liabilities, however, measurement
subsequent to acquisition would remain on a historical cost basis with
disclosures of current depreciated reproduction costs;

• Information about infrastructure condition should be provided;

• Information related to deferred maintenance should be provided as part
of the infrastructure condition information; and

• Information about a government’s infrastructure management plan
should be provided.”

Appendix B
(cont’d.)
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Executive Summary

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivative financial instruments are “financial arrangements between parties whose
payments or value is derived from the performance of some agreed-upon, underlying
benchmark.  Derivative financial instruments (derivatives) can be issued based on
currencies, commodities, government or corporate debt, home mortgages, stocks, interest
rates weather, or any combination.”  Some examples of derivatives include swaps (currency
and interest rate) and forward contracts (see Glossary of Terms - Appendix B).

Derivatives can be used to increase the return on an investment and/or to hedge against
(reduce) the risk of loss.  The Province of Manitoba (the Province) uses derivatives in
managing the Province’s debt (borrowings) and investment portfolios.

OBJECTIVE OF REVIEW
The focus of our review was to determine whether the Province has a risk management
process (derivative risks include management, market, legal, credit, and operational risk)
in place, and whether that risk management process used by the Treasury Division with
respect to derivatives (with respect to debt and investments) is consistent with industry
best practices.

Our review of the risk management process regarding the use of derivatives was a review
of only one component of the overall risk management process used by Treasury Division
and the Department of Finance.

BEST PRACTICES OUTLINED
In broad terms, industry best practices define the risk management process as involving a
number of activities and assigned responsibilities including:

• The strategic identification of objectives, along with the risks in
achieving those objectives (Management in conjunction with, and
approval by an Oversight Body);

• The development and action on a strategy to address the identified risks
(Management);

• The development of policies and procedures for the conduct of its
activities (Management);

• The establishment of benchmarks against which to measure its
performance (Management in conjunction with, and approval by an
Oversight Body);

• Monitoring of performance and compliance with policies and procedures
(Management); and

• Oversight of management’s activities (Oversight Body).
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BACKGROUND
The Treasury Division of the Department of Finance manages the use of derivatives.  In
July, 2003, the Division began a reorganization process to realign their operational
structure in accordance with industry best practices.  The reorganization created a front
office, middle office and back office.  Generally speaking, the offices are assigned
responsibilities as follows:

• Front office is responsible for market analysis, and recommending and
executing trading activity related to debt and investments including
master agreements with derivative counterparties.

• Back office is responsible for the settlement and confirmation of the
trades as well as the accounting and financial reporting functions.

• Middle office is responsible for policy development, monitoring and
reporting compliance with policies and procedures, and risk and
performance measurement and reporting.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS
The Province has a risk management process for derivatives in place, but as indicated in
the general conclusions below, and in the details contained in this report, there are areas
that need to be addressed to ensure that this process is operating consistent with
industry best practices with respect to management, market, legal, credit, and operational
risks.

• The Department of Finance and its Treasury Division have not formally
documented their overall strategic objectives, a strategy on how to
achieve those objectives, the strategy on how to identify the risks
(risk identification), and the risk of achieving the strategic
objectives (risk management strategy).  Nevertheless, the Division
has a working definition of its objectives, risk identification and risk
management strategy.  The Department and the Division use derivative
financial instruments as one mechanism to implement that strategy.

• The Treasury Division’s objectives, risk identification and
assessment, and risk management strategy have not been
approved.  While there is a Derivative Policy statement, it also has
never been approved.  We believe that an oversight body should be
involved in that approval process.

• Treasury Division developed a risk management policy referred to
as the Derivative Policy.  The Derivative Policy is part of the
Division’s overall Risk Management Policy which is still under
development.  We determined that the risk management process to
address key risks involving the use of derivatives which include
management, market, legal, credit, and operational risks, was generally
consistent with industry best practices.  However, we have a number of
recommendations regarding the controls and procedures addressing
operational risk as well market and credit risks.
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• We believe that what constitutes acceptable levels of risk and risk
limits need to be documented in a risk management policy
statement.  Similarly, there is a need for more documentation of the
due diligence process regarding the deliberations and decisions to use
derivatives.  Additional documentation would provide more adequate
audit trails of transactions.

• Because the Middle Office is still under development and therefore
not fully functional, the risk management process for the Treasury
Division as a whole is not fully developed.  We recommended that the
Department of Finance consider allocating more resources in order to
complete the development of the Middle Office’s functionality in the
near term.

• We believe that the oversight function should be expanded.  There is
no governance equivalent to a board of directors in place to establish
the strategic objectives and to set out a broad framework for
management to work within and provide oversight.  An oversight
committee should receive timely and sufficient information to oversee
the Treasury Division’s activities.  In the current organizational
structure, the Capital Markets Committee is the senior committee
overseeing the risk management process regarding the use of derivative
financial instruments.  No minutes are recorded at the Committee’s
meetings and therefore there is no audit trail documenting the
Committee’s deliberations and decisions.
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1.0 Introduction
Derivative financial instruments are “financial arrangements between parties whose
payments or value is derived from the performance of some agreed-upon, underlying
benchmark.  Derivative financial instruments (derivatives) can be issued based on
currencies, commodities, government or corporate debt, home mortgages, stocks, interest
rates weather, or any combination.”  Some examples of derivatives include swaps (currency
and interest rate) and forward contracts.

Derivatives can be used to increase the return on an investment and/or to hedge against
(reduce) the risk of loss.  The Province of Manitoba (the Province) uses derivatives in
managing the Province’s debt (borrowings) and investment portfolios.  We conducted this
review because of the nature and extent of the Province’s use of derivative financial
instruments and because of the risks associated with the use of derivatives.

Sections of the Auditor General Act Granting Authority to Conduct the Audit

Audit of Government Accounts
9(1) The Auditor General is the auditor of the accounts of the government,
including those relating to the Consolidated Fund, and must make any examinations
and inquiries that he or she considers necessary to enable the Auditor General to
report as required by this Act.

Audit of the Public Accounts
9(3) The Auditor General is responsible for examining and auditing the financial
statements included in the Public Accounts under The Financial Administration Act,
and any other statements the Minister of Finance presents for audit.

1.1 OBJECTIVE, SCOPE AND APPROACH

Objective

The objective of our review was:

To determine whether the Province has a risk management process (derivative risks
include management, market, legal, credit, and operational risk) in place, and
whether that risk management process used by the Treasury Division with respect to
derivatives (with respect to debt and investments) is consistent with industry best
practices.

Our review of the risk management process regarding the use of derivatives was a review of
only one component of the overall risk management process used by Treasury Division and
the Department of Finance.

Scope

We examined the risk management process regarding the use of derivatives that was in
place during the period of April 1, 2003 and December 31, 2004, and also included an
examination of all types of derivative instruments used by the Province during the period
of April 1, 2003 and December 31, 2004.
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Our work was substantially conducted between January and March, 2005.  The fieldwork
took place at the Treasury Division offices of the Department of Finance.

Our review did not include an examination of:

• The risk management process that relates specifically to other activities
of the Treasury Division such as investing or financing activities.

• The general information technology controls.  The general information
technology controls of the Province are examined as part of the audit of
the Public Accounts; and

• The human resource processes of recruitment, remuneration, training,
and evaluation of staff.  Our examination of human resources was
limited to a review of the organizational structure and an evaluation of
the segregation of duties.

Internal Audit and Consulting Services of the Department of Finance had not conducted
any audits on the use of derivatives and therefore this review did not consider any
reliance on their work.

Approach

Our work included such tests and other procedures as we consider necessary in the
circumstances.  We conducted research, reviewed documentation, and conducted
interviews as follows:

• obtained information on industry best practices on the risk
management process for the use of derivatives by engaging a
consultant;

• reviewed the work flow analysis resulting in a process flowchart;

• reviewed minutes of Capital Markets and Risk (Credit) Committees’
meetings;

• reviewed Treasury Division files and records relating to derivative
transactions (one transaction per quarter for the period under review);

• performed an internal control system walkthrough;

• tested the effectiveness of internal controls in a sample of derivative
transactions;

• tested the accuracy and completeness of information included in a
sample of  management reports; and

• interviewed various Treasury Division staff.

We developed our review criteria using the following sources:

• COSO Internal Control-Integrated Framework - Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission 1992.

- Internal Control Issues in Derivatives Usage:  An Information Tool
For Considering the COSO Internal Control-Integrated Framework in
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Derivatives Applications - Deloitte and Touche LLP.

• The IIA Handbook Series - The Institute of Internal Auditors.

- Auditing Derivative Strategies - Barbara Davison, CIA, CISA, FLMI.

We engaged a consultant to assist us in developing a review program, and in researching
and understanding what constitutes industry best practices regarding the risk
management process involving the use of derivatives.

In July 2003, Treasury Division of the Department of Finance was reorganized into a front-
middle-back office structure:  Front Office –trading; Back Office - processing of
transactions accounting, and reporting; and Middle Office - risk management.

A report issued in February 2004 by the consultant hired by the Province to review its
organizational structure made recommendations regarding the implementation of a middle
office.  Treasury Division is in the process of implementing the recommendations from that
report.  The resulting changes that affect the derivatives risk management process have
been considered in our review.  Recommendations that did not directly relate to the risk
management program concerning derivatives were not considered during our review.

2.0 Background

2.1 LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY FOR THE USE OF DERIVATIVES
The Financial Administration Act (Act) provides the authority to borrow on the credit of
the government and provides for the use of derivatives under section 10(1).  Excerpts of
the Act follow:

Authority to raise money
50(1) When this or any other Act of the Legislature confers on the government
the power to raise money on the credit of the government, the Lieutenant Governor in
Council may by Order authorize the Minister of Finance or may designate and
authorize an officer of the Department of Finance to raise money to a specified
maximum amount on the credit of the government.

Manner of raising money
50(2) An Order of the Lieutenant Governor in Council under subsection (1)
authorizes the Minister of Finance or designated officer to raise money by way of loan
in any of the following ways:

(a) by the issue and sale of provincial securities;
(b) from a bank, trust company, credit union or other financial

institution;
(c) in any other manner.

Powers re raising money
50(3) When the Minister of Finance or designated officer raises money by the
issue and sale of provincial securities, he or she may determine

(a) the principal amount of the provincial securities to be issued;
(b) the rate of interest payable and the rate of any premium or discount
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applicable on the provincial securities;
(c) the currency in which the principal amount of the provincial

securities and any interest or premium are payable;
(d) the sale price of the provincial securities;
(e) the form, denomination and dates of issue and maturity of the

provincial securities; and
(f) any other terms and conditions of the provincial securities.

Terms and conditions of securities
50(4) The terms and conditions of provincial securities may include any
provision that in the opinion of the Minister of Finance or designated officer is
necessary or advisable to facilitate the sale of the provincial securities, including,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, a provision that

(a) the interest rate payable on the provincial securities or the amount
of principal payable at maturity be calculated and paid with
reference to the value of a share or commodity or with reference to
an index or some other basis;

(b) the provincial securities may be redeemed before maturity at the
option of the government or the holder; or

(c) the holder of the provincial securities be reimbursed by the
government for withholding taxes, duties, assessments or charges
imposed by law on or with respect to a payment under the provincial
securities by the government to the holder.

Financial agreements
10(1) The Minister of Finance may enter into and execute agreements or engage
in activities of a financial nature respecting the investment of public money or the
management of the public debt including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, agreements for management of risks relating to currency, interest rates
and other matters, swap agreements, futures agreements, option agreements and
rate agreements.

2.2 TREASURY DIVISION MANDATE/MISSION
Treasury Division Mandate and Vision/Mission Statements are currently in draft form
(pending approval) as follows:

Treasury Division’s Mandate is:

• Manage the borrowing programs of the government and its agencies;

• Develop and maintain the debt management program of the government;

• Manage the cash resources and investment activities of the government
and its agencies;

• Service the debt of the government; and

• Manage the banking operations of the government.

Treasury Division’s Vision/Mission is:

• Maintaining the exceptional reputation of the Province of Manitoba in the
global marketplace is the primary goal of the Treasury Division, and,



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2005294

THE USE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IN THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

therefore, that of each of the employees within the Division.

• Employees fulfill that responsibility in their regular contact with financial
institutions, regulatory and rating agencies as well as the general public
in order to ensure the Province’s integrity and reputation is maintained.

2.3 TREASURY DIVISION PROGRAM SERVICES
Treasury Division manages and administers the cash resources, borrowing programs, and all
investment and debt management activities of the government.  It also manages the
borrowing programs and investment activities for all of its Crown corporations and
government agencies.  Treasury Division assists in the financing of municipalities, schools
and hospitals and it is the Division’s responsibility to ensure that such financing is
arranged.

The Treasury Division uses derivatives to support the achievement of Treasury Division
strategies and objectives.  Treasury Division will execute derivative transactions consistent
with the specific liability and investment objectives approved by management.

2.4 PROGRAM DELIVERY STRUCTURE
Treasury Division, under the Deputy Minister of Finance, is divided into four functional
areas:

• Administration - Responsible for the general management of the
Division and for providing advice to the Minister and Deputy Minister on
all policy and program matters of a financial nature.

• Capital Markets (designated Front Office) - Responsible for managing
and administering the cash resources, borrowing programs, and all
investment and debt management activities of the government including
managing the borrowing programs and investment activities for all of its
Crown corporations and government agencies.

• Risk Management and Banking (designated Middle Office) -
Responsible for the effective measuring, monitoring and reporting on
the Division’s market, credit, operational and liquidity risks ensuring
compliance with predetermined rules and regulations.

• Treasury Services (designated Back Office) - Responsible for servicing
& administering the public debt of the Province as well as servicing and
safekeeping the investments of the Province and certain Crown
corporations and government agencies.

In addition to the functional areas, Treasury Division has five committees with different
responsibilities:

Executive Management Committee
• Meets monthly to discuss matters relating to personnel, operations,

planning, budgeting, information technology, legislation and
administrative matters so as to maximize the use of all resources
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provided to the Treasury Division, prioritize activities and ensure
effective and efficient delivery of treasury functions.

Capital Markets Committee
• Meets weekly to review world capital markets, investment and foreign

currency markets and ensures that Treasury management and
professional staff are conversant with current events and expectations
respecting these markets.  The Committee is responsible for the tactical
execution to achieve Treasury Division’s risk management objectives.

Risk Committee (formerly Credit Committee)
• Meets quarterly to review the financial status and exposure to individual

financial institutions, establishes approved lists of financial
counterparties as well as limits for exposure to individual financial
institutions, reviews documentation standards for financial agreements,
and assesses the risks related to investment classes and transactions.
Responsible for the risk oversight function of the Treasury Division
ensuring that policies, processes, procedures and controls are properly
documented and that they are consistently communicated to staff and
understood by everyone responsible for their implementation and
monitoring.

Operations Committee
• Responsible for implementing processes and procedures to minimize

operational risk and ensure the smooth running of the day to day
operations of the Division.  Meets monthly to discuss matters relating to
operational policies and procedures, business and staff continuity
planning, and, system and reporting issues.  This Committee addresses
issues affecting the daily operations of the Treasury Division and
proposes solutions leading to an efficient and effective workplace.  It is
responsible for monitoring and coordinating all processes and
procedures relating to treasury operations.

2.5 SIGNIFICANT RECENT CHANGES TO THE PROGRAM
In July 2003, Treasury Division was reorganized into a front-middle-back office structure.
This resulted in the amalgamation of all trading activities and the development of a
segregated middle office with new roles and responsibilities to measure, monitor, and
report on the Treasury Division’s financial risks and exposures.

To assist the Treasury Division with the design and implementation of the middle office,
the Province engaged a consultant to provide a ‘middle office blueprint’ indicating
appropriate structure, practices, controls, and information flows.  The report was provided
to the Division in February 2004 and the implementation of the recommendations is
ongoing.

The number of derivative financial instrument agreements administered by the Treasury
Division has increased since 1999.  Figure 1 indicates the approximate number of debt
issues and investments which had associated derivative financial instrument agreements
outstanding in each fiscal year.
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FIGURE 1

3.0 Conclusions and Findings

THE OBJECTIVE
To determine whether the Province has a risk management process (derivative risks
include management, market, legal, credit, and operational risk) in place, and whether
that risk management process used by the Treasury Division with respect to derivatives
(with respect to debt and investments) is consistent with industry best practices.

WHAT WE CONCLUDED
The Province has a risk management process for derivatives in place, but as indicated in
the conclusions below, and in the details contained in this report, there are areas that
need to be addressed to ensure that this process is operating consistent with industry best
practices with respect to management, market, legal, credit, and operational risks.

The Treasury Division has a working definition of its objectives, risk identification and a
strategy to address the risks faced by the Division in achieving its goals, in accordance
with industry best practices.  The implementation of their strategy incorporates the use of
derivative financial instruments (derivatives).  However, Treasury Division of the
Department of Finance has not documented their objectives, risk identification and
strategy using that terminology or framework.

• The Treasury Division’s Derivative Policy identifies the key risks
associated with the use of derivatives.  This Derivative Policy is modeled
after an illustrative policy example in the publication Internal Control
Issues in Derivatives Usage:  An Information Tool For Considering the
COSO Internal Control-Integrated Framework in Derivatives Applications -
Deloitte and Touche LLP.

• The Derivative Policy clearly defines intent and activities; it also
generally specifies the types of authorized derivatives and inappropriate
uses of derivatives are identified.  However, the Division needs to
establish more clearly within the Derivative Policy the acceptable levels
of risk and specify risk limits.

• It is management’s intention that the Derivative Policy will form part of
the Division-wide Risk Management Policy which has not yet been
completed.  This Risk Management Policy will outline the Division’s
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structure, controls, roles and responsibilities, measurement and
reporting guidelines.  Accompanying the Division-wide Risk
Management Policy is the restructuring of the Division including the
implementation of a middle office function.  We noted that the
implementation of the middle office is also not complete.  That
functionality is integral to the full development of an effective Division-
wide risk management process which includes the risk management
process affecting the use of derivatives.

• Risk management procedures and controls over the use of derivatives
need improvement in certain areas.  The procedures and controls
addressing operational risk could be enhanced for the initiation of
transactions and the execution of transactions.  Risk management
procedures and controls related to market risk could be expanded as
well by developing sensitivity analysis to separately evaluate market
risk for derivatives.  Risk management controls and procedures
effectively address legal risk and generally address credit risk.

• Certain key controls were in effect during the period under review which
also included the period in which the Treasury Division began its
reorganization to a front office, middle office and back office structure.
However, monitoring controls need strengthening and exception
reporting should be standardized.

• Governance practices in the risk management process should be
enhanced.  The oversight function at an oversight level needs to be
expanded and the Risk and Capital Markets Committees could enhance
their risk management processes as well.  The Risk Committee could
consider meeting monthly instead of quarterly and Capital Markets
Committee should record minutes of the weekly meetings.  Both
Committees should maintain formal records of meeting agendas and
material submitted for review.

WHAT WE FOUND

3.1 OBJECTIVES, RISKS AND STRATEGY IDENTIFICATION -
The Division’s objectives are established, key risks are
identified and a risk management strategy is developed

• In the absence of an approved document stating the objectives of
Treasury Division, we were unable to directly link documented
objectives of the Department of Finance to documented objectives of the
Treasury Division.  However, based on our review of Treasury Division’s
operations including interviews with senior management, we determined
that their implied objectives are:

- Ensuring sufficient cash resources are available to meet the
financing needs of the government reporting entity through the
management of the borrowings program and investment activities;
and
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- Managing public debt expense within the budgeted amounts set out
in the annual Estimates of Expenditure.

Both of these implied objectives are linked to the objectives set for the
Department of Finance and the Government.

• The risks that the Treasury Division faces in achieving its objectives are
interest rate risk, exposure to foreign currency fluctuations and to some
extent, the capacity of capital markets.  The Treasury Division developed
a strategy to address these risks, which is to use both fixed and variable
interest rate debt instruments and to eliminate exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations.  The Treasury Division addressed the risk of the
capacity of capital markets by developing the strategy of maintaining its
presence in the capital market place including using both short-term and
long-term strategies.  Treasury Division implemented these strategies
partly through the use of derivative financial instruments.  As well,
there are risks associated with derivative financial instruments.

• The risks associated with using derivative financial instruments
(derivatives) include:

- Credit risk - the risk of counterparty defaults on the derivative
contracts.  This risk is addressed through identifying a minimum
credit rating acceptable for dealing with a counterparty, and by
setting counterparty credit limits to establish the maximum
exposure for a counterparty.

- Legal risk - the risk that the counterparty’s performance obligations
(legal contracts) are unenforceable.  This risk is addressed through
the use of agreements developed in accordance with the standards
set by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA).

- Market risk - the risk associated with a change in a derivative
contract value due to an adverse movement in price, index or
interest rate; the risk that changes in the market will adversely
affect the value of a derivative.  This risk is addressed by
monitoring counterparty exposures against acceptable limits.

- Management risk – the risk that management is ineffective in
overseeing the risks associated with the use of derivatives.  This risk
is addressed by the setting of objectives, strategies, policy and
procedures, and performing the oversight function-monitoring of
compliance with policy and procedures and measuring the
achievement of objectives and the effectiveness of the strategies
employed to achieve the objectives.

- Operational risk - the risk that errors occur in the processing of
transactions as a result of deficiencies in the system of internal
controls.  This risk is addressed by establishment of appropriate
policies and procedures, segregation of duties between the
initiating/authorizing of transactions, and the settlement,
processing and recording of transactions.
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3.2 OBJECTIVE LINKAGE -
The Treasury Division’s objectives are linked to the
Department of Finance’s objectives

• As a result of the restructuring of Treasury Division and the
implementation of the consultant’s recommendations, the Treasury
Division is drafting a document which will state its mandate, vision/
mission, role/objective, new organizational chart, accountabilities/
responsibilities, activities, and committees.  For the period under review,
this document had not been finalized.  According to the minutes of the
March 17, 2005 management meeting to discuss the ongoing
implementation of the consultant’s report, finalization of this document
is receiving immediate priority.

• We reviewed the Department of Finance’s 2004 annual report and noted
the overall responsibilities of the Minister and the Department included:

- Managing daily cash requirements, the public debt, the investment
of public money, and of loans and advances made, and guarantees
given, by the government.

- Insuring government assets and managing risk; and
- Fostering business and consumer confidence in the marketplace and

administering a regulatory framework that contributes to a
competitive Manitoba economy.

• We also reviewed the Treasury Division’s Derivative Policy to determine if
strategies, operating plans and policies are linked back to the broad
objectives. We found confirmation that there is a linkage as follows:

- The Division’s Derivative Policy states that, “Treasury Division will
execute derivative transactions consistent with the specific liability
and investment objectives approved by Management”.

3.3 RISK IDENTIFICATION -
Risk identification and measurement is an ongoing process

• We reviewed the Division’s Derivative Policy to evaluate the adequacy of
the Division’s identification and understanding of risks resulting from
business activities.  We found that in the Derivative Policy, business risk
is defined as “...the quantifiable or identifiable risk relating to normal
Capital Markets operations and to activities that are a by product of the
normal activities of the Province that relate to the management of
provincial debt including financing and debt servicing.  Such risk is
necessary to the management of provincial debt of the Province and
cannot be avoided without the Province incurring substantial economic
disadvantage to the province”.

• The Derivative Policy contains a section on risk identification which
states that the capital markets and risk management (formerly credit)
committees are charged with ensuring the procedures are in place to
identify and assess all risk exposures to the Province and to manage
those exposures within tolerable limits.  Business exposures that have
been identified but are not limited to:
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- Interest rate risk inherent in maintaining the debt portfolio;
- Foreign currency risk from financing activities outside Canada;
- Credit risk;
- Transactional risk;
- Legal risk;
- Liquidity risk; and
- Operational risk.

• We conducted interviews and discussions with management to determine
what process was in place to identify and document identified risks.
Based on discussions with management, during the period of our review,
we found that the Treasury Division had begun the process of
implementing the recommendations in their consultant’s report.

• Risk evaluation and measurement were identified as key roles for the
middle office in the consultant’s report. The report recommended that
the middle office develop risk evaluation frameworks and methodologies
to identify and assess the risk within Treasury Division.

• Treasury Division has formed a committee to oversee the implementation
of the recommendations in consultant’s report which meets to discuss
progress and priorities.  At the meeting on March 17, 2005, the status of
recommendations was discussed, and it was reported that information is
being collected for inclusion in a Risk Management Policy which will
outline structure, controls, roles and responsibilities, measurement and
reporting guidelines.

3.4 RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY -
Risk management strategy employed addresses
the identified risks

• Although the Treasury Division’s risk management strategy is not
documented and therefore not approved, we found that the strategy
implemented does clearly address the identified risks.  The overall
strategy used to address interest rate risk and foreign currency
fluctuation exposure is to have both fixed and variable interest rates on
debt and investments and to eliminate the exposure to foreign currency
fluctuations.  This strategy is implemented by using derivatives and by
maintaining the Province’s position in the capital markets through
refinancing a certain amount of debt annually.

• As identified in the Derivative Policy, the Treasury Division has defined
its risks to achieve its objectives as interest rate risk and foreign
currency fluctuation exposure.  To address these risks, Treasury Division
has implemented a risk management strategy whereby interest rates of
the debt portfolio of the Operating Fund should be within a defined
percentage of fixed and variable interest rates.  The current strategy also
requires the reduction of foreign currency fluctuation exposure to nil.

• Another risk that was not identified in the Derivative policy is the
capacity of capital markets.  The Division addresses this risk with short
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and long term strategies such as maintaining a presence in the capital
markets by refinancing $1.0 - 1.5 billion of debt annually.

• The strategy to manage interest rate and foreign currency risk is
implemented using derivatives. As well, in part, maintaining an active
presence in the capital markets also involves using derivatives.

3.5 RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY -
Risk Management Strategy is not documented

• For the period under review, Treasury Division did also not have an
approved statement of activity level objectives.  However, the middle
office was developing a mandate document that would provide a clear
statement of these objectives.  This document will come into effect
when it is approved by the Risk Committee.

• For the period under review, Treasury Division did not have formally
documented strategies.  However, through discussions with staff and
management, it was apparent that there was a general understanding of
strategies used.  Having no documented strategies is contrary to their
Derivative Policy which does address the need for clearly stated policies.
The Derivative Policy states that the duties and responsibilities of the
Capital Markets and Credit (Risk) Committees include:  ”...ensuring that
policies, strategies, procedures, and controls are fully documented in
writing, clearly and unambiguously, and that they are consistently
communicated to and understood by everyone responsible for their
implementation and monitoring”.

3.6 RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY -
Risks associated with using derivatives are identified
in the Derivative Policy

• We reviewed the derivative policy to determine if risks associated with
derivatives are identified.

• The Overview section states:

“Risks associated with derivatives include market, credit, liquidity, as well
as various other risks described below.  In addition to these technical
risks, there is the fundamentals risk that the use of these products may
not be consistent with Divisional objectives.

This Derivative Policy is intended to provide adequate assurance that
necessary controls are in place and the derivative use will support the
achievement of Divisional strategies and objectives.”

• The Risk Identification section of the Derivative Policy includes:

“In addition to the interest rate and foreign exchange risks associated
with financing and investing activities, the risk identification area of the
policy identifies credit risk, transactional risk, legal risk, liquidity risk,
and operational risk as key risks.  These key risks are applicable to the
use of derivative financial instruments.”
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• Expectations of Treasury Division states:

“Treasury Division is expected to understand fully the extent to which
their decisions and actions expose the Province to risk.  Any activities that
are not related to the Province’s normal business activities and have the
effect or potential of increasing risk generally will be avoided.”

• Counterparty Risk:

“The Province will enter into a derivative agreement only with
counterparties that are currently rated AA low or better or the equivalent
rating by recognized rating agencies as approved by the Credit Committee
or are Canadian Schedule A banks.

Where the counterparty is rated AA mid or higher, no term restrictions will
be placed on the counterparty.  Should the counterparty have a credit
rating of AA minus; the Province will require a one-way option to
terminate at 5 years. Canadian Schedule A banks will not be required to
agree to the one way termination clause.

With the exception of the Canadian Schedule A [Schedule I] banks the
Province generally will review any derivative transaction if the
counterparty’s credit rating is downgraded to A high.  Appropriate steps
will be taken to minimize risks if any counterparty’s credit rating is
downgraded below A high.  Such steps may include obtaining collateral or
some other acceptable form of credit enhancement, or terminating the
transactions.  The Credit Committee will be notified of all credit
downgrades.  The Credit Committee must approve the actions proposed to
be taken with respect to a transaction in which any counterparty’s credit
rating is downgraded below A high.

The Province will not enter into a new derivative transaction with a
counterparty if the new transaction will result in credit exposure exceeding
limits specified by the Credit Committee.”

• The Derivative Policy, includes under the duties of the Credit Committee:

“Ensuring that all personnel responsible for the Province’s involvement
with derivatives are suitably qualified by training and experience to fulfill
their responsibilities.”

3.7 DERIVATIVE POLICY -
Derivative Policy clearly defines intent and activities

• The first section of the Division’s Derivative Policy provides an effective
overview of the policy which clarifies the intent of the policy.  The first
section states that:

“Derivatives are financial contracts that derive their value from the
performance of underlying assets such as a stock, bond, physical
commodity, interest or currency exchange rates, or a variety of indices.

Derivatives include a wide assortment of financial contracts, including
swaps, futures, forwards, options, caps, floors and collars, whose values
are derived based on defined formulas that apply to notional amounts.
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Derivatives can also include certain assets and liabilities whose value and
cash flows are directly determined by an underlying instrument or index.

Risks associated with derivatives include market, credit, liquidity, as well
as various other risks described below.  In addition to these technical
risks, there is the fundamentals risk that the use of these products may
not be consistent with Divisional objectives.

This Derivative Policy is intended to provide adequate assurance that
necessary controls are in place and the derivative use will support the
achievement of Divisional strategies and objectives.”

• The Derivative Policy contains a section which provides definitions of
some key terms which are used in the policy.  It provides the following
definitions of terms:  Risk Management, Business Risk, Speculative Risk,
and Hedging.  Consistent with the recommendation of the COSO report,
the use of definitions will assist in avoiding possible misunderstanding
and confusion about the intent of the policy and the use of derivatives.

3.8 RISK LEVELS AND LIMITS -
Risk levels and limits need to be clearly specified
in the Derivative Policy

• We reviewed the Treasury Division’s Derivative Policy to determine if the
use of derivatives to manage risks is based on the assessment of risks,
and is expected to manage the risks effectively.

• The Risk Management Objectives section in the Derivative Policy states:

“Treasury Division will execute derivative transactions consistent with the
specific liability and investment objectives approved by Management. For
example the debt portfolio should be maintained with fixed - and variable
- rate debt established by the Capital Markets Committee, to diversify the
impact of interest rate changes on the public debt expenditure and on
cash flows relating to interest payments.  The Capital Markets Committee
may also decide to give more weight to the effect on cash flow from
potential changes in interest rates than on the changes in the market
value of the portfolio.”

• The Risk Measurement section in the Derivative Policy states:

“Market risks that can be managed should be assessed at least monthly
and in response to significant market movements and changes in
activities that expose the Province to risk.”

During the period under review, the Treasury Division was performing a
sensitivity analysis on a quarterly basis on the effect of market
movements.

• The Derivative Policy broadly identifies risk areas and assigns the
identification and assessment of risks to the Capital Markets and Credit
(Risk) Committee.  While the Derivative Policy states that derivative use
is based on specific liability and investment objectives, the Policy does
not clearly link the risks identified to derivative usage.  The
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implementation of the consultant’s recommendations involves risk
evaluation and measurement.  Since the implementation of these
recommendations was an ongoing process during our examination
period, it is expected that a more defined link between the risks and
derivative usage will form part of the risk management policy that will
be developed from that process.

• We reviewed the Province’s Derivative Policy and related policies to
determine if maximum acceptable levels of risk are specified.  We found
that while the Derivative Policy identifies risks, it does not specify limits
or maximum acceptable levels of risk.  We noted that the Treasury
Division does monitor certain risk exposures, but the tolerable limits are
determined by the Credit committee.  We also found that the Derivative
Policy was integrated with the investment policy which sets limits on
the mark to market exposure for a counterparty.

• The Risk Identification section of the policy indicates, “The Capital
Markets and Credit Committees are charged with ensuring that procedures
are in place to identify and assess all risk exposures to the Province and to
manage those exposures within tolerable limits”.  However, the policy
does not specify what tolerable limits are.

• The Derivative Policy does not specify acceptable limits for credit or
market risk.  However, we noted that the Policy states, “Treasury
Division will execute derivative transactions consistent with the specific
liability and investment objectives approved by Management.  For
example, the Capital Markets Committee may also decide to give more
weight to the effect on cash flow from potential changes in interest rates
than on the changes in the market value of the portfolio”.  This policy
establishes a link between liability and investment objectives and the
use of derivatives.  While the Derivative Policy does not itself specify
limits to address counterparty credit risk, we noted that the Treasury
Division does specify limits for short and long term investments.
Specific limits for a counterparty’s mark to market exposure have been
approved by the Credit Committee as part of the investment policy.  All
financial institutions that are approved for current derivative
transactions are be approved to a maximum of $50 million in securities
such as bonds and are subject to a $75 million limit including the mark
to market exposure of the derivatives.  This limit is not specified in the
Derivative Policy but is documented in a Credit Committee submission
which was approved in September 1997.  No rationale or supporting
documentation was found on the appropriateness of the limits.  We
discuss these limits in another section of the report.

• To address market risk, the Derivative Policy states, “Sensitivity analysis
could be used on an interim basis to expedite responses to effects of
significant day-to-day market movements.  Such analysis could assess the
impact of outstanding derivative positions on the hedged items, showing
results if interest rates and prices move up and down by 100, 200, and
300 basis points, or by such other factors as may be specified by the Credit
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Committee”.  However, the policy does not specify acceptable limits
regarding the results of the sensitivity analysis.

• To address interest rate risk inherent in the maintenance of the debt
portfolio, the Policy states that, “the debt portfolio should be
maintained with fixed - and variable - rate debt established by the Capital
Markets Committee, to diversify the impact of interest rate changes on the
public debt expenditure and on cash flows relating to interest payments”.
The Policy addresses the risk but does not specify an acceptable level.
This decision is left to the discretion of the Capital Markets Committee.
Based on discussions with senior management, we have determined that
the Division’s strategy is to maintain interest rates of the debt portfolio
within a defined percentage of fixed and variable rates.  Minutes are not
kept for Capital Markets Meetings and we did not find any
documentation supporting the appropriateness of the ratio.  Therefore,
we cannot determine whether the defined variable fixed interest rate
strategy is within the Division’s maximum acceptable level of risk.

3.9 AUTHORIZED DERIVATIVES -
Types of authorized derivative financial instruments
are generally specified

• We reviewed the Division’s Derivative Policy to determine if it defines
authorized types of derivative instruments.

• The policy states:

“The Province may use derivative instruments authorized by the Capital
Markets Committee, provided these can qualify as a hedge as defined in
this policy and such use is not prohibited elsewhere by this policy.  The
following are examples of approved derivatives for use by the Province:

- Foreign currency derivatives:
• Currency forwards.
• Currency options.
• Cross Currency swaps.
• Combination foreign currency options, in which the notional

amount and maturity date exactly match the underlying
transaction being hedged.

- Interest rate derivatives:
• Interest rate swaps, options and swaptions.
• Interest rate forwards, futures and options.
• Interest rate collars and caps.”

• We noted that the policy effectively defines the types of authorized
derivative instruments to be used.  However, there is no specific
reference in the Derivative Policy to distinctive characteristics such as
liquidity and customization to be considered.
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3.10 INAPPROPRIATE USE OF DERIVATIVES -
What constitutes inappropriate uses of derivatives is
identified in the Derivative Policy

• We reviewed the province’s Derivative Policy to determine if it has
identified activities and strategies that might be considered controversial
and provide a clear and formal interpretation of what they mean to the
entity.  We found that the Derivative Policy identifies prohibited uses of
derivatives.  The following excerpt from the policy outlines prohibitions
and restrictions on derivative use:

“General - Derivatives must be related to specific underlying liability or
investment requirements and cannot be used for activities that increase
risk to the Province, such as trading, speculation, or any other purpose in
which the objective is solely to generate profits.  Derivative activities are
considered speculative if they increase risk, if their use has no relation to
objectives specified by the policy, or if their use is not intended and
expected to reduce business risks that have been identified.

Unusual and complex transactions - Derivative instruments can become
extremely complex when combinations of components and features are
embedded in a single instrument.  Complex derivative transactions are
prohibited by this policy if they are not essential to accomplishing the
objectives specified in the risk management policy or if they cannot be
readily valued and determined to be effective in reducing risk.  These
transactions must be understood and approved by the Capital Markets
Committee.

Leverage - Derivative transactions are considered to be leveraged if they
expose the Province to loss or gains higher than expected to be generated
by the underlying transaction.

Valuation - Use of any derivative is specifically prohibited if a market
quotation cannot be obtained from more than one source or it cannot be
valued internally by the financial staff, using available internal models
that have been approved for use by the Capital Markets and Credit
Committee.”

3.11 OPERATIONAL RISK -
Risk management procedures and controls regarding
the use of derivatives need improvement.  The procedures
and controls addressing operational risk could be enhanced.

3.11.1 Initiation of Transactions - Initiation of transactions require
further documentation

• We found that according to Treasury Division policies, factors involved in
entering into a derivative agreement with a counterparty include current
exposure risk, swap spreads, sensitivity of the trade, strategy being
employed, the type of instrument being used and consistency with the
Treasury Division’s Derivative Policy.  Further, the decision to use a
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derivative instrument is made by the Director and the Assistant Director
of Capital Markets of Treasury Division based on discussions held with
the Management Team at the weekly Capital Markets Committee (CMC)
meetings.  However, we found there was not an appropriate audit trail of
the initiation of derivative deals to confirm that this policy was
followed.

• The Capital Markets Committee meets weekly to review world capital
markets, investment and foreign currency markets and ensures that
Treasury Division management and professional staff is conversant with
current events and expectations regarding these markets.  They are
responsible for the tactical execution of the Treasury Division’s risk
management strategies.

• We found that there was a lack of an appropriate audit trail for the
initiation of derivative deals arising from the CMC meetings because no
minutes are recorded at these meetings.  The only documented evidence
we could find from the CMC meetings was copies of the information that
was presented for discussion.  We examined this information for a
sample of meetings held during the audit period.  We found the
information package that was prepared contained information on:

- F/X rates and range;
- Cash flow requirements for the province;
- Balances of trust, portfolios, promissory notes;
- Synopses of market activity for past few weeks;
- The economic highlights of the previous week;
- Movement of the Canadian dollar;
- Money market interest rates;
- Bond market activity;
- Funding levels and LIBOR targets; and
- FX and Fixed Income commentary.

• Management informed us that discussions regarding the potential use of
a derivative take place during the CMC meetings.  However, any
decisions to initiate a deal are made by the Assistant Deputy Minister,
Director and Assistant Director of Capital Markets.  There are no records
of these decisions or the exercise of due diligence regarding the
decisions to use a derivative financial instrument.

• From interviews with management, we were informed that decisions
regarding the type of derivative to be used are also made by the Director
of Capital Markets and Assistant Deputy Minister.  Considerations of the
distinctive characteristics are part of the process of selecting type of
derivative instrument.

3.11.2Execution of Transactions - Authorization procedures and
controls need strengthening

• We found the Treasury Division’s documented risk management
procedures for authorizing derivative financial transactions to be
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appropriate.  However, in the course of our audit we noted that the
procedures were not always followed.

• Authority to enter into derivative financial transactions is granted under
Section 10(1) of the Financial Administration Act and delegated to
persons by the Minister of Finance.

• The Treasury Division Risk Management Procedures indicate that, “two
authorized signing officers, one of which is the trader, signs the trade”.

• We reviewed the Risk Management Sheets and Investment Trade Reports
prepared for a sample of deals in the period under audit to test whether
all the deals have been appropriately signed off in accordance with
approval authority.

• In the sample selected, all deals had been appropriately signed off in
accordance with the risk management procedures, with one exception.
The Risk Management Sheet for one of the deals selected was signed on
behalf of the trader by an employee who had not been delegated
authority.  The second signatory however did have delegated authority.

3.11.3Trader’s log book records need more detail
• We found the risk management sheets (RMS) and investment trade

reports (ITR) contain the relevant details of the deals.  However, the
‘trader’s log book’ did not provide a reliable audit trail for derivative
financial instrument agreements (derivative) transactions.

• For the sample selected, we matched the details of the deal to the RMS
or the ITR.  For every transaction selected, the deals were accurately
recorded on the RMS or ITR.

• The RMS and ITR are prepared from the details of the derivate deal
transacted by the trader.  We obtained the trader’s log book to compare
the details of each deal to the trader’s notes.  We noted that an audit
trail for the deal was not always apparent in the trader’s notes.

• We noted four instances where the details of the deal did not match the
trader’s notes.  In two instances, the swap was done when the debt was
issued; therefore a term sheet is used for details and there were no
trader notes.  In another instance, the trader wrote the wrong date in
the log and in the last instance, the trade dates did not match.

• We also noted that amendments are not recorded in the ‘Trader’s log
book’.  Minor changes to dates, rates are dealt with in the middle office.
The Senior Treasury Officer makes changes on the confirmation before
faxing the authorized confirmation back to the counterparty.

3.11.4Risk Management Sheets should be pre-numbered
• Risk Management Sheets (RMS) record the details of all debt swaps.  We

found that we could not use the RMS to test for completeness of
recorded debt swaps.  We were also unable to determine the date the
RMS was created or approved.
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• A RMS is created for each debt swap by debt issue.  The sheet details not
only the most recent swap, but also the previous swaps and forward rate
agreements done on the debt issue.  The original signed RMS is kept on
file in the front office.  Copies are kept in a binder in the back office.

• We reviewed all Risk Management Sheets for the period under
examination and noted the following:

- Risk Management Sheets (RMS) are numerically sequenced with the
exception of one number which was used twice and one number was
missing.

- None of the RMS was dated with either the creation or approval
date.

- Amended RMS was clearly identified as Amended with the
amendments in bold if applicable.

- Contrary to Treasury Division procedures, 4 RMS were not signed by
a trader and 4 RMS were signed by someone other than an
authorized signing officer.

3.11.5Hedge Transactions are properly documented
• A hedge sheet is prepared for a debt issue which has several swaps on it.

The hedge sheet calculates the net effect of all swaps.

• We found that there is appropriate documentation of swap transactions
classified as hedges.  For swaps with “hedge sheets” we vouched the
details on the “hedge sheet” to the Risk Management Sheet.  We
recalculated the hedging to ensure that there is full coverage for the
debt.  No exceptions were noted in the vouching of the details or the
recalculations.

3.11.6Timing of the Recording of Transactions need improvement
• We found that derivative transactions were recorded accurately in the

Treasury Manager System (TMAN).  However, we noted that in several
instances, the deal was entered into TMAN after the effective date.

• For the selected sample of derivative deals done during the period of
examination, we tested to ensure that the deals were recorded in the
TMAN system.  We vouched the details of the derivative deal to the
information.  We also made note of the date the entry was created, by
whom and dates of modification.  We noted that the details of all deals
tested matched the information recorded in TMAN.  We also noted that
entries were made by appropriate persons.  However, in six instances the
deal was entered into TMAN after the effective date of the trade.

• We also tested a sample of deals to determine that the date
confirmation from the counterparty is received is before date entered
into TMAN.  We found that in five instances, the deal was entered to
TMAN before the confirmation was received.
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3.11.7 Confirmations of Trades need monitoring
• We found the Treasury Division has procedures to match all terms of the

deals between the risk management sheet and the counterparty
confirmation.  We also noted that the confirmations were not received
on a timely basis.

• We selected a sample to test to ensure that all terms of the deals
between the risk management sheet and the counterparty confirmation
have been appropriately checked and initialed as reviewed.  We found
that details on the Risk Management Sheet matched the confirmation
sheets with no exceptions.

• For the sample selected, we also noted the date that the confirmations
were received from the counterparty.  We found that final confirmations
were received from the counterparty anywhere from 1 to 123 days after
the trade date, without any explanation of the delay(s), although 123
days following the trade date was not the norm.

3.11.8 Communications with Counterparties need monitoring
• We selected a sample of deals and reviewed documentation on file to

find evidence that the confirmation has been appropriately
communicated to the counterparty.  We found that confirmations of
trade were appropriately communicated back to the counterparty.   All
except one item had evidence of the confirmation being faxed back to
the counterparty.

• Confirmations were faxed back to counterparty anywhere from the same
day to 50 days later.

• For deals in the sample where there were discrepancies between the risk
management ticket and the counterparty confirmation, we noted that
the process includes verbal follow up with the trader and/or the
counterparty.  From discussions with the Treasury Division’s
management, this is usually sufficient to reach a resolution.  An
amendment is then made accordingly.  There is no more formal process
in place to deal with discrepancies.

3.11.9 Settlement of Transactions controls are operating effectively
• We found that the Treasury Division has instituted appropriate controls

surrounding the payments and settlements required in derivative
contracts.

• We selected a sample of payments and performed tests on the sample.
As a result of our tests, we found that:

- All payments tested had appropriate authorizations for both the
amount of payment, as well as for the wire transfer of funds;

- Floating rate resets for the payments tested were agreed with the
counterparties;
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- All payments tested accurately were recorded in the general ledger
(SAP) and had appropriate supporting SAP documentation; and

- For all items tested, payment and settlement amounts were traced
to the bank statement on a daily basis.  Further all amounts paid
and received per the bank were agreed to the amounts recorded in
TMAN.

• Controls surrounding payments and settlements are needed to ensure
the amount paid is authorized, accurately calculated, and recorded
correctly.  We found all such controls and procedures to be functioning
as intended.

3.12 LEGAL RISK -
Procedures and controls effectively address legal risk

• Through interviews with management and a review of Treasury Division
procedures we noted that to address legal risk, all counterparties are
required to have a signed agreement in accordance with International
Swap Dealer Association Inc. (ISDA) documentation standards.  The
Treasury Division uses the Civil Legal Services Special Operating Agency
(Civil Legal Services) to provide legal counsel in the negotiation and
finalization of ISDA agreements.  Civil Legal Services and legal counsel
for the counterparty prepare and sign separate legal opinions on the
ISDA agreement.  These opinions are exchanged with the counterparties
and retained on file.

• We selected a sample of four counterparties and their ISDA agreements.
For all samples, signed agreements conforming to ISDA documentation
standards were on file.  Three of the four files selected had legal
opinions on the agreements signed by legal counsel from Civil Legal
Services and the counterparty.  We followed up with Civil Legal Services
and determined that opinions had been prepared but were awaiting
approval from the counterparty’s legal counsel before the opinions were
signed and exchanged.

• The involvement of Civil Legal Services and the use of ISDA
documentation standards provide adequate controls and procedures to
address the legal risk associated with the use of derivatives.

3.13 MARKET RISK -
Procedures and controls addressing market risk
could be expanded

• We found that no sensitivity analysis was prepared by management to
evaluate the effect of changes in foreign currency and interest rates on
the mark to market value of derivative financial instruments.  However,
a sensitivity analysis is performed to determine the sensitivity of public
debt expense to interest rates and foreign exchange rates which
includes the effect of derivative transactions on debt.
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• Analysis is performed to determine the effect that 1% change in interest
rates would have on the public debt expense reported at year-end.  All
debt issues are included in the analysis.  The sensitivity of each debt
issue is calculated by including the effect of all derivative instruments
on that debt.  If the effect of the derivatives is such that it fixes the
rate of the debt, that debt issue is not included in the analysis of the
overall debt’s sensitivity to interest rate and foreign exchange rates.

• Not all derivatives are in the sensitivity analysis because the analysis is
actually on the sensitivity of public debt expense and not on mark to
market values of derivatives.  Therefore, only debt swaps are included in
the analysis.  No sensitivity analysis is performed for investment
derivatives, because the interest rate risk is hedged by offsetting debt
instruments.

• While Treasury Division does not report the sensitivity of derivative
mark to market values, if a counterparty approaches the credit limit,
they will look at the effect of changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates on the value of the derivatives.  The mark to market
exposure to the majority of counterparties is a negative value.  The
negative exposure (the Province owes the counterparty) lowers the risk
of counterparty default.

3.14 CREDIT RISK -
Procedures and controls generally address credit risk

3.14.1 Counterparties’ credit ratings are monitored
• We found that Treasury Division does restrict dealings to only highly

rated counterparties and the ratings are monitored on a regular basis.
We noted that the Derivative Policy addresses counterparty credit
ratings as follows:

“The Province will enter into a derivative agreement only with
counterparties that are currently rated AA low or better or the equivalent
rating by recognized rating agencies approved by the Credit Committee or
is a Canadian Schedule A bank. Where the counterparty is rated AA mid
or higher, no term restrictions will be placed on the counterparty. Should
the counterparty have a credit rating of AA minus; the Province will
require a one-way option to terminate at 5 years. Canadian Schedule A
banks will not be required to agree to the one way termination clause.

With the exception of the Canadian Schedule A banks the Province
generally will review any derivative transaction if the counterparty’s
credit rating is downgraded to A high.  Appropriate steps will be taken to
minimize risks if any counterparty’s credit rating is downgraded below A
high.  Such steps may include obtaining collateral or some other
acceptable form of credit enhancement, or terminating the transactions.
The Credit Committee will be notified of all credit downgrades.  The Credit
Committee must approve the actions proposed to be taken with respect to
a transaction in which any counterparty’s credit rating is downgraded
below A high.”
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3.14.2Established Credit limits should be reviewed periodically
• Credits limits are used to manage the credit risk associated with single

events or correlated credit events such as defaults or downgrades, by
restricting the exposure to any one counterparty or group of
counterparties.  The setting of credit limits is determined from a
Division-wide perspective using a top down approach.  For example, the
ceiling could be the maximum credit limit acceptable for the debt
(borrowings) and investment portfolios taken as a whole.  The total
credit limit could then subdivided by geographic region and then within
the geographic region by country and then by counterparty.  The sum of
the credit limits of the components should not exceed the overall
maximum acceptable credit limit.

• The credit exposure related to a derivative counterparty is generally the
current credit exposure plus a factor for the potential credit exposure
after considering the impact of a netting (amount owed net of amount
due) agreement and any collateral obtained.  Current exposure is the
replacement cost of the derivative transactions (positive mark to market
value) and potential exposure is an estimate of the future replacement
cost of the derivative using probability analysis over the remaining term
of transaction.  The probability analysis would reflect both an expected
(likely) exposure and the maximum worst case scenario.

• We noted that Treasury Division has established a credit limit for all the
financial institutions which are approved for derivative transactions.
However, the limit has not been updated since it was approved in 1997.
We noted that credit criteria were outlined for the purchase of securities
in a Credit Committee Submission on Securities Investments and were
approved by the Minister of Finance on September 15, 1997.  The
recommendations include limits for all financial institutions which are
approved for current derivative transactions.  These institutions are
approved to a maximum of $75 million for the combined security and
derivatives values.  While the combined value is $75 million, the value
of securities is limited to $50 million. From discussions with
management, there has been no update or review of the appropriateness
of these limits since that date.

3.14.3 Credit limits are monitored
• We found that the Treasury Division is monitoring the mark to market

value of derivative (a measure of the credit exposure) dealings, for each
counterparty, on a monthly basis, to ensure that no counterparty
exceeds the credit limit established.  During the period audited, the
Treasury Department began producing a Derivatives Exposure Report
each month which is provided to senior management of the Treasury
Division.  However, we noted that the Treasury Division is not
calculating the value of all the derivatives but relying on the values
provided by the counterparties.

• The Treasury Division is obtaining a mark to market valuation of its
derivative financial instruments on a monthly basis.  During the period
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audited, the Treasury Division tested and implemented an in-house
system to value derivatives called ConjecSure.  We noted that after
ConjecSure was implemented, it remains unable to calculate the mark to
market value for certain derivatives.  However, the values that are
calculated by ConjecSure are reasonable compared to the values provided
by the counterparties.  For derivatives which are unable to be valued by
ConjecSure, the Treasury Division uses the mark to market valuations
provided from the counterparty to monitor counterparty credit limits.

• We looked at the Derivative Exposure Report prepared for November 30,
2004.  We also obtained the spreadsheet where the ConjecSure values are
compared to the values provided by the counterparties.  We noted that
counterparty confirmations were received from all derivatives
counterparties except for one.  For each counterparty, we traced the
amounts reported on the Derivative Exposure Report to the client
prepared spreadsheets which compares the mark to market value per
ConjecSure and the counterparty.

• We noted that some of the values “per ConjecSure” on the spreadsheet
had been overridden with the value provided by the counterparty.  The
values overridden were for derivatives that were unable to be priced in
ConjecSure.  ConjecSure is unable to price options.  Therefore, swaptions
are not priced by ConjecSure and ConjecSure cannot calculate the value
of swaps with step up rates which is the option to increase rates.  While
there would be a cost for the implementation, Treasury Division may
include optionality in pricing at a future date.

• We tested whether the values from the ConjecSure system are reasonable
compared to the values reported by the counterparties.  For derivatives
that were valued by ConjecSure, we noted that there were some
differences to the values provided by the counterparties but the values
used were reasonable.  Differences arise due to differences in
assumptions and methods in the calculations by the counterparty.
Except for one counterparty, all the differences are within 10% of the
reported exposure.  The exposure for the counterparty greater than 10%
is insignificant as it represents .06% of the derivative exposure total
reported.

• We tested the input data into the ConjecSure system for valuing the
swaps to the underlying sources.  We found that input data used agreed
to rates provided by the Bloomberg System used by Treasury Division.
We also found that the yield curve generated by Treasury Manager
System (TMAN) agreed to curve used in ConjecSure for valuing derivative
contracts.  During the testing, we noted that the cash curve data for a 0
to 12 month timeline (CDOR or BA rates) is entered every month into
TMAN.  The amount is overridden every month but is used for the
calculation price.  As such, there is no audit trail in the TMAN for the
rates used for that month.

• We tested input control to ensure that inputs into the ConjecSure system
are appropriately validated.  During the testing and implementation
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phases of the ConjecSure system, one staff member would enter and
check all amounts input into TMAN and ConjecSure to produce the mark
to market values.  This approach was also used for the November, 2004
report which was sampled above.  We also noted that subsequent to the
audit period, the amounts have been entered by one staff member and
another checks the entries.  However, there is no record maintained of
preparer/reviewer or signoff.

• We tested whether the valuation has been carried out independently by
the middle office and signed off.  The only staff member doing the
valuations for the period under review was a staff member in the Middle
Office.

• We tested that the mark-to-market values have been appropriately
reported to senior management.  The Derivatives Exposure Report for
November, 2004 was circulated to the Directors, Assistant Directors, and
Assistant Deputy Minister.  It was also discussed extensively at the
Credit Committee meeting on December 14, 2004 as noted in the
minutes.

3.15 MANAGEMENT RISK -
Procedures and controls address certain management risk

• While we noted a lack of formal management reporting, we also noted
that the existing monitoring controls provide management the ability to
supervise and oversee the activities relating to derivatives.

• We enquired whether there have been any breaches of credits limits and,
if so, what action has been taken.  We also reviewed minutes of the Risk
(credit) Committee for documentation of action to be taken to avoid any
potential breach of credit limits.

• We found that according to the November 30, 2004 Derivative Exposure
Report, two counterparties were identified to have exceeded the
established credit limit.

• The report was circulated to all senior management and was discussed at
the Credit Committee meeting on December 16, 2004.  Corrective action
discussed at the meeting involved three options:  unwind swaps, re-
coupon the transactions (change the interest rates used for the related
transactions) and capture positive mark-to-market, or sell investments
in bonds.

• The decision was made to suspend bond purchases for those
counterparties sell the bonds held at that time.  Additionally, the Risk
(Credit) Committee indicated that they want research to determine if
they should change credit (exposure) limits.

• We followed up the action taken with the first counterparty and
confirmed that the two bonds had been sold in December, 2004.  Per a
memo to management on December 20, 2004, the valuation of one
counterparty’s derivatives had decreased below the threshold.  The sale
of the bonds combined with increase in the value of the Canadian dollar
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decreased the exposure within the specified counterparty credit limit.
The memo also stated that this counterparty should be monitored by
risk management every two weeks and further action would be necessary
if the exposure started to increase.

• We followed up on the action to be taken with the second counterparty
and determined that the Division was currently in negotiations with the
counterparty to either provide additional collateral to the Province or to
re-coupon the transactions at a lower rate and receive funds for the
difference.

3.16 MIDDLE OFFICE -
Key controls were in effect throughout the period under
review and key controls were in effect throughout the
reorganization transition regarding the middle office function

• In July 2003, Treasury Division was reorganized into a front-middle-back
office structure.  The intended result was an amalgamation of all trading
activities, and the development of a segregated, middle office, with new
roles and responsibilities to measure, monitor and report on the
Division’s financial risks and exposures.  However, while the
reorganization was effective July 2003, the actual transition is taking
place over a number of years.  To assist the Treasury Division with the
design and implementation of the middle office, a consultant was
engaged to provide a ‘middle office blueprint’ indicating appropriate
structure, practices, controls, and information flows.  The report was
provided to the division in February, 2004 and the implementation of
the recommendations is ongoing.

• Through interviews with management regarding the reorganization and
implementation of the consultant’s recommendations we found that the
reorganization is still in process and going at a slower pace than
expected.  The main priority throughout the reorganization is the
continued operation of the Treasury Division.  New positions have been
created and new staff have been hired.  The Division has also been
training staff for the new positions.  The Division has had to find a
balance between implementing the consultant’s recommendations, while
at the same time, mentoring the back office where there are several new
hires.

• During the development of the middle office processes, some of the
controls became the responsibility of different areas or persons during
this transition time.  Additionally, Treasury Division is currently working
on developing a new mandate, risk management policy, investment and
debt policies.

• The mandate of the middle office includes new procedures and controls
to address risk.  Some of these controls were started during the period
under review and some will commence after the review date.  However,
the operational controls and procedures surrounding the initiation,
confirmation, and servicing of derivative agreements have existed
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throughout the examination period (although the responsibility for the
controls may have changed areas or persons).

• We tested whether operational controls surrounding the initiation,
confirmation, settlement and recording of derivative transactions
remained in effect for the period under review and during the
reorganization.  When selecting our sample to test operational controls,
we included trade dates covering the whole examination period.  The
controls that tested to be effective were in place for the entire period of
examination.

• We found that for the period under examination, the full role of middle
office was not yet implemented.  They are currently working on risk
management: developing a new mandate as well as risk management,
investment and debt policies.  However, we determined that the key
operational controls on the initiation, confirmation, recording and
servicing of the derivatives remained in place during the period under
examination.

3.17 MIDDLE OFFICE -
Monitoring controls over the use of derivatives needs
strengthening and the middle office transition should be
completed as soon as possible

3.17.1 Standardized exception reporting is needed
• We found that a number of monitoring activities and analysis were

being performed to ensure the use of derivatives is effective and
consistent with the divisional objectives.  However we noted that there
was a lack of standardized reports prepared for management and
therefore a lack of documentation of the information provided for
monitoring and analysis.

• We found that there are no minutes from the weekly Capital Markets
Committee meeting, no standardized exception reports, and no
reporting on derivative activity other than the derivatives exposure
report.  Much of the reporting is done on an ad hoc basis, so we were
unable to obtain documentation of all the information considered by
senior management for their monitoring activities.  The only
management information report relating specifically to derivatives that
was prepared regularly was the monthly Derivatives Exposure Report.
Also, minutes were kept for the Risk (Credit) Committee meetings and
we were able to review them for decisions relating specifically to
derivatives activity.  The Division produces a weekly financial status
report and a Treasury Services Report which do not include specific
information relating to derivatives activities.

• We were unable to follow any audit trail for exception reporting.  There
is no standard process for exception reporting.  Any exception noted is
handled on an ad hoc basis by the Treasury Division.  Examples of
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exceptions handled in this manner are; counterparty credit limits
exceeded, confirmations not received, and a change in credit rating.

• The Treasury Division’s senior management indicated that because the
Treasury Division consists of a small staff, monitoring is addressed
through good communication among all levels of staff.  Information is
shared at the weekly Capital Markets Committee meetings and the less
frequent Credit (Risk) Committee meetings.  The former Assistant Deputy
Minister stated that he always knew what was happening through his
daily interaction with the staff and if there was a problem, he would
know about it.

3.17.2 Full Implementation of Middle Office functionality is crucial
• The middle office is still under development.  The middle office is

responsible for a range of functions for the entire Treasury Division
pertaining to risk management.  The role of the middle office includes
policy development, monitoring and reporting compliance with policy
and procedures, risk performance measurement and reporting, risk limit
calculations and monitoring, approval of valuations( models,
methodologies and parameters),and approval of master agreements (with
counterparties).

• We understand that there is considerably more effort needed to fully
establish the full Middle Office functionality.  The staff working in the
middle office is in the process of redeveloping the Treasury Division–
wide risk management policies, against which the current Derivative
policy will be considered.  Once the Division’s risk management policy is
revamped, roles and responsibilities must be reviewed as well as a review
of other aspects of the Treasury Division’s risk management process.

• Because of the key importance of the middle office functions, the
Department of Finance should consider whether the time frame to
complete the development of the Middle Office is appropriate as well as
the level of assigned resources.  We understand that the implementation
process is taking longer than anticipated.

3.18 GOVERNANCE OVERSIGHT -
Governance practices in the risk management process
should be enhanced

• Industry best practices recommend an oversight body (a board of
directors in industry) in conjunction with management establish
Treasury Division objectives.  This body would also set out a broad
framework for management to work within and provide oversight.  The
oversight body should receive timely and sufficient information to
oversee the Treasury Division’s activities.  We found that there is no such
oversight body in place.

• In the current organizational structure, the Capital Markets Committee is
the senior committee overseeing the risk management process regarding
the use of derivatives.  No minutes are taken at the Committee’s
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meetings, and therefore there is no audit trail documenting the
Committee’s deliberations and decisions.

• We also found that the Risk Management (formerly Credit) Committee
did not meet quarterly throughout the period under review. They met
three times during the period under review (April, 2003 to December 31,
2004). While there were minutes of the meetings held, consideration
should be given to this Committee meeting monthly to consider
exception reports and to document discussions and the decisions
arrived at.

• In addition, we found that the record keeping of the operations of the
Committees could be more formal in that meeting agendas and material
submitted to the Committees for review and discussion should be
retained for reference purposes.

4.0 Recommendations

Strategic Objectives for the Treasury Division and the Related Risk
Management Strategy

• That the Division’s objectives, risk identification and assessment, and
risk management strategy be documented and approved.  We also
recommend that the Derivative Policy statement be approved.

• That the formulation and approval of the Treasury Division-wide Risk
Management Policy statement be targeted as a key priority.

• That the risk management strategy be documented and approved by
management and the Board of Directors (equivalent).

• That maximum acceptable levels of risk and risk limits be specified in
the Derivative (Risk Management) Policy.

• That the Derivative Policy should document any distinctive
characteristics such as liquidity and customization that may be used
with the authorized types of derivatives.

Operational Risk
• That the exercise of due diligence regarding the decision to enter into a

derivative financial instrument agreement be documented.  We also
recommend that the deliberation of the type of derivative financial
instrument to be used and its distinctive characteristics should be
documented.

• That the internal control procedures be adhered to in order to ensure
that documents supporting the execution of derivative transactions are
duly authorized by staff who has delegated authority.

• That the trader’s log book maintains a complete and accurate account of
the relevant details of each derivative financial instrument contract.
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• That pre-numbered risk management sheets be used and accounted for
to ensure the completeness of the records of derivative financial
instrument agreements.

• That the derivative transaction in the Treasury Manager System be
recorded after receiving the counterparty confirmation but before the
effective date of the derivative financial instrument contract.

• That the internal controls regarding the confirmation of trades be
strengthened by assigning responsibility to a staff person for the follow-
up of outstanding confirmations.

• That the internal controls regarding the communication with
counterparties following confirmation of trades be strengthened by
assigning responsibility to a staff person for the monitoring of these
communications.

Market Risk
• That Treasury Division expands their sensitivity analysis to separately

evaluate the market risks associated with derivative financial
instruments.

Credit Risk
• That a review of the current credit limits should be undertaken within

the context of the Treasury Division-wide credit risks.

Management Risk
• That an audit trail be established for the preparation and review of the

monthly mark to market (valuation of derivatives) reports.

• That the risk management reporting process being developed requires
standard exception reports to be produced at defined intervals.

• That the Department of Finance strongly considers providing additional
resources in the short-term to facilitate the full implementation of the
Middle Office functionality.

• That the Department establishes an active and effective Board of
Directors (equivalent) to determine Department-wide objectives set the
framework for Treasury Division management to work within and to
provide oversight of Treasury Division’s operations and performance.

• That the Capital Markets Committee record minutes of their meetings in
order to document their deliberations and risk management activities.
That the Risk Committee consider meeting monthly to review exception
reports and thereby document their governance activities.  All meeting
agendas and material submitted to the Committees should be retained
for reference purposes.
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Response from Officials
Treasury Division management has reviewed the report, and we are in
general agreement with the recommendations.  Since the completion of
your audit, most of your recommendations have either already been
implemented or are currently being worked on.

Your recommendations are valuable input into the ongoing development of
the Department’s use of Derivative Financial Instruments.
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DETAILED CRITERIA
Objective:  To determine whether the Province has a risk management process (derivative
risks include management, market, legal, credit, and operational risk) in place, and
whether that risk management process used by the Treasury Division with respect to
derivatives (with respect to debt and investments) is consistent with industry best
practices.

Appendix A
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A short-term credit investment created by a non-financial firm
and guaranteed by a bank.  Acceptances are traded at a discount
from face value on the secondary market. Banker’s acceptances
are very similar to T-bills and are often used in money market
funds.

A unit that is equal to 1/100th of 1%, and is used in denoting
the change in a financial instrument. The basis point is
commonly used for calculating changes in yield of a fixed-
income security, interest rates and equity indexes.  The
relationship between percentage changes and basis points can
be summarized as follows: 1% change = 100 basis points, and
 0.01% = 1 basis point.

So, a bond whose yield increases from 5.0% to 5.5% is said to
increase by 50 basis points; or interest rates that have increased
by 1% are said to have increased by 100 basis points.

A specification of a bond issuer’s probability of defaulting based
on an analysis of the issuer’s financial condition and profit
potential.

Bond rating service companies provide ratings for various debt
and preferred stock issues for safety of payment of principal,
interest, or dividends.

Bond ratings start at AAA (denoting the highest investment
quality) and usually end at D (meaning payment is in default).

An option with a pre-established profit cap. A capped option is
automatically exercised when the underlying security closes at
or above (for a call) or at or below (for a put) the Option’s cap
price.

This can also be referred to as a capped-style option.

The Canadian Dollar Offered Rate, named CDOR, is the
recognized benchmark index for bankers’ acceptances with a
term-to-maturity of one year or less.  CDOR serves both money
and derivative markets: it is employed for the final settlement
price for the over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives market
synthetic instrument calculations like forward rate agreements
(FRAs) and swaps.

CDOR is determined daily from a survey of nine market makers
in bankers’ acceptances (BA).  The daily survey of money market
rates is derived from bid side prices provided by survey
participants.

Appendix BGLOSSARY OF TERMS

Banker’s Acceptance
(BA)

Basis Point

Bond Rating

Cap or Capped Option

CDOR
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A protective options strategy that is implemented after a long
position in a stock has experienced substantial gains.  It is
created by purchasing an out of the money put option while
simultaneously writing an out of the money call option.

Something of value that is pledged for a loan or other financial
obligation.  The lender or holder of the collateral can repossess
the collateral if the loan is repaid or the obligation fulfilled.
When the obligation is fulfilled, the creditor must return the
collateral. Also, collateralize – to provide collateral.

Software used by Treasury Division to calculate the market value
of derivatives.  It was developed by the creators of the TMAN
software.

The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.  Members of COSO are:  American Accounting
Association, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
Financial Executives Institute, Institute of Internal Auditors,
and the Institute of Management Accountants.

The party on the other side of a transaction such as a swap
agreement.  The transaction is traded over the counter (not on a
stock exchange).

A forward contract that locks-in the price an entity can buy or
sell currency on a future date.  In currency forward contracts,
the contract holders are obligated to buy or sell the currency at
a specified price, at a specified quantity, and on a specified
future date.  These contracts cannot be transferred. Also known
as “outright forward currency transaction”.

A contract that grants the holder the right, but not the
obligation, to buy or sell currency at a specified price during a
specified period of time.

An entity against foreign currency risk by purchasing a currency
option put or call.

A swap that involves the exchange of an amount in one
currency for the same in another currency.

A security, such as an option or futures contract, whose value
depends on the performance of an underlying security or asset.

Futures contracts, forward contracts, options, and swaps are the
most common types of derivatives.  Derivatives are generally
used by institutional investors to increase overall portfolio
return or to hedge portfolio risk.

Collar

Collateral

ConjecSure

COSO

Counterparty

Currency Swaps

Currency Forward

Currency Option

Derivative
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Common name for an interest rate floor.  Interest rate floors are
agreements between two parties in which the seller, in return
for a premium, agrees to limit the risk associated with a decline
in interest rates.  If interest rates fall below a specified level,
known as the strike price, the floor buyer is entitled to receive
cash payments equal to the difference between the market rate
and the strike price multiplied by the notional principal
amount.  A floor is a type of option; therefore, the buyer has
the right but not the obligation to exercise it.

A financial contract that obligates the buyer (seller) to purchase
(sell and deliver) financial instruments or physical commodities
at a future date, unless the holder’s position is closed prior to
expiration.

Futures are often used by mutual funds and large institutions to
hedge their positions when the markets are rocky, preventing
large losses in value.

The primary difference between options and futures is that
options provide the holder the right to buy or sell the
underlying asset at expiration, while futures contracts holders
are obligated to fulfill the terms of their contract.

The foreign-exchange market (“forex” or “FX”) is the place
where currencies are traded.  The forex market is the largest,
most liquid market in the world with an average traded value
that exceeds $1.9 trillion per day.

There is no central marketplace for currency exchange, rather,
trade is conducted over-the-counter.  The forex is open 24 hours
a day, five days a week, with currencies being traded worldwide
among the major financial centers of London, New York, Tokyo,
Zurich, Frankfurt, Hong Kong, Singapore, Paris and Sydney -
spanning most time zones.

Making an investment to reduce the risk of adverse price
movements in an asset.  Normally, a hedge consists of taking an
offsetting position in a related security.

An example of a hedge would be if you owned a stock, then sold
a futures contract stating that you will sell your stock at a set
price, therefore avoiding market fluctuations.

Investors use this strategy when they are unsure of what the
market will do.  A perfect hedge reduces your risk to nothing
(except for the cost of the hedge).

Futures

FX
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Leverage

A deal between counterparties where borrowers switch floating-
rate loan payments for fixed rate loan payments.  These can be
either the same or different currencies.

The advantage to this is that one party may have access to
lower fixed rates and another company may have access to lower
floating rates... so they trade.

The option to enter into an interest rate swap. In exchange for
an option premium, the buyer gains the right but not the
obligation to enter into a specified swap agreement with the
issuer on a specified future date.

The agreement will specify whether the buyer of the swaption
will be a fixed-rate receiver (like a call option on a bond) or a
fixed-rate payer (like a put option on a bond).

The International Swaps and Derivatives Association is the
global trade association representing participants in the
privately negotiated derivatives industry, a business covering
swaps and options across all asset classes (interest rate,
currency, commodity and energy, credit and equity).  ISDA was
chartered in 1985, and today numbers over 650 member
institutions from 47 countries on six continents.  These
members include most of the world’s major institutions who deal
in, as well as leading end-users of, privately negotiated
derivatives.

Since its inception, ISDA has pioneered efforts to identify and
reduce the sources of risk in the derivatives and risk
management business.  Among its most notable
accomplishments are:  developing the ISDA Master Agreement;
publishing a wide range of related documentation materials and
instruments covering a variety of transaction types; producing
legal opinions on the enforceability of netting and collateral
arrangements (available only to ISDA members); securing
recognition of the risk-reducing effects of netting in
determining capital requirements; promoting sound risk
management practices, and advancing the understanding and
treatment of derivatives and risk management from public
policy and regulatory capital perspectives.

The use of various financial instruments or borrowed capital,
such as margin, to increase the potential return of an
investment.  Leverage can be created through options, futures,
margin and other financial instruments.  The use of leverage
increases risk because the potential losses are greater than they
would have been without leverage - leverage magnifies not only
gains but also losses.
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Derivative transactions are considered to be highly leveraged if
they expose the entity to loss in excess of gains expected to be
generated by positions and transactions they modify.

The London Interbank Offer Rate is the rate of interest at which
banks borrow funds, in marketable size, from other banks in the
London interbank market.  In other words, LIBOR is the
international rate used when banks borrow from other banks.

This is the most widely used benchmark or reference rate for
short term interest rates.

The capability of ready conversion to cash.

The process of valuing (market value or fair value) derivative
positions for purposes of determining accounting gains or
losses.

The net positive market value of all swap agreements with a
given counterparty.  Higher exposure indicates increased credit
risk for that counterparty.

A theoretical or stipulated principal amount, agreed upon by
the counterparties, upon which many derivative contracts are
based.

An option is a contract whereby the contract buyer has a right
to exercise a feature of the contract (the option) on or before a
future date (the exercise date).  The ‘writer’ (seller) has the
obligation to honour the specified feature of the contract.
Since the option gives the buyer a right and the seller an
obligation, the buyer has received something of value.  The
amount the buyer pays the seller for the option is called the
option premium.

To change the periodic payments required by a financial
instrument.  Usually this is done in exchange for a lump sum
payment at the time of the recoupon.

A federally regulated Canadian bank as listed in Schedule I of
The Bank Act.

A technique for determining the outcome of a decision if a key
prediction turns out to be wrong.

An aggressive strategy designed to increase profits by accepting
more market risk than generated by underlying business
operations or financial instruments funding the company’s
capital structure.  Highly leveraged derivatives also are signs of
speculating activities.
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Yield curve
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A bond that pays an initial coupon rate for the first period, and
then a higher coupon rate for the following periods (step up
rates).

In other words, the coupon “steps up”.  For example, a five-year
bond may pay a 4% coupon for the first two years of its life and
a 6% coupon for the final three years.

The difference between the negotiated and fixed rate of a swap.
The spread is determined by characteristics of market supply and
creditor worthiness.

A periodic exchange (or swap) of payments between two
counterparties for a specified period of time.  The exchange of
payments can be based on such things as Interest rates, currency
rates, commodity prices, stock indices, temperature.

The difference between the swap rate and the lending rate
offered through other investment vehicles with comparable
characteristics.

Similar to equity spreads, the swap spread adjusts for every
contract and the different participating parties.

A combination of a swap and an option.  In its basic form, the
swaption gives the buyer the right, but not the obligation to
buy (call) or sell (put) a swap.

Software used by Treasury Division to track investment and debt
activity and the resulting cash flows.  Reports from TMAN are
used to support amounts reported the G/L.

To terminate or sell a derivative position, or achieve the same
effect by entering into another derivative contract that offsets
the first position.

The yield curve or the term structure of interest rates is the
relationship between the cost of borrowing money and the
amount of time the money is being borrowed for.

The yield of a financial instrument is the amount of money to be
made per year by investing in that instrument.  For instance, a
bank account that promises an interest rate of 4% per year has a
4% yield.  In general the amount per year that can be made is
dependent on the length of time that the money is invested.
For example, a bank may offer a “savings rate” higher than the
normal checking account rate if the customer is prepared to
leave money untouched for five years.  Generalizing, investing
for a period of time t gives a yield Y(t).  This function Y is called
the yield curve.  The nomenclature “curve” is used rather than

Step Up Bonds

Swap Spread

Swap

Swaptions

TMAN (Treasury
Manager)

Unwind
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“yield function” because when plotted on a graph, the function
is a curve.

Y is often an increasing function, but that need not always be
the case - yield curves are used by fixed income analysts, who
analyse bonds and related securities, to understand conditions
in financial markets and to seek trading opportunities.
Economists use the curves to understand economic conditions.

The yield curve function Y is actually only known with certainty
for a few specific periods of time, the other periods are
calculated by interpolation (see Construction of the full yield
curve from market data below).

Yield curves carry an implicit forecast of future short-term
interest rates: for example if the annual yield on a 10-year bond
is 5%, and on an 11-year bond is 5.5%, then the implicit yield
in year 11 is a graphic line chart that shows interest rates at a
specific point for all securities having equal risk, but different
maturity dates.  For bonds, it typically compares the two- or
five-year Treasury with the 30 year Treasury.

Securities with longer maturities usually have a higher yield.  If
short term securities offer a higher yield, then the curve is said
to be inverted.


	AUDITPA_DEC05_part1
	AUDITPA_DEC05_part2



